
 

 

 
VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
Regular Council Meeting 

Agenda 
Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) 

Thursday, June 10, 2021 at 7:00pm 
 

 

Page 1 of 2 

To access the supporting documents to this agenda, first download the agenda to your own 
computer/device, then look for them as attachments to the .pdf agenda document. 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Prayer 

 
3. Adoption of Agenda 

 
4. Adoption of Previous Minutes: 

a) 2021.05.13 Regular Council Meeting Minutes 
 

5. Delegations: 
a) Doug Pitcher – Subdivision  

 
6. Items for Discussion and/or Action: 

a) DRAFT Bylaw #165-2021 Cemetery - 2nd & 3rd reading 
b) Intermunicipal Development Plan (IDP) 

 
7. Councillor Reports: 

• Mayor Elias 
• Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
• Councillor Carter 
• Councillor Clark 
• Councillor Lybbert 

 
8. CAO Report: 

a) Training / Meetings Attended  
b) Office Closures  
c) Projects 
d) General update on Village  

 
 

9. Financial Reports: 
a) Accounts Payable Cheques for May 2021 (20210129-20210153) 
b) Budget vs Actual Review May 2021 
c) Bank Reconciliation – April & May 2021 

 
10. Correspondence: 

a) Mayors and Reeves May 2021 
b) M&R May 7, 2021minutes 
c) M&R Joint meeting - June 4 agenda 



Page 2 of 2 

d) EMS Mayor_Minister Meeting_May 28_V3 (1) 
e) Ltr to Minister Hajdu_3-digit suicide prevention hotline_2021-05-26 
f) Kingsville C-21 Resolution 
g) Bill C-21 Municipalities information update 
h) Apparatus replacement 
i) cmrswa MINUTES 4-21 
j) cmrswa MINUTES 05-21 
k) CMRSWSC 2020 Financial Statements 
l) 2021-04-08 ORRSC Executive Committee Meeting Minutes 
m) 2021-06-03 ORRSC Board of Directors Agenda Package 
n) 2021-06 Bulletin Alberta SW 
o) RCMP support- Smokey Lake 
p) 2021-05-25 RCMP Support Letter – Milo 
q) 2021-05-31 ID9 APPS Opposition Letter-RCMP 
r) Correspondence from the Town of Redcliff Regarding Support for the RCMP - May 18, 

2021 
s) FALHER Signed RCMP Letter 
t) Support Letter for RCMP- V. of Caroline 
u) Town of Stavely RCMP Letter of Support 
v) Red Deer County Support for RCMP 
w) CCES MINUTES Jun 3, 2021 
x) CCES Policy Fire Response Billing 

 
 

11. Closed Meeting: 
a) Land, Legal or Labour Matters As per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act     

 
12. Adjournment: 

 
 





 


 


  


 


 


 


Monthly Report 
For Mayors and Reeves 


Feb 


May 2021| By: Peter Casurella 


SouthGrow Regional Initiative 


P: 403-394-0615 


E: peter.casurella@southgrow.com 







 


 


1 


May 2021 
 


Understanding what an Energy Transition Means  


Dear Mayors and Reeves, 
 
I want to talk today about the big picture of what an Energy Transition means. Most people think it is as simple as a 
movement away from oil and gas energy production towards different energy sources – but the issue is much larger 
than that, and is bigger than the political and cultural conversations that have become wrapped up in it. As an 
Economic Developer, I get really excited about it. Here’s why.  
 
First, there’s a few concepts that need to be understood.  
 
1. Energy = Work.  
 
In a very real and measurable way, the ability to produce and/or expend energy produces work, and work is an 
essential component of economic activity. The more energy you have available, the more potential work can be 
accomplished with that energy, and consequently the more economic activity can be produced.  
 
An Example: In early human hunter gatherer societies, and amount of work that a group could produce was limited by 
the amount of food available in their environment and the physical energy of that group to do work. Compare this to 
later societies that had domesticated large draft animals and had sedentary agricultural production. They could 
produce a lot more food and had the physical power of large draft animals available. They could create far more 
energy (food) and do far more work than their hunter-gatherer ancestors.  
 
 
2. Energy Production requires Work to be invested in it. 
 
To generate energy, human societies need to invest some of the energy they produce back into it.  
 
Example: In hunter-gatherer societies, almost all the energy of the society was put back in to producing energy 
(gathering food). There was little energy left over for other activities. In Agricultural societies with draft animals, there 
was much more energy available, and a smaller percentage of the total energy produced needed to be invested back 
into food production, allowing energy to be spent on other activities (craftsmanship, art, trade, philosophy…) 
 
3. Reducing the amount of work to produce energy increases available work for other activities. 
 
Example: In early societies hitching oxen to a plow vastly reduces the amount of work needed to produce energy 
(food), and therefore fewer people were needed to work in the fields to create energy. More energy is thus freed up to 
engage in other activities.  


 
4. The amount of energy available is limited by the source you are accessing and by your ability to access it. 
 
If your energy source is hunting and gathering food, your society’s energy is limited by how much you can hunt and 
gather. If your energy source is crude oil, you are limited by how much you can pump, refine, and use, and how much 
oil you have available. If your energy source is the sun, you are limited by the total solar energy hitting the earth from 
the sun and your ability to deploy solar panels to capture this energy. If your source is the wind, your total amount of 
available energy is the total wind potential created by the earth’s atmosphere limited by your ability to build machines 
to convert this atmospheric motion into energy.  


 
5. Energy transitions are characterized by society accessing more plentiful or more efficient sources of 


energy leading to a corresponding increase in the amount of work that can be done.  







 
Examples: Agriculture was a major step up from hunting and gathering unlocking more plentiful energy, accessing 
coal unlocked another major source of power, tapping into oil propelled the energy potential forward again, and the 
advent of renewables is allowing access to yet an even higher level of energy potential.  
 


 
6. The fossil fuel energy industry has a limited amount of energy available. It is relatively efficient but is non-


renewable.  
 
I believe everyone understands this. There is a finite amount of oil, coal, and natural gas available on planet earth. 
The transition would have happened eventually if there was no mandate to limit global warming. Demand for energy 
by human societies keeps going up and up and up, but the availability of fossil fuels is limited and finite.  


 
7. Renewable sources (solar and wind) have practically limitless energy sources available. The limitation 


here has been accessing the energy sources.  
 
The total amount of solar energy humanity could tap into is limited to the total solar production of our sun, which is 
insanely massive. Every day 173 terawatts (trillion watts) of energy hits the earth from the sun alone. To put this in 
context, the total global energy production for the YEAR of 2017 was 162,494 terawatts. More energy from the sun 
arrives every day than the total global production of energy by humans in an entire year.  


 
8. Renewable technology has come of age and is rapidly improving, and consequently fossil fuels are 


rapidly becoming less competitive because accessing renewables is more efficient and taps into a vastly 
larger energy source.  


 
Renewable power production is passive (you don’t have to pay expensive workers and put wear and tear on as much 
expensive machinery), it’s cheaper (tech costs keep falling), the energy source is readily available (its getting harder 
and harder to access new fossil fuel sources), and the energy source is limitless. In 2017 for example, the economics 
of solar hit a break-even point where the decreasing costs of the technology made the business case viable in 
Canada. Since then, we have seen massive investments dumped into this industry because investors and industry 
understand the points being made here.  


 
 


9. Accessing a nearly limitless source of energy means near limitless potential for work production.  
 


This is the exciting part. Once we get this transition really rolling, we can unlock a lot more energy and put it to work 
in society. While there are growing pains and individual hardships for people enduring career changes, the macro-
picture is really exciting. Soon, we will be able to generate much more energy far more efficiently as a society. There 
will be fewer people employed putting energy back into generating energy, but their work will be freed up to engage in 
new and different work, advancing our economic opportunities.  
 
Let me say this again, because it’s a very important point. Freeing up work that is being invested in generating energy 
is a societal opportunity that lets us invest that work in new opportunities, and the repeated history of human 
civilizations is that we do re-invest that work and new opportunities do come available.  
 
Conclusion: The current energy transition is extremely exciting because it has the potential to enable the 
largest economic leap forward in human history by providing the largest energy leap forward in human 
history, and that is an important macro-perspective for community leaders to keep in mind as we navigate 
the coming decades.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Peter Casurella 
Executive Director 
SouthGrow Regional Economic Development 







 


 


3 


Headlines for May 2021  


 
Administrative Updates 


 
1. The Town of Bow Island voted to join SouthGrow and has appointed Bernice DeLeenheer to the Board 


of Directors. We now have 29 Municipal Members in the Association.  
2. The Manager’s Contract was renewed with approval from the full Board.  
3. SouthGrow voted to retain 3rd party financial oversight services from Gerilyn Beazer, a bookkeeper with 


the Mercer Wilde Group. 
4. The Annual General Meeting is set for Wednesday, June 23rd from 6 – 8 pm 


 


Strategic Collaborations 
 


 SouthGrow maintains or participates in the following collaborations and partnerships. 


 


• SAAEP – Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Partnership 
▪ Extended an invitation to the Palliser Economic Partnership to join the Partnership.  


• SAITI – Southern Alberta Investment and Trade Initiative 
▪ FDI Test Drive project with our partners underway 
▪ 2021 Marketing project, Phase 1 nearing completion 


• Canada’s Premier Food Corridor 
▪ Inclusion in FDI Test Drive project 
▪ Inclusion in 2021 Marketing project, Phase 1 
▪ Is moving forward with a video marketing project. 


• Ag Expo Innovation Initiative 
▪ Sponsorship of VR Build out of Exhibition Park’s Pavilion for Sales 


• Peaks to Prairies Electric Vehicle Initiative 
▪ Project wrap-up is nearing. Final reporting being prepared by contractors and final ribbon 


cuttings to be booked.  


• Canada’s Western Gateway Logistics and Trade Corridor 
▪ Website has been launched and is live. www.canadaswesterngateway.ca 


• Southwestern Alberta’s Regional Tourism Initiative 
▪ Operations set for 2021 / 2022. Contributions paid. 1/5 objectives already met.  


• Lethbridge Region Economic Recovery Taskforce 
▪ Collaboration still in existence. Possibility of regional import replacement project funded by 


JEI is still on the table. Likelihood of success in securing funding up in the air.  


• Ag and Forestry Investment Attraction  
▪ Continuing to offer investment attraction support. Linda Erickson tapping REDAs for support 


in bringing their investment attraction team up to speed. Lots of work and opportunity lost due 
to large staff turnover and reorganization of the ministry. 


• Regional Labour Working Group 
▪ New grant stream opens in April for next steps. Project designed. Shopping proposal 


internally with Alberta Labour. Work and progress lost due to staff re-assignments in Alberta 
Labour.  


• Southern Alberta Zero Emissions Vehicle Infrastructure Project. (for ZEVIP program) 
▪ Application approved. Paperwork pending.  


• Partnership with the MCCAC to deliver province wide ZEVIP program  
▪ Discussions to follow signing of paperwork.  


• Regional Innovation Network of Southern Alberta 







▪ SouthGrow serves in a director capacity. Referrals to Alberta Innovates and the NRC 


• Highway 3 Twinning Development Association 
▪ New priorities being pushed. Pursuing National Trade Corridors funding with Alberta 


Transportation. Alberta Transportation has announced functional planning study for final 
section through Pikkani nation. Another win!  


▪ Big vision project to sustain regional economic development is advancing well. More news in the 
future.  


 
 
Marketing and Communication 
 


SouthGrow is engaged in the following marketing and communication efforts. 


 


• FDI Test-drive program with SAITI  
▪ Consultant is researching top prospects for introductions. 2 recommended already.  


• 2021 Digital Marketing program with SAITI, CPFC, and other partners 
▪ Designer selected, working with consultants to finalize messaging and program.  


• Bi-weekly newsletters  
▪ Internal communication that provides Economic development news and resources in-region 


• AB Today  
▪ Daily government relations newsletter provided to board members. 


• Ec Dev Peer Network 
▪ Provide information to a social media group of in-region economic development partners.  


• Member Communications 
▪ SouthGrow reports back to member councils regularly to keep members informed and 


engaged. 


• Regional photography project nearing completion.  
 


 


Economic Development 
 


 SouthGrow is engaged in the following enabling projects to support regional economic development.  


• Broadband: Terragraph small urbans project  
▪ Technology trial in Milk River successful 
▪ Assisted MRCC with pilot project CHCI grant submission. Awarded. Build-out of Milk River to 


follow.  
▪ Collaboration of Vulcan County villages formed. Applying for May/June intake to build out 5 


villages and several hamlets. Well advanced.  
▪ Town of Cardston pursuing option with MRCC and/or fibre build in town. 
▪ Coutts, Milk River, Warner, and Foremost pursuing grants to build out the remainder of their 


area.  


• Rural Broadband: Universal Broadband Fund Solutions 
▪ Assisted regional ISP’s with UBF applications in Q3. Waiting on adjudications by UBF 


• Invest Alberta: Support with regional inventories. 
▪ Working with Linda Erickson to try and collect regional land and utilities data from 


communities to put in Invest Alberta’s inventory list. Canadas Premier Food Corridor heavily 
involved.   


• Renewables: Work plan for 2021 moving ahead. Website re-build for SAAEP in the fall of 2021, 
Community Energy Forum to be planned for late fall, or early winter.   


• Circular Economy: Coordinating efforts for Nobleford waste project. At the feasibility study stage, file 







 


 


5 


 


started, collaboration formed, MPE is conducting feasibility study.  


• Tourism: Partnership with Tourism Lethbridge formed, slate of services and budget set, regional 
work already begun to support regional tourism development. Early wins already in hand.  


• Labour Market: On hold, next project to begin this spring with new grant intake. SouthGrow to serve 
as coordinator and grant applicant. Disrupted by movement of Alberta Labour staff, will advance 
again.  


• Electric Vehicles: Highway 4 Pilot project moving through adjudication process. Service identified 
and letters secured. NRCAN ZEVIP program has been approved, paperwork still to come.  
  


 
 


- Don’t forget to email info@southgrow.com if you would like to get signed up for our economic development 
newsletter. This newsletter has been called ‘The Best Economic Development Newsletter in the West’ (mostly 
by us, but that doesn’t make it less true.) It comes packed with great resources for you and your people.  
 


 


 


 


southgrow.com 


Economic Development | Government Relations  


All content copyright © 1999 - 2018 SouthGrow Regional Initiative. All rights 


reserved. Corporate Access Number: 5111053608 


About SouthGrow Regional Initiate  


SouthGrow is an economic development alliance of twenty-six south central Alberta 


communities committed to working together to achieve prosperity for the region. 


Representing over 170,000 people, SouthGrow is committed to assisting 


communities, organizations, businesses, and people in the region to further their 


economic development goals and to maintain the high quality of life. 



mailto:info@southgrow.com






 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Lorne Hickey called the meeting to order at 1:03 pm.  
   
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 Motion by Mayor Ed Weistra to approve agenda - Carried 
 
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES  
  Motion by Reeve Merril Harris to adopt minutes from last meeting – Carried 
 
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP AND MLA UPDATES 


 
5.1 MP Reports – No report 


 
 
5.2 MLA Reports –   


    
        MLA Nathan Neudorf 


• Discussed the current Covid 19 restrictions. 


• Asked for patience in regards to Covid 19 restrictions and advised to look at 
hospitalization and ICU numbers. 


• Vaccination roll outs in the South Zone are going very well. 


• Discussed interest in Lethbridge seeking to be the transportation gateway. 


• Discussed enforcement for violation of restrictions. 
 


MLA Grant Hunter 


• Discussed Montana vaccinating truck drivers at the border. 


• Discussed the Kananaskis conservation pass - $15/day or $90 annually to address 
the massive increase in people visiting.  All money collected will be going to the park 
system. 


• Discussed the coal exploration being halted. 


• Discussed 6 bills being passed and 15 more on the table. 
 
 
 
 


 
6.0  PRESENTATION –  
 6.1 Consolidated EMS Dispatch services – Evan Romanow, Assistant Deputy   
  Minister, Health Service Delivery at Alberta Health, Government of Alberta  
  Darren Sandbeck, Chief Paramedic and Senior Provincial Director, Alberta Health  


 Services 


• Chief Darren Sandbeck – working group has been together now for 2 months.  
Transition teams continue to be in place and are working through issues as they 
arise.  


o Discussed the tragedy that happened in Magrath – Had the opportunity to 
listen to both 911 calls and discussed what took place on both calls. 


o Listened to concerns that Municipalities have in regards to consolidated EMS 
dispatch services. 


MINUTES 
Friday, May 7, 2021 


Virtual Meeting via Zoom 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  
May 7, 2021 Minutes 


• Assistant Deputy Minister Evan Romanow – Listened to concerns had by 
Municipalities, ensured that concerns are being heard and worked on to be resolved. 


 
 6.2 Impacts of Provincial Police Transition – Kevin Halwa, Director Prairie North Region,  
  Jeff McGowen, Director prairie North Region, Ana Santarem, Government Relations Advisor 


• Discussed the Provincial Police Transition being a costly endeavor. 


• Discussed the surveys that are being done by the Provincial Government. 


• Discussed the risks to public safety, especially in rural areas. 


• For further information visit keepalbertarcmp.ca. 
 
 
 
 


7.0      REPORTS 


7.1  Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Mayor Blair Painter  


• No report. 


 


7.2  SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• See electronic report sent out with May agenda package. 


• Discussed broadband services and the speed tests being done in Milk River. 


• Discussed analysis of business plan and performance goals. 


 


 7.3  RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider 


• No report. 


           7.4    AUMA – Mayor Bruce McLeod 


• Discussed the upcoming Municipal Leaders Caucus being held June 15-16,22-23. 


• Discussed the elected official education program, a joint program with RMA and a 
partnership with the University of Alberta. 


 


7.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


• Discussed support for user fees in Kananaskis. 


• Discussed halted exploration of coal, the preliminary results are on the website. 


• Discussed the water supply being low, it could be a challenging year. Hoping for 
more precipitation. 


• Discussed the federal tree grant. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        7.6      Highway #3 Association- Councillor Bill Chapman 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 3  
May 7, 2021 Minutes 


• Thanked all members. Everyone’s investment into Highway #3 twinning is paying off 
in a number of critical ways. 


• Highway #3 corridor is really quickly becoming the key in sustaining economy. 


• Discussed AGM. 


• Discussed being invited to the BC highway #3 twinning association meeting and the 
work that is being done. 


 
8.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, June 4, 2021 at 1:00 – Virtual via Zoom 


 
9.0 ADJOURNMENT:  


3:00pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fu  








 
 


 
 


 
  
  
Chairmen – Mayor Gordon Reynolds, Reeve Lorne Hickey 
 


1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 1:00 


2.0 DISCUSSION ABOUT CONSOLIDATED EMS DISPATCH SERVICES WITH 
 MINISTER SHANDRO 
  


3.0 ADDITIONS TO/APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
  


4.0 ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP and MLA UPDATES 
 5.1 MP Reports  


 5.2 MLA Reports  


 


6.0 PRESENTATIONS – IMPACTS OF METALLURGICAL COAL MINES IN MOUNTAIN   
 ENVIRONMENTS – James Byrne, PHd, Professor, University of Lethbridge 


                
7.0 REPORTS  


 7.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Barney Reeves  


 7.2 SouthGrow - Mayor Jim Willett  


7.3 RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider  


7.4 AUMA- Mayor Barry Morishita/Councillor Tanya Thorn 


7.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


7.6 Highway #3 Association – Councillor Bill Chapman  


 
8.0 NEXT MEETING 


Friday, September 10, 2021 at 1:00 – Via Zoom 


  


  9.0 ADJOURNMENT  


 


Mayors and Reeves  


of Southeast and 


Southwest Alberta 


 


AGENDA 


FRIDAY, June 4, 2021 - 1:00 PM 
Via Zoom 


Please silence all 


electronic devices 


– thanks! 


If you have any community information that you would like to have distributed to the M & R group,  
please send it to me at MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com to be distributed.  



mailto:MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com






 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


EMS Dispatch 


Centralization 


M a y  2 8 ,  2 0 2 1  


C I T Y  O F  L E T H B R I D G E  







2 


 


City of Lethbridge EMS Dispatch 


EMS Dispatch Centralization 


Meeting with Minister Shandro 


To make the centralization of EMS dispatch work and to achieve our collective goal to providing 


the very best emergency services to Albertans, we need to be partners. We need to ensure the 


system is equal to or better than what we were providing to prior to dispatch centralization to 


feel confident we are doing the best for our community.  


To make this partnership successful we need: 


1. Accountability & Transparency 


2. Collaboration & Continuous Improvement 


3. Trust & Respect 


 


Accountability & Transparency 


 Shared data –although a preliminary agreement has been made regarding data sharing, it’s still 


just talk. This helps us see our resources and make good business decisions.  


o Ask: we need a commitment that the data municipalities are requesting will be 


provided by June 30, 2021. 


 AHS has assured Albertans that care will not change. Service levels have changed and the safety 


of Albertans and emergency services staff are being put at risk. 


o ASK: A third party evaluation of centralized EMS dispatch to ensure there has been no 


degradation to patient care, response times and the 911 caller experience.  


Collaboration & Continuous Improvement 


 Addressing errors are still happening regularly and this is extremely dangerous.  


We keep an ongoing spreadsheet of issues we work on with our AHS counterparts. In this 


document we have typically 40 – 50 issues to resolve at any given time. Although this spans all 


areas, the addressing issues typically makes up the largest group of those needing to be 


resolved. 


o ASK: What changes will be made to ensure this does not continue? What timelines can 


we expect those changes to be implemented by? When will addressing errors receive 


the attention they deserve? 


 Protocol deviations. AHS protocols are not as robust as what we had in the municipality. This has 


become very evident particularly around COVID guidelines and the need to reduce staff 


exposure.  


o ASK: Update protocols to meet the same level as previously expected when the 


municipalities provided dispatch.  







3 


 


City of Lethbridge EMS Dispatch 


 Delays in dispatching Medical First Response (MFR). We know the importance of MRF and have 


built our emergency services around this highly effective system. Delays in dispatching MFR was 


one of our greatest fears in this transition. There appears to be no consistent understanding 


from AHS dispatch on what MFR can provide. In Lethbridge, that is a dually trained 


Firefighter/Paramedic.  


o ASK: Direct the provincial MFR group to determine how best to optimize MFR 


activation and use. AHS dispatch to be trained on what MFR can provide and 


accountable for dispatching these critical resources.  


 Missed safety alerts means emergency responders arriving on scene have not be properly 


notified of potential risks that could put them in danger such as violent situations, COVID-19 


exposure etc. 


o ASK: That there be standardize training, monitoring and reporting to ensure all AHS 


dispatch centres are providing safety alerts in a consistent and effective way.  


 


Trust & Respect 


 This entire process has been done too quickly, with no clear evidence of how it would improve 


care and little regard for the concerns of municipalities. Assistant Deputy Minister, Evan 


Romanow has worked with municipalities to listen to concerns with the unilateral approach 


used throughout this transition. Unfortunately, the relationship between municipalities, AHS 


and the provincial government has been strained during this time, eroding trust and confidence. 


 The Alberta Emergency Dispatch Integration Working Group (AEDIWG) was formed to bring 


together the voices of all parties involved. 


o ASK: Ensure the feedback from municipalities in included in the report the AEDIWG is 


producing so is balanced and unbiased and that the recommendations are actioned. 

















 2021 Division Road North 
Kingsville, Ontario  N9Y 2Y9 


Phone:  (519) 733-2305 
www.kingsville.ca 


kingsvilleworks@kingsville.ca 


SENT VIA EMAIL 


March 25, 2021 


The Right Honourable Justin Trudeau, MP 
Prime Minister of Canada 
Langevin Block 
Ottawa, Ontario  K1A 0A2 


Prime Minister: 


RE:  Bill C-21, An Act to amend certain Acts and to make certain consequential 
amendments (firearms) 


At its Regular Meeting held on March 8, 2021 Council of the Town of Kingsville passed 
the following Resolution: 


“205-2021 


Moved By Councillor Thomas Neufeld, Seconded By Councillor Larry Patterson 


A Resolution concerning Bill C-21, An Act to amend certain Acts and to make 


certain consequential amendments (firearms), specifically Amendment 26, 


Section (58.01 (1-8), Conditions-bylaw. 


WHEREAS municipalities have never been responsible for gun control laws in 


Canada; 


AND WHEREAS law abiding Kingsville residents who own legal handguns have 


already been thoroughly vetted through the CFSC, PAL and ATT applications; 


AND WHEREAS illegal gun owners and smugglers do not respect postal codes; 


AND WHEREAS if one municipality enacts a ban and not a neighbouring 


municipality, this will create a patchwork of by-laws; 


AND WHEREAS a municipal ban would be difficult to enforce and easy to get 


around. 


NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that The Corporation of the Town of 


Kingsville is OPPOSED to the adoption of any by-laws restricting the possession, 


storage and transportation of legally obtained handguns;  


AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this resolution be forwarded to the 


following public officials: MP Chris Lewis-Essex, MPP Taras Natyshak-Essex, 


Premier of Ontario The Honourable Doug Ford, Leader of the Official Opposition 


Andrea Horwath, Prime Minister of Canada The Honourable Justin Trudeau, and 


Leader of Official Opposition The Honourable Erin O'Toole.” 


..2/ 


Sub-Item 3







If you require any further information, please contact the undersigned. 


Yours very truly, 


  premier@ontario.ca  
  horwatha-qp@ndp.on.ca 


    erin.otoole@parl.gc.ca  


Sandra Kitchen 
Deputy Clerk-Council Services 
Legislative Services Department 
skitchen@kingsville.ca 


cc:  Hon. Doug Ford, Premier 
cc:  Hon. Andrea Horwath, Official Leader of the Opposition 
cc:  Hon. Erin O’Toole, Official Leader of the Opposition      
cc:  MP Chris Lewis- Essex 
cc:  MPP Taras Natyshak-Essex 
cc:  Hon. Bill Blair, Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness 
cc:  MP Shannon Stubbs 
cc:  Mayor Aldo DiCarlo, Town of Amherstburg 
cc:  Mayor Larry Snively, Town of Essex 
cc:  Mayor Tom Bain, Town of Lakeshore 
cc:  Mayor Marc Bondy, Town of LaSalle 
cc:  Mayor Hilda MacDonald, Municipality of Leamington 
cc:  Mayor Gary McNamara, Town of Tecumseh 
cc: all Municipalities in Ontario 



mailto:premier@ontario.ca

mailto:horwatha-qp@ndp.on.ca

mailto:erin.otoole@parl.gc.ca










 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Shannon Stubbs, MP 
Lakeland 


 


   Shannon.Stubbs@parl.gc.ca                                      
5009 50th Street, P.O. Box 599, Two Hills, Alberta, T0B 4K0                   659 Wellington Building, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0A6 
                                   Tel.: 780-657-7075 Fax: 780-657-7079                   Tel.: 613-992-4171 Fax: 613-996-9011 
 


 
 
May 28, 2021 
 
 
Mayor and Council/Reeve and Council, 
 
 
On February 16, 2021 Bill C-21, a bill that makes changes to the Criminal Code and the 
Firearms Act, and targets law abiding firearms owners, was introduced and is being debated in 
the House of Commons. Conservatives constituently call for cracking down on illegal gun 
smuggling, trading, gang and crime gun use, but Bill C-21 misses the mark if the aim really is to 
improve and protect the personal and public safety of Canadians. Bill C-21 focuses on the wrong 
people and groups, while also creating uncertainty and adding undo pressure on other levels of 
government. 
 
Bill C-21 includes provision to allow municipalities to create handgun bylaws, which would 
place conditions on federal firearms licenses relating to handgun use, storage, or transportation 
within municipalities that have passed such bylaws.  
 
Residents in cities and other places, with ever increasing gang shootings and violence rightfully 
expect their government ought to be taking action to keep them safe, but a regulation that gives 
municipalities the ability to pass bylaws does not do that. The municipal provision in Bill C-21 
would be a bylaw on licenses, so this measure literally, specifically, and only targets Canadians 
who have licenses. This does nothing to stop dangerous criminals who certainly would never 
comply with a municipal bylaw when they do not obtain their guns legally, do not get licenses 
and who frankly do not care about criminal laws. What this purposed municipal bylaw section 
would do is lead to yet another layer of confusing, overlapping regulations and a patchwork of 
rules for already law-abiding Canadians within and between communities, while violations could 
result in two years imprisonment or permanent license revocations.  
 
I have been hearing from municipalities concerned with being tasked by the Federal government 
to create these types of bylaws. They are sharing fears about economic and housing impacts by 
the perception that one community has higher safety standards than others, or that law-abiding 
firearms citizens will literally be unaware they are in violation just by crossing a municipal 
boundary that has different bylaws.  
 
 







 
 
Some municipalities are saying that they do not have the expertise to create these bylaws and 
certainly would not have the resources to enforce such regulations. They are also concerned 
these bylaws potentially violate their own provinces’ jurisdiction. Some provinces in opposition 
to the federal legislation have already passed or are proposing laws that would prohibit this type 
of power to shift to individual municipalities.  Saskatchewan has already passed such a 
provincial law, and Alberta’s bill received royal assent on April 29, 2021.   
 
Due to these concerns, some municipalities have already opposed Bill C-21 and have taken the 
steps to pass resolutions in opposition to this potential new power that they neither requested, nor 
have the resources to impose and enforce. 
 
I have attached a copy of the resolution passed by the council in Kingsville, Ontario. I encourage 
you to seek feedback from your rate payers, and to discuss this issue in council. You may decide 
to pass a similar resolution on behalf of your community. Please feel free to advise my office if 
you do so, and to reach out if you require any additional information on Bill C-21. 
 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 
Thank you  
 


 
Shannon Stubbs, MP  
Lakeland 
 








Apparatus	  replacement	  
	  
Per	  the	  Fire	  Underwriter’s	  Survey,	  apparatus	  in	  Canada	  have	  varying	  recommended	  
and	  required	  replacement	  schedules:	  
	  


	  
	  
Most	   medium	   communities	   should	   consider	   replacing	   their	   front	   line	   apparatus	  
every	  15	  years	  according	  to	  the	  chart	  above.	  However,	  many	  communities	  find	  this	  
replacement	   schedule	   exhaustive	   on	   capital	   budgets.	   So,	   20-‐	   to	  25-‐year	   apparatus	  
replacement	  has	  become	  very	  common	  in	  medium	  communities.	  
	  
Fire	  apparatus	  values	  decrease	  every	  year	  and	  are	  tied	  to	  three	  consistent	  variables:	  
inflation,	  lifespan	  (based	  on	  the	  chart	  above),	  and	  new	  replacement	  value.	  	  A	  fourth	  
dynamic	   variable	   ties	   the	   market	   value	   to	   the	   apparatus	   condition	   and	   mileage.	  
Market	   value	   drops	   sharply	   in	   the	   first	   two	   years,	   levels	   off	   between	   3-‐5	   years,	  
drops	  marginally,	  but	   consistently	  between	  6-‐10	  years,	   and	   landslides	   from	  10-‐20	  
years.	  At	  20	  years,	  the	  value	  of	  a	  pre-‐owned	  fire	  apparatus	  is	  approximately	  1%	  of	  
the	  new	  replacement	  value.	  
	  
The	  pre-‐owned	  fire	  apparatus	  market	  is	  very	  closely	  tied	  to	  new	  apparatus	  values.	  
Most	   trucks	   10	   years	   old	   are	   selling	   for	   approximately	   50%	   of	   the	   price	   of	   an	  
equivalently	   specified	   new	   apparatus.	   For	   example	   –	   if	   your	   current	   10-‐year	   old	  


Insurance Grading Recognition of Used or Rebuilt Fire Apparatus 
Page 2 of 6                        


 
Services Provided by SCM Risk Management Services 


ISO 9001 Registered 
 


�
FUS�has�modified�its�application�of�the�age�requirement�for�used�or�rebuilt�apparatus.�Due�to�municipal�
budget� constraints�within� small� communities�we�have� continued� to� recognize�apparatus�over� twenty�
years� of� age,� provided� the� truck� successfully�meets� the� recommended� annual� tests� and� has� been�
deemed�to�be� in�excellent�mechanical�condition.� �The�specified�service�tests�are�outlined�below�under�
the�heading�JRecommended�Service�Tests�for�Used�or�Modified�Fire�ApparatusK.�Testing�and�apparatus�
maintenance� should� only� be� completed� by� a� technician� who� is� certified� to� an� appropriate� level� in�
accordance�with�NFPA�1071,�Standard�for�Emergency�Vehicle�Technician�Professional�Qualifications.�
�
Insurance�grading�recognition�may�be�extended�for�a�limited�period�of�time�if�we�receive�documentation�
verifying�that�the�apparatus�has�successfully�passed�the�specified�tests.� If�the�apparatus�does�not�pass�
the�required�tests�or�experiences� long�periods�of�JdowntimeK�we�may�request�the�municipal�authority�
to�replace�the�equipment�with�new�or�newer�apparatus.� If�replacement�does�not�occur,�fire� insurance�
grading� recognition�may� be� revoked� for� the� specific� apparatus�which�may� adversely� affect� the� fire�
insurance� grades�of� the� community.� �This� can�also�affect� the� rates�of� insurance� for�property�owners�
throughout�the�community.�
�
Table�1�Service�Schedule�for�Fire�Apparatus�For�Fire�Insurance�Grading�Purposes�


Apparatus�Age� Major�Cities�3�


Medium�Sized�Cities�4�or�
Communities�Where�Risk�is�


Significant�
Small�Communities�5�
�and�Rural�Centres�


0�H�15�Years� First�Line� First�Line� First�Line�
16�H�20�Years� Reserve� 2nd�Line� First�Line�
20�H�25�Years�1� No�Credit�in�


Grading�
No�Credit�in�Grading�
or�
Reserve�2�


No�Credit�in�Grading�
or�
2nd�Line�2�


26�H�29�Years�1� No�Credit�in�
Grading�


No�Credit�in�Grading�
or�
Reserve�2�


No�Credit�in�Grading�
or�
Reserve�2�


30�Years�+� No�Credit�in�
Grading�


No�Credit�in�Grading� No�Credit�in�Grading�


1����All�listed�fire�apparatus�20�years�of�age�and�older�are�required�to�be�service�tested�by�recognized�testing�
agency�on�an�annual�basis�to�be�eligible�for�grading�recognition.�(NFPA�1071)�
2����Exceptions�to�age�status�may�be�considered�in�a�small�to�medium�sized�communities�and�rural�centres�
conditionally,�when�apparatus�condition�is�acceptable�and�apparatus�successfully�passes�required�testing.�
3��Major�Cities�are�defined�as�an�incorporated�or�unincorporated�community�that�has:��


Q�a�populated�area�(or�multiple�areas)�with�a�density�of�at�least�400�people�per�square�kilometre;�AND��
Q�a�total�population�of�100,000�or�greater.�


4��Medium�Communities�are�defined�as�an�incorporated�or�unincorporated�community�that�has:�
Q�a�populated�area�(or�multiple�areas)�with�a�density�of�at�least��200�people�per�square�kilometre;�
AND/OR��
Q�a�total�population�of�1,000�or�greater.�


5��Small�Communities�are�defined�as�an�incorporated�or�unincorporated�community�that�has:�
Q�no�populated�areas�with�densities�that�exceed�200�people�per�square�kilometre;�AND�
Q�does�not�have�a�total�population�in�excess�of�1,000.�


 
 







apparatus	   would	   be	   worth	   $250,000	   to	   purchase	   today,	   the	   value	   on	   the	   used	  
market	  could	  be	  $125,000,	  even	  though	  you	  may	  have	  only	  paid	  $170,000	  for	  it	  10	  
years	  ago.	  
	  
Replacing	  fire	  apparatus	  at	  the	  10	  year	  mark	  has	  many	  advantages,	  such	  as:	  
	  


• Enhanced	  firefighting	  capability	  
• Enhanced	  firefighter	  safety	  due	  to	  standards	  changes	  
• Smaller	  environmental	  footprint	  due	  to	  standards	  changes	  
• Ability	  to	  easily	  modify	  apparatus	  according	  to	  needs	  more	  often	  
• Greatly	  reduced	  major	  maintenance	  and	  less	  cost	  of	  ownership	  
• In	  many	  cases,	  the	  apparatus	  never	  leaves	  the	  warranty	  period	  
• Most	  importantly	  –	  significant	  financial	  savings	  at	  purchase	  


	  
Here	  is	  an	  example	  of	  how	  replacing	  an	  apparatus	  in	  10	  years	  can	  save	  a	  significant	  
amount	  of	  money.	  This	  example	  is	  based	  on	  3%	  yearly	  inflation	  and	  a	  purchase	  price	  
today	  of	  $250,000.	  
	  


Cost	  of	  apparatus,	  new:	   $250,000.00	  
Yearly	  inflation	  rate:	   3.00%	  


	   	  10-‐year	  replacement:	   $335,979.09	  
10-‐year	  market	  value:	   $167,989.55	  
	  	   	  	  
20-‐year	  replacement:	   $451,527.81	  
20-‐year	  market	  value:	   $4,515.28	  


	  
On	   the	   opposite	   side,	   small	   communities	   can	   utilize	   a	   10-‐year	   old	   truck	   for	   an	  
additional	   15	   years	   after	   purchase.	   Being	   able	   to	   buy	   a	   truck	   for	   50%	  of	   the	   new	  
purchase	   price	   is	   very	   attractive	   to	   those	   communities.	   For	   that	   reason	   the	   pre-‐
owned	  apparatus	  market	  is	  most	  active	  in	  the	  10-‐year	  age	  range.	  
	  
A	   10-‐year	   replacement	   plan	   is	   the	  most	   cost	   effective	   solution	   for	   fire	   apparatus	  
replacement	   in	  medium	   communities	   under	   the	   current	   requirements	   of	   the	   Fire	  
Underwriter’s	  Survey.	  	  
	  
**	   It	   is	   important	   to	  note	   that	   the	  statements	  preceding	  apply	  only	   to	  ULC-‐listed	   fire	  
apparatus,	  as	  FUS	  does	  not	  recognize	  a	  fire	  apparatus	  without	  a	  ULC	  listing.	  








MINUTES OF THE CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION MEETING HELD 
APRIL 14, 2021 VIA ZOOM. 


Members Present: 
 
Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston    Richard Van Ee – Town of Magrath 
Robert Edwards – Village of Stirling   Randy Taylor – County of Warner 
Wayne Harris – Cardston County  Tyler Lindsay – Village of Warner  
Bryce Coppieters – Town of Raymond  Tanya Smith – Village of Coutts 
David Rolfson – Village of Glenwood 
   
       
Others Present: 
 
Abe Tinney - SEO  Lee Beazer – Operator  Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
Chandra Deaust – Avail  Bob Roach & Keith Talbot – North Patch Environmental (Fog Dog) 
        
Commenced at 4:32 pm   


Randy Taylor in the Chair. 


AGENDA 


Richard Van Ee moved that the agenda be adopted as presented.     Carried 


MINUTES      


Bryce Coppieters moved that the minutes of the March 10, 2021 board meeting be adopted as 
presented.            Carried 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
DELEGATION 
Chandra Deaust, from Avail, went over the audited financial books for the 2020 year.  Avail found the 
books to be in order.   
 
Robert Edwards arrived at 4:47 p.m. 
 
David Rolfson arrived at 4:49 p.m. 
 
Chandra Deaust excused at 4:51 p.m. 
 
21-17 Gerry Selk moved to accept the audited 2020 Financial Statement as performed by Avail. Carried 
 
The SEO presented a five-year lease agreement for 130 acres with Leonard Carlson as follows: 67 acres 
@ $30/acre, 38 acres @ $6.30/acre and 25 acres for free for a total income of $2,249/year. 
 







MINUTES CMRSWSC MEETING APRIL 14, 2021 
 


2 
Printed: 2021-05-18 


21-18 Wayne Harris moved to sign a five-year lease agreement with Leonard Carlson as follows: 67 
acres @ $30/acre, 38 acres @ $6.30/acre and 25 acres for free for a total income of 
$2,249/year.           Carried 


 
 
The SEO advised the board of an incident on March 15, 2021 were an employee hit an overhead power 
line.  The tarp was left open and vertical on the trailer.  The Safety Committee meet to discuss the 
incident.  A written warning has been issued to the employee and toolbox talks have been completed. 
 
Bryce Coppieters moved to file the incident report for information.         Filed 
 
The Operator reported that 798.27 tonnes of waste were delivered to the Landfill in March 2021 making 
the year-to-date total 2,292.86 and no waste has been diverted.   
 
The Operator advised that the Packer is due to arrive any day.  The Packer has been delayed at customs 
and Finning is working on getting it cleared. 
 
The Operator reported that the year-end report has been completed by Wilde Brothers Engineering (see 
correspondence) and sent to Alberta Environment. 
 
The Operator advised that the Transfer Station evaluations have been completed and he has attached 
the report to the agenda package for the board to review.  The board discussed who would like to turn 
the Transfer Stations and/or employees over to the Commission.  The Operator is still waiting for the 
contractor’s information on each transfer station. 
 
Richard Van Ee moved to approve the Operator’s report.      Carried 
 
 


 
DELEGATION 
 
Bob Roach and Keith Talbot, from Fog Dog, presented a waste to energy plan to create biofuels from 
waste.  Fog Dog would like a long-term commitment of 10-20 years and require a minimum of 5 acres of 
land to set-up operations.  
 
Excused at 5:44 p.m. 
 
21-19 Robert Edwards moved to have administration gather more information from Fog Dog.  Carried 


Financial Statement 


The Financial Statements for February 28, 2021 and March 31, 2021 were reviewed.    


Gerry Selk moved to accept the February 28, 2021 and March 31, 2021 Financial Statements.    Carried 


Approval of Bills  


Bills for the month of March 2021 were reviewed.  


Tanya Smith moved to approve the bills for March 2021.        Carried 







MINUTES CMRSWSC MEETING APRIL 14, 2021 
 


3 
Printed: 2021-05-18 


 
The board discussed the hazardous waste program funding that has been cancelled by the government.  
The board would like the SEO to gather more information and bring to the next board meeting. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 


A letter from Wilde Brothers Engineering Ltd regarding the 2020 Annual Report. 


Gerry Selk moved to file the Wilde Brothers Engineering report for information.    Carried 


ADJOURNMENT 


Tanya Smith moved meeting adjourned. 


Adjournment at 5:51 p.m.  


Next Commission meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, May 12, 2021 at 4:30 p.m. via Zoom. 


 
__________________________________   
Chairman 








MINUTES OF THE CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION MEETING HELD 
MAY 12, 2021 VIA ZOOM. 


Members Present: 
 
Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston    Philip Wright – Town of Milk River 
Robert Edwards – Village of Stirling   Randy Taylor – County of Warner 
Wayne Harris – Cardston County  Tyler Lindsay – Village of Warner  
Bryce Coppieters – Town of Raymond  Tanya Smith – Village of Coutts 
David Rolfson – Village of Glenwood   
       
Others Present: 
 
Abe Tinney - SEO  Lee Beazer – Operator  Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
        
Commenced at 4:40 pm   


Randy Taylor in the Chair. 


AGENDA 


Bryce Coppieters moved that the agenda be adopted as presented.     Carried 


MINUTES      


David Rolfson moved that the minutes of the April 14, 2021 board meeting be amended with the 
discussed board member added to the attendance.      Carried 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
The SEO presented the Strat Planning agenda and went through key points.  The SEO has contacted the 
Blood Tribe and is waiting to have a zoom meeting regarding their future of running their own Landfill.  
The board discussed the Commission owning the Transfer Stations and/or employees and each board 
members stated their municipalities position.  The SEO will start working on the following: Cost benefit 
analysis, minimum level of service at each Transfer Station, and business case scenario for owning 
Transfer Stations and/or employees by the Commission. 
 
21-20 Gerry Selk moved that the SEO assisted by the Operator work on the following: Cost benefit 


analysis, minimum level of service at each Transfer Station, and business case scenario for 
owning Transfer Stations and/or employees by the Commission.     Carried 
 


Philip Wright moved to approve the SEO’s report.        Carried 


The Operator reported that 882.21 tonnes of waste were delivered to the Landfill in April 2021 making 
the year-to-date total 3,175.07 and no waste has been diverted.   
 
The Operator advised that J.I.M. Equipment Ltd has started to dig a new cell. 







MINUTES CMRSWSC MEETING MAY 12, 2021 
 


2 
Printed: 2021-05-18 


 
The Operator reported that the packer has arrived and works great. 
 
The Operator is still waiting for Total Restorations information on each transfer station. 
 
The Operator has received a bill from Fortis Alberta for the 2 poles damaged by the semi-truck and will 
put the invoice through insurance.  
 
Bryce Coppieters moved to approve the Operator’s report.      Carried 
 
Financial Statement 


The Financial Statement for April 30, 2021 was reviewed.    


Robert Edwards moved to accept the April 30, 2021 Financial Statement.     Carried 


Approval of Bills  


Bills for the month of April 2021 were reviewed.  


Wayne Harris moved to approve the bills for April 2021.          Carried 


ADJOURNMENT 


Gerry Selk moved meeting adjourned. 


Adjournment at 5:41 p.m.  


Next Commission meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, June 9, 2021 at 4:30 p.m. via Zoom. 


 
__________________________________   
Chairman 








CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION


FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
TABLE OF CONTENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT


FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION


STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS


STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS


STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


SCHEDULES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


1-2


3


4


5


6


7


16 - 17


Avo i I LLP Char~r~d Pm~esslonal Accountont=







CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS


iNDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT


To: The Board of
Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Services Commission


Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Services
Commission which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the
statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.


In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the commission as at December 31, 2020, its results of operations, change in net financial
assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards.


Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the commission in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.


Other Matter
The statement of financial position and statement of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for
the year ended December 31, 2019 were engaged to be reviewed and no audit opinion was expressed.
Additional audit work was performed on opening balances to ensure an unqualified audit opinion could
be expressed for the year ended December 31, 2020.


Emphasis of Matter
We draw your attention to the significant account policy 2g(iv), which describes the changes in
accounting estimates. Our audit is not qualified in respect of this matter.


Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the commission’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the commission or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.


Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the commission’s financial reporting
process.


Claresholm ¯ Fort Macleod ¯ Lethbridge ¯ Milk River ¯ Pincher Creek ¯ Taber ¯ Vauxhall 1







INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT, continued


Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.


Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the commission’s internal control.


Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.


Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the commission’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to
cease to continue as a going concern.


Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.


We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.


Lethbridge, Alberta


April 14, 2021 Chartered Professional Accountants


Claresholm ¯ For~ Macleod ¯ Lethbrldge ¯ Milk River ¯ Pincher Creek ¯ Taber ¯ Vauxhall 2







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION


As at December 31, 2020


December 31, December 31, January 1,
2020 2019 2019


Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 4)
Trade and other receivables (note 5)


Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Landfill closure and post-closure liability (note 6)


Net financial assets


Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses
Inventory for consumption
Tangible capital assets (schedule 1)


Accumulated surplus (note 9, schedule 2)


$ 1,330,160    $ 1,131,281 $ 1,427,820
30,231 100,202 43,155


1,360,391 1,231,483 1,470,975


34,369 30,459 58,651
72,723 77,055 68,170


107,092 107,514 126,821


1,253,299 1,123,969 1,344,154


14,644 12,496 11,588
933 486


1,797,407 934,124 746,530


1,812,051 947,553 758,604


$ 3,065,350 $     2,071,522 $     2,102,758


Approved on behalf of the board:


Member ~ ’,,’~" _~_ ///~.,,~ Member







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


Budget 2020 2019
(unaudited)


Reven u e
Service fees charged to commission members
Other revenues
Other service fees and sales of goods
Investment income
Gain on disposal of capital assets


Expenses
Materials, goods and utilities
Salaries, wages and benefits
Contracted and general services
Engineering fees
Bank charges and short-term interest
Closure and post-closure costs
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets


801,406 $ 822,232 $ 766,047
6,100 211,562 75,855


57,914 110,885 62,692
13,000 12,450 25,500
- 10,584 -


878,420     1,167,713 930,094


366,700
285,400


72,000
4,000
3,500


305,374 448,280
284,888 269,230


57,893 57,203
4,209 978
3,287 2,324


(4,332) 8,885
- 25,580


220,066 148,850146,582


878,182 871,385 961,330


Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 238 296,328 (31,236)
before other


Other
Contributed Assets - 697,500


Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 238 993,828 (31,236)


Accumulated surplus~ beginning of year 2,071~522 2,071,522 2,102,758


Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 2,071,760 $ 3,065,350 $ 2,071,522







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


Budget 2020 2019
(unaudited)


Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $


Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets
Contributed assets


Net change in inventory for consumption
Net change in prepaid expenses


Change in net financial assets
Net financial assets, beginning of year


Net financial assets, end of year


238


146,582


$ 993,828 $ (31,236)


(401,522) (362,024)
220,066 148,850
(10,584) 25,580
26,257


(697,500)


146,582 (863,283) (187,594)


933 (447)
(2,148) (908)


(1,215) (1,355)


146,820 129,330 (220,185)
1,123,969 1,123,969 1,344,154


1,270,789    $      1,253,299    $     1,123,969







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


2020 2019


Operating transactions
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
Adjustments for items which do not affect cash


(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Closure and post closure costs
Contributed assets


Net change in non-cash working capital items
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses
Inventory for consumption
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities


Cash provided by operating transactions


Capital transactions
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets


Cash applied to capital transactions


$ 993,828 $ (31,236)


(10,584) 25,580
220,066 148,850


(4,332) 8,885
(697,500) -


501,478 152,079


69,971 (57,047)
(2,148) (908)


933 (447)
3,910 (28,192)


574,144 65,485


26,257
(401,522) (362,024)


(375,265) (362,024)


Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents


Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year


Cash and cash equivalents, end of year


198,879    (296,539)


1,131,281 1,427,820


1,330,160 $    1,131,281


Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash (bank indebtedness) (note 4)
Internally restricted cash (note 4)


$ 286,602 $ (11,743)
1 ~043,558 1,143,024


$ 1,330,160    $     1,131,281


AvailL~c. .....~ Pro~es$1onalA .......ts 6







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


Nature of operations


Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Services Commission is constituted under the Municipal
Government Act and was approved by the Minister of Municipal Affairs on March 17, 2020 for
the purpose of constructing, maintaining, controlling and managing a regional solid waste
collection and disposal facility.


The members of the Commission are the Town of Cardston, Town of Raymond, Town of
Magrath, Town of Milk River, Cardston County, County of Warner, Blood Band, Village of Hill
Spring, Village of Glenwood, Village of Warner, Village of Coutts and Village of Stirling.


The Commission is exempt from income taxation under Section 149 of the Canada Income Tax
Act.


Significant accounting policies


The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards and reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and change in the financial
position of the Commission, Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by the
commission are as follows:


(a) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector
accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and
expense during the period. Where measurement uncertainty exists, the financial statements
have been prepared within reasonable limits of materiality. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.


A significant area requiring the use of management’s estimates was the landfill closure/post-
closure liability. The liability was calculated based on estimated future cash flows required
to cover the costs of landfill closure and groundwater monitoring.


The effect on the financial statements of changes in such estimates in future periods could
be significant.


(b) Basis of presentation
These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.


(c) Budget amounts
The budget amounts presented on the statement of operations are taken from the
Commission’s annual budget. Certain budget amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s financial statement presentation.







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


=
Significant accounting policies, continued


(d) Revenue recognition
Service fees and sales of goods are recognized as revenue in the period in which the
service is delivered or in which the transactions or events occurred that gave rise to the
revenue.


Restricted investment income is recognized in the year in which the related expenses are
incurred. Unrestricted investment income is recognized as revenue when earned.


Government transfers are recognized in the p_eriod when the related expenses are incurred,
services performed, or the tangible capital assets acquired.


(e)


(f)


Investments
The Commission has elected to classify all of its investments at amortized cost. When there
has been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline, the investment is written
down to recognize the loss.


Landfill closure and post-closure
Pursuant to the Alberta Environment Protection and Enhancement Act, the Commission is
required to fund the closure of its landfill site and provide for post-closure care of the
facility. Closure and post-closure activities include the final clay cover, landscaping, as well
as surface and ground water monitoring, leachate control and visual inspection. The
requirement is being provided for over the estimated remaining life of the landfill site based
on usage.


Avail ~ c~ .....~ Pro~.,,~o.o~.=o.4.. 8







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


=
Significant accounting policies, continued


(g) Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the normal course of operations. The change in non-financial assets
during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the
consolidated Change in Net Financial Assets for the year.


(i) Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The
cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life as follows:


Years


Buildings
Engineered structures - gravel roads
Engineered structures - fences
Machinery and equipment
Power equipment


5O
15
10
2O
10


One-half of the annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition. Assets under
construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use.


Contributions of tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at fair value at the date
of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.


(iii) Inventories
Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


Significant accounting policies, continued


(iv) Change in accounting estimates
During the year management and the Board revised their tangible capital asset policy
to better reflect the useful lives of their assets. In the past tangible capital assets were
amortized using the declining balance method. Management determined that the
straightqine method of amortization would better reflect the useful lives of the assets.
The effect of the change in current year amortization expense is an increase of $4,310.


The change in estimate has been applied prospectively.


Rate changes consisted of the following:


Buildings
Engineering structures - gravel roads
Engineering structures - fences
Machinery and equipment
Power equipment


2020 2019
50 years SL 5% DB


,15 years SL 20% DB
10 years SL 20% DB
20 years SL 20% DB
10 years SL 30% DB


Impact of the change in the basis of accounting


These are the Commission’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.


There were no changes as a result of the adoption of these standards other than to comply with
the presentation format.


Cash and cash equivalents


Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and internally restricted cash. The internally restricted
cash is for capital replacement and post-closure costs.


2020 2019


Cash (bank indebtedness) $ 286,602 $ (11,743)
Internally restricted 1,043,558 1 ~143,024


$ 1,330,160 $ 1,131,281


=
Trade and other receivables


2020 2019


Trade receivables $ 7,956 $ 84,445
GST receivable 22~275 15~757


$ 30,231 $ 100,202







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


=
Landfill closure and post-closure liability


Alberta environmental law requires closure and post-closure care of landfill sites, which includes
final covering and landscaping, pumping of ground water and leachates from the site, and
ongoing environmental monitoring, site inspections and maintenance.


The estimated total liability is based on the sum of discounted future cash flows for closure and
post-closure activities for 25 years after closure using a discount rate of 1.5% and adjusted for
annual inflation.


The accrued liability portion is based on the cumulative capacity used at year end compared to
the estimated total landfill capacity. The total capacity of the site is estimated at 1,080,000 cubic
metres. The existing landfill site is expected to reach capacity in approximately 54 years.


The Commission has not designated assets for settling closure and post-closure liabilities.


2020 2019


Estimated total post-closure costs
Percentage of estimated capacity used


82,013 $ 80,281
34%      32%


Portion of total liability recognized
Estimated closure costs of landfill used


27,524 25,837
45,199 51,218


$ 72,723 $     77,055


Reserves


o


2020 2019


Capital $ 870,173 $ 981,312
Postclosure 173,570 161,907


$ 1,043,743 $ 1,143,219


Equity in tangible capital assets


Accumulated surplus consists of internally restricted and unrestricted amounts and equity in
tangible capital assets as follows:


Tangible capital assets (schedule 1)
Accumulated amortization (schedule 1)


2020 2019


$ 4,367,337 $ 3,651,915
(2,569,930) (2,717,791)


$ 1,797,407 $ 934,124







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


10.


Accumulated surplus


Accumulated surplus consists of internally restricted and unrestricted amounts and equity in
tangible capital assets as follows:


2020 2019


Unrestricted surplus (deficit) $ 224,200 $ (5,821)
Internally restricted surplus (reserves) (note 7) 1,043,743 1,143,219
Equity in tancjible capital assets/note 8) 1,797,407 934,124


$ 3,065,350 $ 2,071,522


Related party transactions


The Town of Cardston, Town of Raymond, Town of Magrath, Town of Milk River, Cardston
County, County of Warner, Blood Band, Village of Hill Spring, Village of Glenwood, Village of
Warner, Village of Coutts and Village of Stirling are members of the Commission and, as such,
have been identified as related parties.


Transactions
Service fees are based on the budgeted net operating costs of the Commission and are
allocated among the Commission members based on population. Servide fees charged to
Commission members are as follows:


2020 2019


Blood Band $ 222,489 $ 209,857
Cardston County 116,103 110,501
County of Warner 115,754 108,247
Town of Raymond 110,169 99,552
Town of Cardston 101,282 88,406
Town of Magrath 63,091 60,047
Village of Stirling 32,880 31,294
Town of Milk River 25,591 24,619
Village of Warner 11,542 11,104
Village of Glenwood 8,188 7,793
Village of Coutts 7,581 7,293
Village of Hill Spring 4~197 3,995


$ 818,867    $ 762,708


Avail L~ ~, ....~ ProfessionalA .....teals 12







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


10. Related party transactions


2020 2019


Accounts receivable include amounts receivable from:
Town of Raymond $ $ 4,335
Blood Band 2,802


$ $    7,137


Accounts payable include amounts payable from:
Town of Cardston
Town of Raymond
Town of Ma£1rath


$    5,491 $ 5,579
2,100 -
3,277 3,400


$ 10,868 $ 8,979


During the year, Chief Mountain Solid Waste Authority contracted the Town of Raymond
to provide senior executive officer (SEO) services. In exchange the Commission will pay the
Town an annual amount not to exceed $30,000 (2019 - $36,000). SEO expense for 2020 was
$30,000 (2019 - $36,000).


During the year, Cardston County transferred land to the Commission for a consideration of $0.
The land has been recognized as a contributed asset at it’s fair value of $697,500.


These transactions are in the normal course of operations and have been valued in these
financial statements at the exchange amount which is the amount of consideration established
and agreed to by the related parties.


Avail L~ c, ......~,,o.,,~oo=~A ....... 13







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


11.


12.


Local authorities pension plan


Employees of the Commission participate in the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP), which is
one of the plans covered by the Alberta Public Sector Pensions Plans Act. The plan serves
about 274,000 people and 420 employers. The LAPP is financed by the employer and employee
contributions and by investment earnings of the LAPP Fund.


Contributions for current service are recorded as expenditures in the year in which they become
due.


The Commission is required to make current service contributions to the LAPP of 9.39% of
pensionable earnings up to the year’s maximum pensionable earnings under the Canada
Pension Plan and 13.84% on pensionable earnings above this amount. Employees of the
Commission are required to make current service contributions of 8.39% of pensionable salary
up to the year’s maximum pensionable salary and 12.84% on pensionable salary above this
amount.


Total current service contributions by the Commission to the LAPP in 2020 were $21,658 (2019 -
$20,938). Total current service contributions by the employees of the Commission to the LAPP
in 2020 were $19,537 (2019 - $18,871).


At December 31,2019, the LAPP disclosed an actuarial surplus of $7.913 billion.


Debt limits


Section 3 of Alberta Regulation 76/2000 requires that debt and debt limits for the Commission be
disclosed as follows::


2020 2019


Total debt limit $ 2,335,426 $ 1,809,028


Debt servicing limit $ 408,700 $    316,580


The debt limit is calculated at 2 times revenue of the Commission (as defined in Alberta
Regulation 76/2000) and the debt service limit is calculated at 0.35 times such revenue.
Incurring debt beyond these limitations requires approval by the Minister of Municipal Affairs.
These thresholds are guidelines used by Alberta Municipal Affairs to identify Commissions which
could be at financial risk if further debt is acquired. The calculation taken alone does not
represent the financial stability of the Commission. Rather, the financial statements must be
interpreted as a whole.







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


13.


14.


15.


Subsequent events


In March 2021 the Commission obtained a $200,000 debenture repayable to Treasury Board and
Finance. The debenture bears interest at 1.17% per annum with semi-annual payments of
$20,649. The debenture matures in 2026.


Approval of financial statements


These financial statements were approved by Board and Management.


Budget amounts


The 2020 budget was approved by the Commission on December 11, 2019 and has been
reported in the financial statements for information purposes only. The budget amounts have not
been audited, reviewed, or otherwise verified.


Budgeted surplus per financial statements


Less: Capital expenditures
Transfers to reserves


Add: Amortization
Transfers from reserves


Equals: balanced budget


238


(65,000)
(21,000)
20,762
65,000







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE
SCHEDULES T


For t


Schedule of tangible capital assets


Land
Engineered Machinery and Pow~


Buildings structures equipment equiprr


Cost:
Balance, beginning of year
Acquisitions
Disposals


Balance, end of year


Accumulated amortization:
Balance, beginning of year
Annual amortization
Disposals


Balance, end of year


Net book value


$
697,500


$ 1,427,399 $ 417,587 $ 150,100 $ 1,656,=
- 139,951 261,~
- (383,!


$    697,500


697,500     1,427,399 417,587 290,051 1,534,;


1,068,953 252,248 81,454 1,315,
28,548 40,111 11,004 140,,
- - (367,!


1,097,501 292,359 92,458 1,087,!


$ 329,898 $ 125,228 $ 197,593 $ 447,


2019 net book value $ - $ 358,446 $    165,339 $ 68,646 $ 341,=







CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION
SCHEDULES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


For the year ended December 31, 2020


Schedule of changes in accumulated surplus(deficiency)
Schedule 2


Equity in
Internally tangible capital


Unrestricted restricted assets 2020 2019


Balance, beginning of year
Excess (deficiency) of


revenue over expenses
Unrestricted funds


designated for future use
Restricted funds used for


operations
Restricted funds used for


tangible capital assets
Current year funds used for


tangible capital assets
Contributed tangible capital


assets
Disposal of tangible capital


assets
Annual amortization expense


(5,821) $


993,828


(198,577)


90,000


(193,469)


(697,500)


15,673
220,066


1,143,219


198,577


(90,O00)


(208,053)


934,124 $ 2,071,522 $


- 993,828


208,053


193,469


697,500


(15,673)
(220,066)


2,102,758


(31,236)


Change in accumulated 230,021 (99,476) 863,283 993,828 (31,236)
surplus


Balance, end of year $ 224,200 $ 1,043,743 $ 1,797,407 $ 3,065,350 $ 2,071,522


Avoil~u=~ ..... d Pi~ofes$~onalA¢ ....... 1 7













		FS - Chief Mountain.pdf

		ye_signing_-_chief_mountain_regional_solid_waste_comm_-signed-certificate (001).pdf






OLDMAN RIWR REGI1NAL SERuICES C1MMISSI)N


The Executive Committee Meeting of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission was held on
Thursday, April 8, 2021, at 6:00 pm, in the Conference Room of the ORRSC Administratlon Building, as
well as virtually via Zoom.


Attendance:


Executive Committee:
Gordon Wolstenholme, Chairman
Jim Bester, Vice Chair
Don Anderberg, Virtually
Doug MacPherson, Virtually
lan Sundquist, Virtually
Jennifer Crowson, Virtually
Richard Bengry


Staff:


Derek Taylor, KPMG LLP


Chairman Wolstenholme called the meeting to order, the time being 6:03 pm.


1. Approval of Agenda


Moved by: Richard Bengry


Lenze Kuiper, Director
Tara Cryderman, Executive Assistant


CARRIED


CARRIED


2. Approval of Minutes


Moved by: Doug MacPherson


THATthe Executive Committee approve the March 11, 2021 Executive Committee Meeting
Minutes, as presented.


THAT the Executive Committee approve the April 8, 2021 Executive Committee Meeting
Agenda, as presented.


3. Business Arising from the Minutes


There was no business arising from the minutes


2021 ORRSC Executive Committee Meeting Minutes - Page 11


April 8,2021


EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES


April 8,2021; 6100 pm
ORRSC Conference Room (3105 - 16 Avenue North, Lethbridge)


Other:







4. Delegation Presentation


Derek Taylor of KPMG LLP presented the Financial Statements of the Oldman River Regional


Services Commission for the year ending December 31, 2020, which were prepared in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, including the 4200 series of
standards for government not-for-profit organizations.


Moved by: Don Anderberg


THAT the Executive Committee accept the Auditors' Report and Financial Statements for the
year ending December 31, 2020, as prepared by KPMG LLP. CARRIED


New Business


a Bylaw No. 2013-2 Amendment Discussion


Two Staff members attended a webinar on March 18, 2021, hosted by Municipal Affa irs,
regarding the recent legislative changes to Regional Servlce Commissions. Based on the
information presented during this webinar, draft ORRSC bylaws will be presented at the
next Executive Committee meeting.


b. Su bdivision Activity


The Subdivision Activity, to the end of March 2021, was distributed for information


Office Accounts


(i) Monthly Office Accounts - February 2021 and Payments and Credits - January 2021


Moved by:Jim Bester


THAT the Executive Committee approve the office Accounts for February 2021,
in the amount of S44,187.35;


AND THAT the Executive Committee approve the Payments and Credits for
January 2027.


CARRIED
b. Financial Statements


(i) Details of Account - Municipal Revolving Loan


Moved by: Jennifer €rowson


THAT the Executive Committee approve the details of the Loan Account -
Municipal Revolving Loan, as of February,2O2t.


6, Accounts


a


CARRIED


2021ORRSC Executive Committee Meeting Minutes - Page 12


April 8, 2021.


5.







7. Directo/s Report


The Director reported on the following


Every 3 years ORRSC applies for a partnership grant to obtain new ortho photos of
member municipalities. ORRSC did not receive the grant this year. While ORRSC will not
be offering the same project to the municipalities as in the past, several member
municipalities still wish for new photos, and are willing to fund the project. Many rural
municipalities seem to be going ahead, as they get some funding from the provincial
government- The project will go ahead, but won't involve everyone and may cost more.
One of the fleet cars was involved in an accident and was written off. ORRSC received


$15,100 from insurance as the replacement value. The fleet car hasn't been replaced
yet, as it wasn't budgeted for in the current budget. A RFP was requested to allow the
Director to receive bids for the replacement vehicle.


Moved by: Richard Bengry


That the Executive Committee authorize the issuance of Request for Proposals for a


replacement fleet vehicle.
CARRIED


lssues with the net band width and the internet, and phone system. There is a


requirement for additional fiber lines into the Administration Building. Possible


solutions are being investigated.
Meetings with the CAOS that the retiring Senior Planner represented to further discuss


succession and transition.


9. Adiournment


Following all discussions, Chair Gordon Wolstenholme adjourned the meeting, the time belng
7:35 pm.


CHAIR


8


2021 ORRSC Executive Committee Meeting Minutes - Page 13


Apr A,2OZT


Executive Report


It was suggested to change the name ofthis agenda item to "Roundtable Discussions".


Committee members reported on various projects and activities in their respective municipalities.








 
 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION


 3105 - 16th Avenue North 
 Lethbridge, Alberta  T1H 5E8 


 Phone:  (403) 329-1344 
Toll-Free:  1-844-279-8760 
E-mail:  admin@orrsc.com 
Website:  www.orrsc.com 


BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING 
 


AGENDA 
 


Thursday, June 3, 2021 – 7:00 p.m. 
 


Conference Room, ORRSC Administration Building  
 


or Via Zoom  
 


https://zoom.us/j/94768627736?pwd=ckV6RmdndVNDMFFtdVBya3Z6K3ZvZz09 
 


 
1. Approval of Agenda   


 
2. Approval of Minutes   


a. Minutes of January 7, 2021 
 


3. Business Arising from the Minutes 
 


4. GIS Presentation 
a. Presentation from Jaime Thomas 
 


5. Reports 
a. Executive Committee Report  


 
6. Business 


a. Draft ORRSC 2020 Annual Report and Financial Statements 
- Draft Report   


b. ORRSC Bylaws for Initial Discussion 
- Bylaw No. 2021-01 – Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw 
- Bylaw No. 2021-02 – Administrative Bylaw  
- Bylaw No. 2021-03 – Procedural Bylaw  
- Bylaw No. 2021-04 – Code of Conduct for Board of Directors Bylaw 
- Bylaw No. 2021-05 – Document Retention Bylaw 


c. Postage / Mailing Out Packages 
- Discussion regarding the continuation of mailing copies of agenda packages 
 


7. Accounts 
a. Balance Sheet and Comparative Income Statement 


- As of April 30, 2021 
 


8. Adjournment  
 


Page 1 of 94



https://zoom.us/j/94768627736?pwd=ckV6RmdndVNDMFFtdVBya3Z6K3ZvZz09





Page 2 of 94







2021 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes – Page 1 
January 7, 2021 


ANNUAL GENERAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING MINUTES 
Thursday, January 7, 2021 – 7:00 p.m. 


Via Go To Webinar 


BOARD OF DIRECTORS: 
Kevyn Stevenson  (Absent) ....... Village of Arrowwood  Brad Koch  (Absent) ........................ Village of Lomond 
Delbert Bodnarek  (Absent) ........... Village of Barnwell  Richard Van Ee  .............................. Town of Magrath 
Ed Weistra ....................................... Village of Barons  Peggy Losey (Absent) ..................... Town of Milk River 
Tom Rose  (Absent) .......................... Town of Bassano  Sheldon Walker   ................................. Village of Milo 
Norman Gerestein ............................... City of Brooks  Victor Czop  (Absent) ......................... Town of Nanton 
Jim Bester (Absent)  .......................... Cardston County  Marinus de Leeuw   .................... Village of Nobleford 
Richard Bengry .............................. Town of Cardston  Henry de Kok  .......................... Town of Picture Butte 
Peggy Hovde   ........................... Village of Carmangay  Bev Everts  ............................... M.D. of Pincher Creek 
Jamie Smith  (Absent) ................. Village of Champion  Don Anderberg ........................... Town Pincher Creek 
Doug MacPherson  (Absent) ........Town of Claresholm  Ronald Davis  (Absent) ................... M.D. of Ranchland 
Elizabeth Christensen  (Absent) ..... Town of Coalhurst  Stewart Foss - ................................ Town of Raymond 
Tanya Smith ..................................... Village of Coutts  Don Norby   ...................................... Town of Stavely 
Warren Mickels  (Absent) ................ Village of Cowley  Matthew Foss -................................ Village of Stirling 
Dave Filipuzzi ........................... Mun. Crowsnest Pass  Jennifer Crowson ................................. M.D. of Taber 
Dean Ward .............................. Mun. Crowsnest Pass  Margaret Plumtree  ........................ Town of Vauxhall 
Kole Steinley ................................. Village of Duchess  Jason Schneider   ................................. Vulcan County 
Gordon Wolstenholme ........... Town of Fort Macleod  Lyle Magnuson .................................. Town of Vulcan 
Gerry Carter  (Absent) ................. Village of Glenwood  David Cody .................................... County of Warner 
Suzanne French  (Absent) ............ Village of Hill Spring  Marty Kirby .................................... Village of Warner 
Morris Zeinstra  (Absent) ............... Lethbridge County  Ian Sundquist ............................... M.D. Willow Creek 


STAFF: 
Lenze Kuiper ................................................. Director  Tara Cryderman .......................... Executive Assistant 
Jaime Thomas ........................................... GIS Analyst  


Chair Gordon Wolstenholme called the meeting to order, the time being 7:00 pm. 


1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA


Moved by: Jennifer Crowson


THAT the Board of Directors approve the agenda of January 7, 2021, as presented. CARRIED 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION


2a 
Page 1 of 5


Page 3 of 94







 


2021 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes – Page 2 
January 7, 2021 


2. RECOGNITION OF MEMBERS AND ALTERNATE MEMBERS FOR 2021 
 


The following list of Members and Alternate Members was presented to the Board for 
information.  
 
Municipality Member Alternate Member 


Arrowwood  – Village Kevyn Stevenson Matt Crane 
Barnwell – Village Delbert Bodnarek Ian Matheson 
Barons – Village Ed Weistra Ron Gorzitza 
Bassano – Town Tom Rose Ron Wickson 
Brooks – City Norman Gerestein — 
Cardston – County Jim Bester Roger Houghton 
Cardston – Town Richard Bengry — 
Carmangay – Village Peggy Hovde JoAnne Juce 
Champion – Village Jamie Smith Trevor Wagenvoort 
Claresholm – Town Doug MacPherson Brad Schlossberger 
Coalhurst – Town Elizabeth Christensen — 
Coutts – Village Tanya Smith Marvin Bohne 
Cowley - Village Warren Mickels — 
Crowsnest Pass – 
Municipality 


Dave Filipuzzi &  
Dean Ward — 


Duchess – Village Kole Steinley Tina Preston 
Fort Macleod – Town Gordon Wolstenholme Brent Feyter 
Glenwood – Village Gerry Carter — 
Hill Spring – Village Suzanne French — 
Lethbridge – County Morris Zeinstra — 
Lomond – Village Brad Koch — 
Magrath – Town Richard Van Ee — 
Milk River – Town Peggy Losey — 
Milo – Village Sheldon Walker Scott Schroeder 
Nanton – Town Victor Czop Beryl West 
Nobleford – Town Marinus de Leeuw Corne Mans 
Picture Butte – Town Henry de Kok Teresa Feist 
Pincher Creek – M.D. No. 9 Bev Everts Quentin Stevick 
Pincher Creek – Town Don Anderberg Brian McGillivray 
Ranchland – M.D. No. 66 Ronald Davis Harry Streeter 
Raymond – Town Stewart Foss — 
Stavely – Town Don Norby — 
Stirling – Village Matthew Foss Rob Edwards 
Taber – Municipal District Jennifer Crowson Tamara Miyanaga 
Vauxhall – Town Margaret Plumtree Marilyn Forchuk 
Vulcan – County Jason Schneider Doug Logan 
Vulcan – Town Lyle Magnuson Paul Taylor 
Warner – County No. 5 David Cody Morgan Rockenbach 
Warner – Village Marty Kirby Sandi Hedin 
Willow Creek – M.D. No. 26 Ian Sundquist Maryanne Sandberg 


 
 


2a 
Page 2 of 5


Page 4 of 94







 


2021 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes – Page 3 
January 7, 2021 


 
3. APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FOR 2021 


 
a. Election of Chair 


 
Advance Nominations:   Gordon Wolstenholme (Town of Fort Macleod) 


 
Nominations from the Floor:  None 


 
Gordon Wolstenholme was elected Chair by acclamation.  


 
b. Election of Vice-Chair 


 
Advance Nominations:   Jim Bester (Cardston County) 


 
Nominations from the Floor:  None 


 
Jim Bester was elected Vice-Chair by acclamation.  


 
c. Election of Executive Committee 


 
Advance Nominations:   Jennifer Crowson (MD of Taber) 
        Doug MacPherson (Town of Claresholm) 
        Margaret Plumtree (Town of Vauxhall) 
        Ian Sundquist (MD of Willow Creek) 
        Don Anderberg (Town of Pincher Creek) 
        Richard Bengry (Town of Cardston) 
 
Nominations from the Floor:  None 
 
Executive Committee Member Margaret Plumtree removed herself from the 
nominations, stating that due to the upcoming Municipal Elections, she was 
willing to remove herself to allow candidate Richard Bengry to join the Executive 
Committee.  
 
As an election for Executive Committee Members was no longer required, the 
following were elected by acclamation to the Executive Committee: 
 
Jennifer Crowson (MD of Taber) 
Doug MacPherson (Town of Claresholm) 
Ian Sundquist (MD of Willow Creek) 
Don Anderberg (Town of Pincher Creek) 
Richard Bengry (Town of Cardston) 


2a 
Page 3 of 5


Page 5 of 94







 


2021 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes – Page 4 
January 7, 2021 


4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES   
 
Moved by:  Richard Bengry 
 


  THAT the Board of Directors approve the minutes of September 3, 2020, as presented. CARRIED 
 


5. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
 


There was no business arising from the minutes.  
 


6. REPORTS 
 
a. Executive Committee Report  


 
The Executive Committee Report, for meetings from August 2020 to December 2020, 
was presented for information.  


 
7. BUSINESS 


 
a. Proposed 2021 Budget  


 
The 2021 Budget was presented to the Board of Directors.  
 
Director Lenze Kuiper explained the rationale of the budget, including the loss of 
members (both Planning and GIS), the decrease in revenue throughout the year, 
the capital reserve status, and other challenges from 2020.  
 
Mr. Kuiper updated the Board on the proposed expenses for 2021, such as 
current staffing, new cost savings initiatives, and reductions in expenses for the 
upcoming year. There will be no staff salary increases for 2021, which is an 
additional cost savings.  
 
Moved by: Margaret Plumtree 
 
THAT the Board of Directors approve the 2021 Budget, as presented.  


CARRIED 
8. ACCOUNTS 
 


Moved by: Don Anderberg 
 
THAT the Board of Directors accept the Summary of Balance Sheet and Income 
Statement for the 10-month period of January 1 - October 31, 2020. 


CARRIED 


2a 
Page 4 of 5


Page 6 of 94







 


2021 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Meeting Minutes – Page 5 
January 7, 2021 


9. ADJOURNMENT  
 


With nothing further to discuss, Chair Gordon Wolstenholme, at 7:41 pm, adjourned the Annual 
General Board of Directors’ Meeting of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission, until 
Thursday, March 4, 2021, at 7:00 p.m.            
    


 
 
 
 
 
  CHAIR:  ____________________________________  
 


2a 
Page 5 of 5


Page 7 of 94







Page 8 of 94







Page 1 of 1 


EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT 
From January to May 2021 


February 11, 2021 


• Municipal Borrowing Bylaw – The Executive Committee authorized the Chair and Director to endorse the
2021 Municipal Borrowing Bylaw (Revolving Line of Credit).


• Regional Relief and Recovery Fund Grant Application – Two separate applications for grant funding were
successful, with ORRSC receiving $40,000 from the Regional Relief and Recovery Grant and an additional
$20,000 from the Expansion Grant Program. The Executive Committee directed the Director to ensure that
the required reimbursements for these grants be repaid at the end of their terms.


• Hamlet of Granum Update – Now that Granum is a Hamlet of the MD of Willow Creek and being as the MD
has an in-house GIS department, ORRSC will no longer be providing GIS services for this area.


March 11, 2021 


• Succession Planning – Senior Planner Mike Burla has announced his retirement in the Fall of 2021. The
succession plan of his retirement, with regards to his municipalities, was discussed with the Executive
Committee.


April 8, 2021 


• Financial Statements of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission – Derek Taylor with KPMG LLP
presented the Financial Statements of ORRSC and were accepted by the Executive Committee.


May 13, 2021 


• Draft Bylaws and the Draft Annual Report were presented to the Executive Committee prior to distribution
to the June Board of Directors’ Meeting.


5a 
Page 1 of 1


Page 9 of 94







Page 10 of 94







2020
ANNUAL 
REPORT


For the year ending December 31, 2020


Oldman River Regional 
Services Commission


6a 
Page 1 of 28


Page 11 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


2020 
at a glance


4
Staffing 
Changes


16
SDAB


Appeals


142
Subdivisions 


Approved


Covid


19


4
LUBs


Completed


4
ICFs


Completed


14
IDPs


Completed


76
LUB


Amendments


Bill


48


9
MDPs


Completed


MISSION STATEMENT
The Oldman River Regional Services Commission will provide
professional municipal planning, geographical information system
and regional assessment review services and advice to our
municipal members and their rate-payers in a professional
manner befitting a non-profit entity.


6a 
Page 2 of 28


Page 12 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 1


KEY MESSAGE
By Chair Gordon Wolstenholme and Director Lenze Kuiper


“When everything seems to be going against you, remember that the
airplane takes off against the wind, not with it” - Henry Ford


We are pleased to share with you the Oldman River Regional Services Commission (ORRSC)
Annual Report for 2020. We hope that you – our members – will agree that this document
meets the needs of these taxing times in describing a managing approach that is prudent, cost-
effective and sensitive to the regulatory burdens that members bear.


The past 12 months have been a time of significant challenge for ORRSC. While the COVID-19
crisis has been a challenge for all Albertans, ORRSC has demonstrated terrific resiliency and co-
operation as we look forward to supporting the recovery and the return to normalcy.


In 2020, the government launched a review of all Commissions. The objective of the
government’s review was for Commissions to strengthen their work through a strategy of
continuous improvement by streamlining processes, reducing red tape and increasing member
confidence. We have responded to the government’s review by fundamentally examining and
changing how we work with the ambition of being one of the most effective professional
service providers in Alberta. We should emphasize that this does not come at the expense of
ensuring the continued fairness of our adjudicative procedures (i.e. SDAB & RARB). New
Operating and Procedural Bylaws will be forthcoming in mid-2021 to reflect these changes.


We are proud to say that we are already implementing many identified initiatives, however
more work needs to be done. It is clear there is a strong conviction internally about what
needs to change, and there is a real energy within ORRSC to communicate these changes and
take the opportunity to make ORRSC work better for everyone.


This Annual Report showcases the initiatives and work we have completed in 2020. While we
will keep a sharp focus on ensuring the timeliness and accuracy of our work, it is clear that
Planning and GIS are undergoing fundamental change, driven by red tape reduction,
technological and market changes. This change has caused us to move from an agency that
reactively processes applications, to an agency that proactively confronts complex issues that
arise during a time of regulatory and competitive change.


In our view, the ORRSC can and should have a role in facilitating the evolution of the Planning
and GIS by assisting the members, public, industry and government to understand the options
and alternatives, and the implications of the challenges the transition is presenting. Our work
in relation to facilitating this transformation is set out in our strategic plan. As we work to
develop the processes and structures to meet future challenges, we must ensure that we have
both your support and the ability to succeed in that pursuit.


6a 
Page 3 of 28


Page 13 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 2


KEY MESSAGE CONT’D


We must continue to develop and strengthen our team by aligning our hiring
and training efforts with our strategic plan and objectives. Since ORRSC can’t
foresee all issues before they arise, our team must look at circumstances,
identify issues and find new approaches and solutions in a rapidly changing
environment. We have had good success working beyond the traditional
hierarchical structure, allowing us to leverage specialization as projects require.


We will finish by emphasizing that reducing regulatory burden and improving
ORRSC efficiency and effectiveness are key objectives for us in the coming year.
We want to see ORRSC achieve ongoing and continuous improvement. We can
say with confidence that ORRSC is moving to tackle these issues and it will
require commitment from all members in the short, medium and long-term to
accomplish lasting change. We would like to thank you for your confidence and
support as we work to achieve our goals.


EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The Executive Committee is responsible for financial and administrative concerns
including budget preparation, approval of accounts, procedures and policies for
hiring and dismissal of staff, and specific issues affecting administration or policy.


Gordon Wolstenholme – Chair


Jim Bester – Vice Chair
Doug MacPherson


Don Anderberg


Jennifer Crowson
Margaret Plumtree


Ian Sundquist


6a 
Page 4 of 28


Page 14 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 3


BOARD OF DIRECTORS From 40 Member Municipalities


Kevyn Stevenson
Village of Arrowwood


Brad Koch
Village of Lomond


Delbert Bodnarek
Village of Barnwell


Richard Van Ee
Town of Magrath


Ed Weistra
Village of Barons


Peggy Losey
Town of Milk River


Tom Rose
Town of Bassano


Sheldon Walker
Village of Milo


Norman Gerestein
City of Brooks


Victor Czop (Beryl West – Former Member)
Town of Nanton


Jim Bester
Cardston County


Marinus de Leeuw
Town of Nobleford


Richard Bengry
Town of Cardston


Henry de Kok
Town of Picture Butte


Peggy Hovde
Village of Carmangay


Bev Everts
MD of Pincher Creek No. 9


Jamie Smith
Village of Champion


Don Anderberg
Town of Pincher Creek


Doug MacPherson
Town of Claresholm


Ronald Davis
MD of Ranchland No. 66


Henry (Butch) Pauls
Town of Coaldale


Stewart Foss
Town of Raymond


Elizabeth Christensen
Town of Coalhurst


Don Norby
Town of Stavely


Tanya Smith
Village of Coutts


Matthew Foss
Village of Stirling


Warren Mickels
Village of Cowley


Jennifer Crowson
MD of Taber 


Dave Filipuzzi and Dean Ward
Municipality of Crowsnest Pass


Margaret Plumtree
Town of Vauxhall


Kole Steinley
Village of Duchess


Jason Schneider
Vulcan County


Gordon Wolstenholme
Town of Fort Macleod


Lyle Magnuson
Town of Vulcan


Gerry Carter
Village of Glenwood


David Cody
County of Warner 


Suzanne French
Village of Hill Spring


Marty Kirby
Town of Warner


Morris Zeinstra
Lethbridge County


Ian Sundquist
MD of Willow Creek No. 26


6a 
Page 5 of 28


Page 15 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 4


DIRECTOR Lenze Kuiper (2005)


SENIOR PLANNER Mike Burla (1978)


SENIOR PLANNER Steve Harty (1998)


SENIOR PLANNER Diane Horvath (2000)


SENIOR PLANNER Bonnie Brunner (2007)


SENIOR PLANNER Gavin Scott (2007)


PLANNER Ryan Dyck (2013)


PLANNER Madeleine Baldwin (2019)


ASSISTANT PLANNER Erin Graham (2017-July 2020)


ASSISTANT PLANNER Max Kelly (2019)


ASSISTANT PLANNER Hailey Winder (2018)


CAD/GIS TECHNOLOGIST Mladen Kristic (2006)


CAD/GIS TECHNOLOGIST Kaylee Sailer (2013)


CAD/GIS TECHNOLOGIST Yueu Majok (2017)


GIS ANALYST Jaime Thomas (2005)


GIS ANALYST Jordan Thomas (2006)


GIS TECHNICIAN Carlin Groves (2019)


BOOKKEEPER Sherry Johnson (1981)


SUBDIVISION TECHNICIAN Jennifer Maxwell (2015)


EXECUTIVE SECRETARY Barb Johnson


(1975 - 1978, 1984 - September 2020)


EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT Tara Cryderman (October 2020)


MUNICIPAL PLANNING CLERK Bonnie Andres – (2019 - July 2020)


STAFFING RESOURCES


6a 
Page 6 of 28


Page 16 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 5


Intermunicipal Development Plan:
• Cardston County and Town of Cardston – Ongoing


• Cardston County and Town of Magrath Amendment – Ongoing


• Lethbridge County and Town of Coalhurst – Commenced


• Lethbridge County and Village of Barons – Completed


• Lethbridge County and Town of Coaldale – Completed


• Lethbridge County and Village of Barons – Completed


• Lethbridge County and Town of Nobleford – Completed


• MD of Pincher Creek No. 9 and Municipality of Crowsnest Pass – Completed


• MD of Pincher Creek No. 9 and Village of Cowley - Commenced


• MD of Ranchland No. 66 and Municipality of Crowsnest Pass – Completed


• MD of Ranchland No. 66 and MD of Pincher Creek No. 9 - Completed


• MD of Taber and Town of Taber - Ongoing


• County of Warner No. 5 and Village of Coutts – Completed 


• County of Warner No. 5 and Town of Milk River – Completed


• County of Warner No. 5 and Town of Raymond – Completed


• County of Warner No. 5 and Village of Stirling – Completed


• County of Warner No. 5 and Village of Warner - Completed


• MD of Willow Creek and Town of Claresholm – Ongoing


• MD of Willow Creek and Town of Fort Macleod – Ongoing


• MD of Willow Creek and Town of Stavely - Ongoing


• Vulcan County and Village of Arrowwood – Completed


• Vulcan County and Village of Carmangay – Commenced


• Vulcan County and Village of Champion – Commenced


• Vulcan County and Village of Milo – Commenced


• Vulcan County and Village of Lomond – Commenced


• Vulcan County and Town of Vulcan – Completed


• Vulcan County and Lethbridge County – Commenced


MUNICIPAL PROJECTS 


6a 
Page 7 of 28


Page 17 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 6


Municipal Development Plan:


• Village of Arrowwood – Completed


• Town of Bassano – Completed


• Village of Carmangay – Completed


• Village of Coutts – Completed


• Village of Cowley – Commenced


• Municipality of Crowsnest Pass – Completed


• Village of Duchess – Ongoing


• Village of Glenwood – Completed


• Village of Lomond – Completed


• Village of Milo – Commenced


• MD of Pincher Creek No. 9 – Ongoing


• Town of Stavely – Background Report Commenced


• Village of Warner – Completed


• MD of Willow Creek - Completed


Land Use Bylaw:


• Cardston County – Ongoing


• City of Brooks – Major Land Use Bylaw Amendments - Completed


• Village of Carmangay – Major Land Use Bylaw Amendments - Completed


• Village of Champion – Major Land Use Bylaw Amendments - Completed


• Village of Duchess – Completed 


• Town of Fort Macleod – Ongoing


• Town of Pincher Creek - Ongoing


• Town of Vauxhall – Major Land Use Bylaw Amendments – Ongoing


• Vulcan County – Commenced


• MD of Willow Creek No. 26 - Ongoing


6a 
Page 8 of 28


Page 18 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 7


Other:


Town of Fort Macleod 


• Macleod Meadows Area Structure Plan – Ongoing


• Paddock Lands Concept – Ongoing


Lethbridge County


• Joint Industrial Area Structure Plan with Town of Coalhurst –
Commenced


• Hamlet of Chin Growth Study – Completed


• Hamlet of Kipp Growth Study – Completed


• Hamlet of Shaughnessy Growth Study - Commenced


• Hamlet of Diamond City Growth Study – Commenced


Town of Nanton


• West Nanton Concept Plan – Ongoing


Town of Picture Butte


• North Industrial Park Area Structure Plan – Ongoing


MD of Pincher Creek No. 9


• Wind Energy Conversion System Review – Ongoing with MDP


Town of Pincher Creek


• Land Use Strategy – Commenced


MD of Willow Creek and Town of Claresholm 


• Annexation of Custom Cannabis Parcel – Completed


Intermunicipal Collaborative Framework:


• County of Warner No. 5 and Village of Coutts – Completed


• County of Warner No. 5 and Town of Milk River – Completed


• County of Warner No. 5 and Village of Stirling – Completed


• County of Warner No. 5 and Village of Warner - Completed


6a 
Page 9 of 28


Page 19 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 8


• All GIS members have fully operational internal Geocortex site 


• Every municipality has access to custom GIS web applications


• Access to drone image capture


GIS PROJECTS 


SUBDIVISION


Summary of Applications Processed:


A total of 166 subdivision applications were processed in 2020. 


The status of these applications, as of December 31, 2020 are:


• 142 – Approved or Approved on Conditions


• 0 – Refused


• 0 – Withdrawn or Expired


• 24 – Pending


There was one subdivision appealed in 2020. 


The following table shows a detailed breakdown of the subdivision 
applications. 


6a 
Page 10 of 28


Page 20 of 94







2020 ANNUAL REPORT


Page 9


2020 Subdivision Statistics


MEMBER MUNICIPALITY
# of 


Subdivisions
Boundary
Line Adj


DECISION NEWLY CREATED LOTS (By Use)


A or A/C R W/E P Res Com Ind CR Ag Inst Rec Misc TOTAL


Cardston County 19 2 15 4 4 18 4 1 1 28


City of Brooks 2 1 1 1 1 1


County of Newell 7 3 7 3 1 4


County of Warner No. 5 6 1 6 4 1 5


Lethbridge County 31 10 25 6 1 32 3 1 37


M.D. of Pincher Creek No. 9 19 4 18 1 9 2 4 15


M.D. of Willow Creek No. 26 21 2 17 4 1 12 9 3 1 26


M.D. of Willow Creek No. 26 & Vulcan County 2 2 1 1 1


Municipal District of Taber 24 7 20 4 1 2 15 3 21


Municipality of Crowsnest Pass 5 1 5 3 1 4


Town of Bassano & County of Newell 1 1 1 1


Town of Cardston 3 2 2 1 1 1


Town of Claresholm 3 1 3 19 1 20


Town of Coaldale 1 1 1 1


Town of Fort Macleod 1 1 1 1


Town of Magrath 2 1 2 1 1


Town of Pincher Creek 1 1 1 1


Town of Raymond 4 4 4 1 5


Town of Vauxhall 2 1 2 1 1


Village of Arrowwood 2 1 2 14 14


Village of Barnwell 1 1 1 1


Village of Carmangay 1 1 1 0


Village of Warner 1 1 6 6


Vulcan County 7 2 5 2 25 1 26
TOTAL 166 40 142 0 0 24 58 1 17 116 18 8 3 1 222


NOTE:  Lot count includes Pending Decisions as of December 31, 2020


ABBREVIATIONS:


A or A/C - Approved or Approved with Conditions Ind - Industrial
R - Refused CR - Country Residential
W/E - Withdrawn or Expired Ag - Agricultural
P – Pending Inst - Institutional
Res - Residential Rec - Recreational
Com - Commercial Misc - Miscellaneous


6a 
Page 11 of 28


Page 21 of 94







Financial Statements of 


OLDMAN RIVER
REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
And Independent Auditors' Report thereon


Year ended December 31, 2020 


6a 
Page 12 of 28


Page 22 of 94







INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 


To the Board of Directors of Oldman River Regional Services Commission 


Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Oldman River Regional Services 
Commission (the Commission), which comprise: 


• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020


• the statement of operations for the year then ended


• the statement of  changes in net financial assets for the year then ended


• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended


• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies


(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 


In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Commission as at December 31, 2020, and its 
results of operations, changes in net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, including 
the 4200 series of standards for government not-for-profit organizations.   


Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of 
our auditors’ report.   


We are independent of the Commission in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.     


KPMG LLP 
3410 Fairway Plaza Road South 
Lethbridge AB T1K 7T5 
Canada 
Tel 403-380-5700 
Fax 403-380-5760


© 2020 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.


6a 
Page 13 of 28


Page 23 of 94







Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, including 
the 4200 series of standards for government not-for-profit organizations, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 


In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Commission or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 


Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Commission’s 
financial reporting process.  


Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  


Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  


Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 


As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  


We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,


whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.


The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.


6a 
Page 14 of 28


Page 24 of 94







• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission's internal control.


• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.


• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Commission's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Commission to cease to continue as a going concern.


• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represents the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.


• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.


Chartered Professional Accountants 


Lethbridge, Canada 


April 8, 2021


6a 
Page 15 of 28


Page 25 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Statement of Financial Position


December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019


2020 2019  


Assets


Current assets:
Cash and short-term deposits $ 158,398 $ 199,447
Accounts receivable (note 3) 66,094 61,266
Prepaid expenses and deposits 8,671 10,574  


233,163 271,287


Cash not available for current operations 340,896 336,762
Capital assets (note 4) 566,815 620,754


$ 1,140,874 $ 1,228,803


Liabilities


Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 223,945 $ 228,929


Net assets:
Unrestricted 9,218 42,358
Invested in capital assets 566,815 620,754
Internally restricted 340,896 336,762


916,929 999,874
Commitments (note 6)


 
$ 1,140,874 $ 1,228,803


See accompanying notes to financial statements.


On behalf of the Board:


  


  


1


6a 
Page 16 of 28


Page 26 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Statement of Operations


Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019


2020
Budget


2020
Actual


2019
Actual


Revenue:
Municipal contributions $ 981,549 $ 958,555 $ 953,084
GIS member fees 600,330 551,993 594,386
Subdivision fees 300,000 239,278 276,180
Service fees 425,000 410,156 329,623
Other revenue 31,900 55,152 63,373
Interest income 12,000 7,981 15,711


2,350,779 2,223,115 2,232,357


Expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,071,531 2,009,284 1,963,921
Software licenses and equipment 74,000 71,197 63,635
Repairs and maintenance 24,000 37,951 26,993
Occupancy costs 39,000 33,322 34,382
Telephone 17,000 19,332 20,602
Staff travel 20,000 16,386 21,144
Professional fees 12,500 9,980 9,880
Office and general 5,500 7,494 8,282
Members' fees 5,000 6,944 6,360
Advertising 5,000 6,381 5,009
Janitorial 6,000 5,366 6,533
Printing and duplicating 7,500 4,029 6,479
Public relations 4,000 3,048 8,882
Postage 6,000 3,029 6,500
Members' travel 8,000 3,011 8,103
Staff training and conferences 9,000 2,601 2,274
Land titles office 4,000 2,152 3,149
Consulting 5,000 1,491 4,600
Miscellaneous 1,500 6,865 12,187
Interest and bank charges - 512 581
Amortization - 55,685 63,641


2,324,531 2,306,060 2,283,137


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses
before the undernoted item 26,248 (82,945) (50,780)


Other income:
Gain on sale of capital assets - - 8,467


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses $ 26,248 $ (82,945) $ (42,313)


See accompanying notes to financial statements.


2


6a 
Page 17 of 28


Page 27 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Statement of Changes in Net Assets


Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019


Unrestricted
Internally
restricted


Invested in
capital assets


Total
2020


Total
2019


Balance, beginning
of year $ 42,358 $ 336,762 $ 620,754 $ 999,874 $ 1,042,187


Excess (deficiency)
of revenue over
expenses (82,945) - - (82,945) (42,313)


Amortization of
internally funded
capital assets 55,685 - (55,685) - -


Purchase of capital
assets (1,747) - 1,747 - -


Transfers to
reserve (note 9) (4,133) 4,134 (1) - -


Balance, end of
year $ 9,218 $ 340,896 $ 566,815 $ 916,929 $ 999,874


See accompanying notes to financial statements.


3


6a 
Page 18 of 28


Page 28 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Statement of Cash Flows


Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019


2020 2019


Cash provided by (used in):


Operations:
Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ (82,945) $ (42,313)
Items not involving cash:


Amortization 55,685 63,641
Gain on sale of capital assets - (8,467) 


(27,260) 12,861
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:


Accounts receivable (4,828) (29,763)
Prepaid expenses and deposits 1,903 (47)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (4,983) 19,860


(35,168) 2,911


Capital activities:
Purchase of capital assets (1,747) (69,290)
Proceeds on sale of capital assets - 13,000


(1,747) (56,290)


Decrease in cash and short-term deposits (36,915) (53,379)


Cash and short-term deposits, beginning of year 536,209 589,588


Cash, end of year $ 499,294 $ 536,209


Cash is represented by:
Cash and short-term deposits $ 158,398 $ 199,447
Cash not available for current operations 340,896 336,762


 
$ 499,294 $ 536,209


  


See accompanying notes to financial statements.


4


6a 
Page 19 of 28


Page 29 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements


Year ended December 31, 2020


Nature of operations:


Oldman River Regional Services Commission (the "Commission") is a regional planning commission
created by an order in Council of the province of Alberta on October 21, 2003. It was created
pursuant to the Municipal Government Act of Alberta. Members of the Commission are restricted to
municipal authorities. The Commission is exempt from income tax under Section 149 of the
Canadian Income Tax Act.


1. Significant accounting policies:


These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards including the 4200 standards for government not-for-profit organizations. The
Commission’s significant accounting policies are as follows:


(a) Revenue recognition:


The Commission follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Externally
restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related
expenses are recognized. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when
received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and
collection is reasonably assured.


Restricted investment income is recognized as revenue in the year in which the related
expenses are recognized. Unrestricted investment income is recognized as revenue when
earned.


Approval fees, sales of maps revenue and fee for service revenue are recognized as
revenue in the period in which the service is delivered or in which the transaction or events
that gave rise to the revenue occurred.


5


6a 
Page 20 of 28


Page 30 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


1. Significant accounting policies (continued):


(b) Capital assets:


Capital assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided
using the following methods and annual rates:


Asset Basis Rate


Building Declining balance 4%
Vehicles Declining balance 30%
Computer Straight-line 4 years
General contents Straight-line 5 years


Capital assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the asset no longer has any long-term service potential to the Commission.
Any such impairment is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
estimated residual value.  


(c) Cash and cash equivalents:


Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short-term deposits, which are
highly liquid with original maturities of less than three months from the date of acquisition.
These financial assets are convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.


6


6a 
Page 21 of 28


Page 31 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


1. Significant accounting policies (continued):


(d) Financial instruments:


A contract establishing a financial instrument creates, at its inception, rights and
obligations to receive or deliver economic benefits. The financial assets and financial
liabilities portray these rights and obligations in the financial statements. The Commission
recognizes a financial instrument when it becomes a party to a financial instrument
contract.


Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, portfolio 
investments, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, debt and other 
liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Commission is not
exposed to significant credit and liquidity risks, or market risk, which includes currency,
interest rate and other price risks.


Portfolio investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and derivatives are
recorded at  fair value. All other financial assets and liabilities are recorded at cost or
amortized cost and the associated transaction costs are added to the carrying value of
items in the cost or amortized cost upon initial recognition. The gain or loss arising from
de-recognition of a financial instrument is recognized in the Statement of Operations.
Impairment losses such as write-downs or write-offs are reported in the Statement of
Operations.


There are no remeasurement gains or losses and as such, a statement of remeasurement
gains and losses has not been prepared. 


(e) Employee future benefits:


The Commission participates in a multi-employer defined pension plan call the Local
Authorities Pension Plan ("LAPP"). This pension plan is a multi-employer defined benefit
pension plan that provides pension benefits for the Commission's participating employees,
based on years of service and earnings. 


The plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan whereby contributions are
expensed as incurred.  


7


6a 
Page 22 of 28


Page 32 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


1. Significant accounting policies (continued):


(f) Use of estimates:


The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector
accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the year. Significant items subject to such estimates and
assumptions include the carrying amounts of capital assets. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.


(g) Contaminated sites liability:


The Commission uses Public Sector Accounting Standards section 3260 - liability for
contaminated sites. Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into
air, soil, water or sediment of a chemical, organic or retroactive or live organism that
exceeds an environmental standard. The liability is recorded net of any expected
recoveries. A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized when a site is
not in productive use and is management's estimate of the cost of post-remediation
including operation, maintenance and monitoring. At December 31, 2020 the Commission
did not have any liabilities associated with contaminated sites.  


2. Future accounting pronouncements:


The following summarizes the upcoming changes to the Public Sector Accounting Standards by
the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board ("PSAB"). In 2021, the Commission will continue
to assess the impact and prepare for the adoption of these standards. While the timing of
standard adoption can vary, certain standards must be adopted concurrently.


(i) PS 3280 - Asset retirement obligations:


This section provides guidance on how to account for and report a liability for retirement of
a tangible capital asset. This section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April
1, 2022.


(ii) PS 3400 - Revenue:


This section provides guidance on how to account for and report on revenue, specifically
addressing revenue arising from exchange transactions and unilateral transactions. This
section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2022.


8


6a 
Page 23 of 28


Page 33 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


3. Accounts receivable:


2020 2019


Trade receivables $ 62,796 $ 56,197
Goods and services tax 3,298 5,069


$ 66,094 $ 61,266


4. Capital assets:


2020  


Cost
Accumulated
amortization


Net book
value


Land $ 80,000 $ - $ 80,000
Building 773,397 359,632 413,765
General contents 282,942 264,976 17,966
Other equipment 13,678 13,097 581
Vehicles 78,942 52,382 26,560
Computer 146,377 110,434 27,943


 
$ 1,375,336 $ 800,521 $ 566,815


2019  


Cost
Accumulated
amortization


Net book
value


Land $ 80,000 $ - $ 80,000
Building 773,397 342,392 431,005
General contents 281,195 260,665 20,530
Other equipment 13,678 13,097 581
Vehicles 78,942 41,000 37,942
Computer 146,377 95,681 50,696


 
$ 1,373,589 $ 752,835 $ 620,754


9


6a 
Page 24 of 28


Page 34 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


5. Financial risks and concentration of risk:


(a) Liquidity risk:


Liquidity risk is the risk that the Commission will be unable to fulfil its obligations on a
timely basis or at a reasonable cost. The Commission manages its liquidity risk by
monitoring its operating requirements. There has been no change to the risk exposures
from 2019. 


(b) Market risk:


Market risk is the risk that changes in market price such as interest rates will affect the
Commission's income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters.


(c) Interest rate risk:


The Commission is exposed to interest rate risk on its fixed interest rate financial
instruments and floating rate operating line of credit loan. 


(d) Credit risk:


Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss. The Commission is exposed to credit risk with respect to
accounts receivable and has processes in place to monitor accounts receivable balances.
The Commission believes that it is not exposed to significant credit risk arising from its
financial instruments.


10


6a 
Page 25 of 28


Page 35 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


6. Commitments:


(a) The Commission leased equipment under agreements expiring on dates ranging from
August, 2021 to June, 2026. The base rent obligation under the leases for the next year is
approximately $7,518.


(b) The Commission has signed contracts for electricity and natural gas for its facilities, which
expired on December 31, 2018, however is to continue on a year to year basis until written
notice of termination on December 31, 2023.


7. Economic dependence:


The Commission receives a significant portion of its revenue directly and indirectly from its
members, such the Commission is economically dependent on its members.


8. Debt limits:


Section 276(2) of the Municipal Government Act requires that debt and debt limits as defined by
Alberta Regulation 76/2000 for the Commission be disclosed as follows:


2020 2019
 
Total debt limit $ 1,111,557 $ 1,116,178
Total debt - -


Debt servicing limit $ 223,311 223,236
Debt servicing - -


Amount of debt servicing limit unused $ 223,311 $ 223,236


The debt limit is calculated at 0.5 times revenue of the Commission (as defined in Alberta
Regulation 76/2000) and the debt service limit is calculated at 0.1 times such revenue. Incurring
debt beyond these limitations requires approval by the Minister of Municipal Affairs. These
thresholds are guidelines used by Alberta Municipal Affairs to identify municipalities which could
be at financial risk if further debt is acquired. The calculation taken alone does not represent the
financial stability of the Commission. Rather, the financial statements must be interpreted as a
whole.


11


6a 
Page 26 of 28


Page 36 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


9. Internally restricted net assets:


Internally restricted net assets is comprised of the following:


2020 2019
 
Operating reserve fund 170,448 168,381
Capital reserve fund 170,448 168,381


 
340,896 336,762


10. Local Authorities Pension Plan:


Employees of the Commission participate in the Local Authorities Pension Plan, which is one of
the plans covered by the Public Sector Pension Plans Act. The plan covers approximately
274,151 employees of approximately 420 non-government employer organizations such as
municipalities, hospitals, and schools (non-teachers). 


The Commission is required to make current service contributions to the Plan of 9.39% of
pensionable payroll up to the year's maximum pensionable earnings under the Canada Pension
Plan, and 13.84% on pensionable earnings above this amount. 


Employees of the Commission are required to make current service contributions of 8.39% of
pensionable salary up to the year's maximum pensionable earnings under the Canada Pension
Plan, and 12.84% on pensionable salary above this amount.


Total current and past service contributions by the Commission to the Local Authorities Pension
Plan in 2020 were $148,445 (2019 - $137,062). Total current and past service contributions by
the employees of the Commission to the Local Authorities Pension Plan in 2020 were $134,748
(2019 - $124,278).
 
At December 31, 2019 the Plan disclosed an actuarial surplus of $7.9 billion.


12


6a 
Page 27 of 28


Page 37 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES
COMMISSION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)


Year ended December 31, 2020


11. Contractual rights:


Contractual rights are rights of the Commission to economic resources arising from contracts or
agreements that will result in both assets and revenues in the future when the terms of those
contracts or agreements are met.


The Commission has entered into agreements to provide services to municipal members. The
timing and extent of the fees collected in the future depend upon the timing and extent of
services provided and as such will vary in the future.


The Commission collects municipal contributions from its members, the amounts collected
depend upon participation and population of member communities and as such will vary in the
future.


12. Subsequent event:


Subsequent to the year end, the Commission has signed a loan agreement and received a
$60,000 interest-free loan under Community Futures Regional Relief and Recovery Fund
Program from Community Futures to assist with covering non-deferrable operating expenses.


$20,000 of this loan is forgivable if certain repayment terms are met. 


13. Budget information:


The budget information was approved by the Board on December 5, 2019.


14. COVID-19 impact:


The World Health Organization declared a global pandemic for the COVID-19 disease on
March 11, 2020. Consequently, on March 17, 2020, the Government of Alberta declared a state
of public health emergency over the COVID-19 pandemic and enacted measures for its citizens
and businesses to follow, intended to minimize the impact of the disease.


The current challenging economic climate may lead to adverse changes in cash flows, working
capital levels and/or debt balances, which may also have a direct impact on the operating
results and financial position of the Commission in the future. The Commission did not
experience any significant financial implications in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic.


There are other factors which may present uncertainty over future cash flows, may cause
significant changes to the assets or liabilities and may have a significant impact on future
operations. An estimate of the financial effect of these items is not practicable at this time.


13


6a 
Page 28 of 28


Page 38 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 1 of 9 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION 


 


BYLAW NO. 2021-01 


BEING a bylaw of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission, respecting the governing of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Committee of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission 
 
WHEREAS the Oldman River Regional Services Commission has been declared a “continued commission” 
pursuant to Section 602.47 of the Municipal Government Act and by Ministerial Order No. MSD:072/20, 
known as the Regional Services Commissions Order, signed by the Minister of Municipal Affairs, and 
coming into effect on September 1, 2020; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Part 15.1, Section 602.09 (1)(c) of the Municipal Government Act, the Oldman 
River Regional Services Commission must pass a bylaw respecting the process for changing directors of 
the board and the chair of the commission and for setting the terms of office of the board and the chair; 
and 
 
WHEREAS Bylaw No. 2013-1 and Bylaw No. 2013-2 were adopted and the Board now wishes to repeal 
those bylaws, and replace it with Bylaw 2021-01, Bylaw 2021-02 and Bylaw 2021-03.  


NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission hereby 
enacts the following: 


Mission Statement 


The Oldman River Regional Services Commission will provide professional municipal planning, 
geographical information system (GIS) and regional assessment review board services and advice to our 
municipal members and their citizens in a professional manner befitting a non-profit entity. 


1. TITLE 
 
1.1 This bylaw may be cited as the “Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw”. 


 
2. DEFINITIONS 


 
2.1 For the purpose of this Bylaw, the following are defined as: 
 


a. Act means the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A 2000, c. M-26. 
b. Board means the Board of Directors of the Commission. 
c. Bylaws means the bylaws of a Commission. 
d. Chief Administrative Officer means the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) for the 


Oldman River Regional Services Commission.  
e. Chair means the chairperson of the Board and the Executive Committee. 
f. Commission means the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. 
g. Director means a person appointed to the Board of Directors of the Commission 


in accordance with this Bylaw. 
h. Member or Members mean the member municipalities, as set out in ORRSC 


Bylaw 2021-02. 


6b 
Page 1 of 51


Page 39 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 2 of 9 


i. Motion means a motion passed by the Board of Directors or a Commission 
Committee. 


j. Resolution means a resolution passed by a municipal authority or commission.  
k. Service means, in respect of a commission, a service that the bylaws authorize 


the commission to provide. 
l. Technical Advisors means Commission staff, consultants and others deemed so 


by the Board. 
3. APPLICATION 


 
3.1 This Bylaw applies to all members and employees of the Oldman River Regional Services 


Commission. 
4. REPEAL 


 
4.1  Bylaw No. 2013-1 and Bylaw No. 2013-2 are repealed and replaced by this Bylaw. 


 
5. PURPOSE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


 
5.1 The Commission is governed by a Board. 
 
5.2 The Board of Directors is the decision-making and policy-making body of the Oldman River 


Regional Services Commission. Authority may be delegated by the Board to appropriate 
bodies or officers. 
 


6.  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 


6.1 The Board shall consist of 40 Directors that shall be appointed as follows: 
 
a. Each member shall appoint one Director and one alternate Director who may attend 


in place of the Director; both shall be elected officials of their municipality. Alternate 
Directors may vote only when their director is absent from Commission meetings. 
 


b. The Municipality of Crowsnest Pass shall have two voting Directors, in deference to 
their amalgamation into a Specialized Municipality and as previously agreed to upon 
the formulation of the Commission. 


 
6.2  A Director will cease to hold appointment to the Board upon: 


 
a. The termination of a municipality’s membership, or 


 
b. The Director ceasing to be an elected official of the municipality they represent, or 


 
c. The Director being replaced by another elected official as approved by member 


municipal council resolution. 
 


7. BOARD COMMITTEES 
 
7.1 The Board may appoint such Committee(s) as it deems necessary, and they may consist 


of such members and persons (including Technical Advisors) as it deems necessary. 


6b 
Page 2 of 51


Page 40 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 3 of 9 


7.2 The Board may delegate any powers or duties to the Committee(s) it deems necessary. 
 


8. BOARD AUTHORITY 
 
8.1 Unless delegated to the Executive Committee, the Board has responsibility for all 


operations, policies, employees, budgeting and other functions of the commission and 
any amendments necessary. 


 
8.2 The appointed members and elected Executive Committee are drawn from a diverse cross 


section of rural and urban member municipalities with the intention to best accomplish 
the mandate and objectives of the Commission, first and foremost. 


 Annual Report 


8.3 Before the annual general meeting each year, the Board shall approve and send to each 
member, in a form and detail the Board may prescribe: 
• A report of its activities in the preceding fiscal year, and 
• An audited financial statement of the preceding fiscal year. 


 
9. DELEGATION OF POWERS 


 
9.1 The Board delegates to the Executive Committee those powers outlined in Section 16 


(Powers and Duties of the Executive Committee) and Section 17 (Budgeting)of this bylaw. 
 


10. COMMISSION OFFICERS 
 
10.1 The Chair of the Board: 


• Is elected from the Board Members, 
• Is a member of the Executive Committee, 
• Assumes the responsibility of chairing meetings of the Board and of the Executive 


Committee, 
• Serves as ana ex-officio member on all committees of the Commission and has full 


voting privileges, 
• May, at any time, call a meeting of the Board or any of its committees, 
• Represents the Commission membership at meetings and at occasions requiring 


representation of the Commission by the Chair, 
• Initiates or responds to correspondence on behalf of the Board and the Executive 


Committee, as may be required, 
• Is authorized as a signing authority for disbursement of Commission funds. 
 


10.2 Vice-Chair of the Board: 
• Is elected from the Board Members, 
• Is a member of the Executive Committee, 
• Assumes all functions and responsibilities of the Chair of the Board in their absence, 
• Is authorized as a signing authority for disbursement of Commission funds. 


 
 
 


6b 
Page 3 of 51


Page 41 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 4 of 9 


11. VACANT COMMISSION OFFICERS POSITIONS 
 
11.1 When a Board Chair’s position falls vacant during a term of office, then for the balance of 


the term: 
• The Vice-Chair assumes the responsibility of the Chair of Board and the Executive 


Committee, 
• The position of the Vice-Chair becomes vacant because of the above and may be filled 


by election at a regular Board meeting. 
 


11.2 When the Board Vice-Chair’s position becomes vacant during a term of office, it may be 
filled by election at a regular Board meeting. 
 


12. BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S MEETINGS 
 
12.1 The Board may hold the following meetings:  


• Regular quarterly meetings of the Board to carry out the ongoing policy and decision-
making functions of the Commission, 


• Special meetings of the Board in addition to regular meetings, when required. 
 


12.2 The Board shall hold the following meetings conducted in accordance with the rules of 
procedure contained in this Bylaw and in Bylaws 2021-02 and 2021-03: 


Annual Organizational Meeting (first Thursday of December): 


• To adopt the list of Directors and their alternates appointed to the Board by each 
member municipality, 


• To elect a Board Chair and Vice-Chair, 
• To elect the Executive Committee, 
• To appoint to its committees, Board Directors or a combination of Board Directors 


and any such other persons as it considers necessary. 


Annual General Meeting (first Thursday of June): 


• To ratify the Annual Report of the Commission’s activity in the preceding fiscal year, 
• To ratify the financial audit and statement relating to the preceding year, 
• To deal with items of business as set out by the agenda, 
• To deal with any other business which may be raised by a member. 


 
13. ELECTIONS 


 
13.1 The CAO or their designate will act as the returning officer for the election of Executive 


members at the Annual Organizational Meeting of the Commission. 
 


13.2 All members who wish to let their name stand for election for the position of Chair, Vice-
Chair and/or members of the Executive Committee shall inform the CAO two weeks 
before the date of the Annual Organizational Meeting. Members may submit written 
background information about themselves when they put their name forward for 
election. 


 


6b 
Page 4 of 51


Page 42 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 5 of 9 


 
13.3 Ballots shall be prepared for the Annual Organizational Meeting with the names listed in 


order as drawn by two designated staff members. 
 


13.4 At the Organizational Meeting, members may make nominations from the floor. 
Nominations from the floor will be added to the ballot. 


 
13.5 If no rural members are elected: 


• As Chair, or 
• As Vice-Chair, or 
• To the Executive Committee. 


Then, the Executive Committee shall appoint a rural member to the Executive Committee. 


13.6 If, on the calculation of votes, two or more candidates for any office have received the 
same number of votes, and if it is necessary for determining which candidate is elected, 
the returning officer shall write the names of those candidates separately on blank sheets 
of paper of equal size and of the same colour and texture, and after folding the sheets of 
paper in a uniform manner and so the names are concealed, shall deposit them in a 
receptacle and direct some person to withdraw one of the sheets, and the returning 
officer shall declare the candidate whose name appears on the withdrawn sheet to have 
one more vote that the other candidate. 
 


14. DECISIONS OF THE BOARD 
 
14.1 Decisions of the Board shall be made by motion and recorded in the minutes of the 


respective meeting. A copy of these minutes shall be signed by the Chair and CAO, which, 
duly signed, shall be known as the “Official Copy” and shall be maintained in the 
Commission office as per Bylaw 2021-05 (Document Retention Bylaw). 
 


14.2 A decision of the Board comes into effect: 
• Upon approval of the Board, or 
• If it is given by letter, signed by a person designated to sign on behalf of the Board, or 
• As stated in the decision of the Board. 
 


15. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 


Membership 


15.1 The Executive Committee is composed of the Chair, Vice-Chair, and five members elected 
from and by the Board members (the membership of the Executive Committee may be 
increased to six members if it is necessary under section 15.2 below). 
 


15.2 At least one member of the Executive Committee shall be a member from a rural 
municipality (see Section 13.5). 


 
15.3 The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Board are also the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Executive 


Committee. 


6b 
Page 5 of 51


Page 43 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 6 of 9 


15.4 In the absence of any of the members of the Executive Committee, alternate members 
do not attend on their behalf at Executive Committee Meetings. 
 


15.5 When, due to Annual Municipal Organizational Meetings, an Executive Committee 
member no longer represents the municipality on the Board, said member shall continue 
with the Executive Committee until the Annual Organizational Meeting of the Board when 
a new Executive Committee member is elected. 


 
15.6 In the event of an Executive Committee member vacancy, for whatever reason, an eligible 


board member will be elected to the Executive Committee at the next quarterly Board 
meeting. 


 
15.7 If a member is absent from three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the Executive 


Committee without being authorized by a motion of the Executive Committee to do so, 
they shall cease to be a member of the Executive Committee and shall be replaced, as per 
Section 15.6. 


Meetings and Decisions 


15.8 The Executive Committee may hold meetings in accordance with the Rules and 
Procedures contained in section 15. 
 


15.9 Decisions of the Executive Committee shall be made by motion and recorded in the 
minutes of the respective meeting. A copy of these minutes shall be signed by the Chair 
and CAO, which duly signed, shall be known as the “Official Copy” and shall be maintained 
in the Commission office, as per Bylaw 2021-05 (Retention of Documents). 


 
15.10 A decision of the Executive Committee comes into effect: 


• Upon approval of the Executive Committee, or 
• If it is given by letter, signed by a person designated to sign on behalf of the Board, or 
• As stated in the decision of the Executive Committee. 


 
16. POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 


General 


16.1 The Board delegates to the Executive Committee the responsibility for financial and 
administrative matters, including budget preparation, approval of accounts, procedures 
and policies for hiring and dismissal of staff, and specific issues affecting administration 
or policy including amendments to this bylaw in areas in which it has authority. See 
section 8.1. 
 


16.2 The Executive Committee is authorized to provide ongoing advice to the CAO on planning 
and GIS matters and to give direction on behalf of the Board as required except where, in 
the Executive Committee’s opinion, the matter may significantly affect Board bylaw. 


 
16.3 The Executive Committee is authorized to take legal action. 


 


6b 
Page 6 of 51


Page 44 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 7 of 9 


Financial 


16.4 The Executive Committee prepares and reviews the annual budget estimates and work 
program submitted by the CAO. 
 


16.5 The Executive Committee reviews, in consultation with the CAO, proposals for office 
accommodation for the Commission. 


 
16.6 The Executive Committee is authorized to defer purchase of items set out in the budget, 


as deemed necessary. 
 
16.7 The Executive Committee is authorized to approve funds in excess of the approved budget 


for an individual budget account and individual unbudgeted expenditures from surpluses 
which may be reasonably anticipated from the Commission’s operating budget. 


 
16.8 The Executive Committee is authorized to ratify summaries of cheques written on the 


Commissions general current account. 
 
16.9 The Executive Committee advises the Board on the establishment and amendment to the 


“Schedule of Executive Meeting Fees”. 
 
16.10 The Executive Committee is authorized, in consultation with the CAO, to approve disposal 


of any and all assets deemed to be beyond economical repair, obsolete or surplus to the 
needs of the Commission. Should any assets be wholly or partially owned by the Province, 
funds received through disposal may be returned to the Province. 


 
16.11 The Executive Committee is authorized to approve disposal of any and all records of the 


Commission no longer required for its ongoing operation and no longer required by 
federal or provincial legislation, as per Bylaw 2021-05 (Document Retention Bylaw). 


 
16.12 The Executive Committee shall appoint an auditor on or before the October Executive 


Committee meeting unless a contract for auditing services is in place, in which case an 
annual appointment may not be necessary. 


Personnel 


16.13 The Executive Committee is authorized to interview applicants for the position of CAO, 
make the appointment and set the terms of employment. 
 


16.14 The Executive Committee is authorized to terminate the employment of the CAO. 
 
16.15 The Executive is authorized to review planning and organization matters with the CAO. 
 
16.16 The Executive Committee shall formally review the performance of the CAO on an annual 


basis. 
 
16.17 The Executive Committee is authorized, in consultation with the CAO, to establish 


personnel policies for the Commission. The policies shall be prepared in accordance with 


6b 
Page 7 of 51


Page 45 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 8 of 9 


any personnel principles established by the Board and in accordance with the budget 
approved for these matters. 


 
16.18 The Executive Committee shall hear and decide on grievances from staff after 


consultation with the CAO and as per policy directives in the Commission Policy Manual. 


Pay Plans 


16.19 The Executive Committee shall use as its guide for staff remuneration the class numbers, 
class titles, pay grades and pay grids as established by policy. 


Signing Authority 


16.20 The Executive Committee is authorized to enter into legal agreements on behalf of the 
Commission in accordance with the provisions approved by the Board. 


Advisory Powers and Duties 


16.21 The Executive Committee advises the Board, in consultation with the CAO, on matters of 
principle and policy affecting Commission operations. 
 


16.22 The Executive Committee recommends to the Board, in consultation with the CAO, a 
structure and procedure for its efficient operation. 


Subdivision 


16.23 If, in accordance with the Municipal Government Act, a municipality delegates subdivision 
approval authority to the Commission, the Executive Committee will act as the subdivision 
authority. 
 


16.24 If the Executive Committee is to render a decision on an application for subdivision, then 
the Board member representing the municipality will have a voting position on the 
Executive Committee for the purpose of deciding on the application. 


 
17. BUDGETING 


 
17.1 On or before December 31st of each year, the Executive Committee shall prepare and send 


to the Board an operating and capital budget which is an estimate of its anticipated 
revenues and expenditures required as a result of its proposed activities for the year. 
 


17.2 The Board may choose to approve the proposed budget, approve amendments to the 
proposed budget, or refer all or part of the budget back to the Executive Committee for 
amendment. 


 
17.3 The fiscal year of the Commission is the 12-month period commencing January 1st each 


year. 
 
17.4 The Executive Committee may prescribe charges and fees for anything or service provided 


to a local authority, member of the public or other person having regard to the 
membership contract. 


 


6b 
Page 8 of 51


Page 46 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-01 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee Bylaw   Page 9 of 9 


17.5 The Commission may acquire and hold assets. 
 
17.6 The funds of the Commission shall be deposited in an accredited financial institution 


covered under the Federal Deposit Guarantee Corporation and approved by the Executive 
Committee, under an account or accounts maintained in the name of the Commission, 
and all payments shall be made by cheque or credit card drawn upon the account or 
accounts.  


 
18. AMENDMENTS 


 
18.1 Notification of alteration, amendment, or repeal of this bylaw shall be provided to 


Directors and Members of the Commission on file with the Executive Assistant 30 
calendar days prior to such action being adopted by the Board of Directors. The 
designated representative for Members specifically for such notices shall be the Chief 
Administrative Officer of the Member. 
 


18.2 In Accordance with 602.09 of the Municipal Government Act, a bylaw to amend this bylaw 
does not come into force until the bylaw is passed by a majority of the Board of Directors. 


 
19.  ENACTMENT 
 


 19.1  This Bylaw shall come into force and have effect upon third and final reading. 


 


 


Read a first time this    day of    , 2021.  


 


Read a second time this    day of    , 2021.  


 


Read a third and finally passed this    day of    , 2021.  


 


 


              


Chair – Gordon Wolstenholm    Chief Administrative Officer – Lenze Kuiper 


6b 
Page 9 of 51


Page 47 of 94







6b 
Page 10 of 51


Page 48 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 1 of 8 
 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 


BYLAW NO. 2021-02 
 


BEING a bylaw respecting the administration and the provision of services of The Oldman River Regional 
Services Commission 
 
WHEREAS the Oldman River Regional Services Commission has been declared a “continued commission” 
pursuant to Section 602.47 of the Municipal Government Act and by Ministerial Order No. MSD:072/20, 
known as the Regional Services Commissions Order, signed by the Minister of Municipal Affairs, and 
coming into effect on September 1, 2020; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Part 15.1, Section 602.09 (1)(c) of the Municipal Government Act, the Oldman 
River Regional Services Commission must pass a bylaw respecting the administration of the Oldman River 
Regional Services Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS Bylaw No. 2013-1 and Bylaw No. 2013-2 were adopted and the Board now wishes to repeal 
those bylaws, and replace it with Bylaw 2021-01, Bylaw 2021-02 and Bylaw 2021-03.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission hereby 
enacts the following: 


Mission Statement 


The Oldman River Regional Services Commission will provide professional municipal planning, 
geographical information system (GIS) and regional assessment review board services and advice to our 
municipal members and their citizens in a professional manner befitting a non-profit entity. 


1. TITLE  
 
1.1 This bylaw may be cited as the “Administrative Bylaw”. 


 
2. DEFINITIONS 


 
2.1 For the purpose of this Bylaw, the following are defined as: 
 


a. Act means the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A 2000, c. M-26. 
b. Board means the Board of Directors of the Commission. 
c. Chief Administrative Officer means the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) for the 


Oldman River Regional Services Commission.  
d. Chair means the chairperson of the Board and the Executive Committee. 
e. Commission means the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. 
f. Director means a person appointed to the Board of Directors of the Commission 


in accordance with this Bylaw. 
g. Member or Members mean the member municipalities, as set out in ORRSC 


section 5.5. 
 
 
 


6b 
Page 11 of 51


Page 49 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 2 of 8 
 


3. APPLICATION 
 
3.1 This Bylaw applies to all members and employees of the Oldman River Regional Services 


Commission. 
 
4. REPEAL 


 
4.1 Bylaw No. 2013-1 and Bylaw No. 2013-2 are repealed and replaced by this Bylaw. 


 
5. INTRODUCTION AND APPLICABILITY 


 
Introduction 
 
5.1 This Regional Services Commission continues operations under Part 15.1 of the Municipal 


Government Act and through Ministerial Order and will be called the Oldman River 
Regional Services Commission (ORRSC). 
 


Principal Role 
 
5.2 The Commission’s principal role is to provide the services outlined in service contracts 


signed and entered into with and by the municipal members. Generally, the Commission 
provides a wide range of municipal planning services, geographic information systems 
and/or services and regional assessment review board services. 
 


5.3 Where contracted services are unaffected, the Commission may provide these services to 
municipalities outside of its membership and outside of its geographic area. 


 
5.4 The Oldman River Regional Services Commission will honour all commitments to 


members and employees made under its former name, the “Oldman River Intermunicipal 
Service Agency”. 


 
Municipal Membership 
 
5.5 The membership consists of the following municipalities: 


 
 Municipal Districts (MDs): Pincher Creek No.9 
     Ranchland No. 66 
     Taber  
     Willow Creek No. 26 
 


Counties:   Cardston 
    Lethbridge 
    Vulcan 
    Warner No. 5 


 
Specialized Municipality: Municipality of Crowsnest Pass 


 
 


6b 
Page 12 of 51


Page 50 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 3 of 8 
 


City:    Brooks 
 
Towns:    Bassano 
    Cardston 
    Claresholm 
    Coalhurst 
    Fort Macleod 
    Magrath 
    Milk River 
    Nanton 


Nobleford 
    Picture Butte 
    Pincher Creek 
    Raymond 
    Stavely 
    Vauxhall 
    Vulcan 
 
Villages:   Arrowwood 
    Barnwell 
    Barons 
    Carmangay 
    Champion 
    Coutts 


Duchess  
    Cowley 
    Glenwood 
    Hillspring 
    Lomond 
    Milo 
    Stirling 
    Warner 
 


Becoming a Member 
 


5.6 Municipalities wanting to join the Commission may do so after ratification by the Board. 
 


5.7 A standard service contract/agreement must be entered into with the Commission. 
 


5.8 An initial one-time entrance fee based on a formula derived by the Executive Committee 
must be paid to establish equity and ensure the set-up and administration of services for 
the municipality. 


 
Fees 


 
5.9 Annual Membership Fees charged to member municipalities will be in accordance with 


the requisition formula(s) prescribed by the Executive Committee. 
 


6b 
Page 13 of 51


Page 51 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 4 of 8 
 


5.10 Fee for Service charges to member municipal and non-member clients will be in 
accordance with the rates prescribed by the Executive Committee. 


 
5.11 Subdivision Application Fees charged will be in accordance with the rates prescribed by 


the Executive Committee. 
 


5.12 Geographical Information System (GIS) Membership Fees charged to participating 
member municipalities and to non-member clients will be in accordance with the rates 
prescribed by the Executive Committee. 


 
5.13 Regional Assessment Review Board Fees charged to participating member municipalities 


will be in accordance with the rates prescribed by the Executive Committee. 
 


Members Withdrawing 
 


5.14 Any municipality withdrawing from membership in the Commission in accordance with 
the standard contract/agreement shall be provided with the following materials and 
information only: 
• Digital copy of current land use bylaw and statutory plans 
• Digital copy of current land use bylaw maps and statutory plan maps 
• Original subdivision files (after the files have been digitized for Commission records) 


 
5.15 A document acknowledging receipt of the materials noted above shall be signed by a 


municipal representative. 
 


5.16 An amendment to the membership requires notification to the Minister of Municipal 
Affairs. 


 
Dissolution of the Regional Services Commission 


 
5.17 At such time as the Board votes to dissolve the Oldman River Regional Services 


Commission, the assets of the Commission shall be liquidated and distributed to the 
municipalities that are members at the time of dissolution. 


 
5.18 Assets will be distributed by: 


• Satisfying or retiring any outstanding liabilities that may exist, and 
• The remaining assets will be divided among the current member municipalities based 


on a percentage equal to the percentage of total annual membership fee 
contributions made by each member. The total annual membership fee contributions 
will be calculated from the date the municipality became a member starting from the 
year 1995. 


 
 
 
 
 
 


6b 
Page 14 of 51


Page 52 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 5 of 8 
 


6. CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 
 


General 
 


6.1 The CAO is authorized to represent the Commission at any proceeding, hearing or other 
meeting. 


 
6.2 The CAO may refer items to any of the Commission’s committees for their consideration 


and recommendation to the Board. 
 


6.3 The CAO is authorized to prepare or assist in the preparation of statutory plans and land 
use bylaws when requested to do so by a member municipality. 


 
6.4 The CAO is authorized to provide such assistance and advice to a municipality as may be 


agreed upon with the member municipality. 
 


6.5 The CAO is authorized to provide assistance and advice to the province, other 
commissions, agencies and individuals. 


 
Finance 


 
6.6 The CAO is authorized to make expenditures, as set out in the budget approved by the 


Board, to apply to the current fiscal year, including incidental expenditures not specifically 
detailed in the budget. 
 


6.7 The CAO is authorized to sign contract/agreements on behalf of the Commission for the 
purchase of services and materials duly authorized. 


 
6.8 The CAO shall be responsible for: 


• The keeping of proper records of the transactions of the Commission, 
• The keeping of accounts of the Commission revenues and expenditures, 
• The preparation of annual financial statements of the Commission, and 
• The preparation of an annual report outlining the Commissions activities of the 


preceding fiscal year. 
 


6.9 The CAO is authorized to approve disposal of any and all assets, of original purchase value 
of $5,000 and less, deemed to be beyond economical repair, obsolete, or surplus to the 
needs of the Commission. 


 
6.10 The CAO can sign a cheque for a value not to exceed $1,000.00 without the signature of 


the Chair or Vice-Chair or designate. 
 


Personnel 
 


6.11 The CAO is authorized to appoint all personnel pursuant to the functional staff chart, staff 
complement, class numbers and class titles, pay grids and pay ranges authorized by the 
Executive Committee. 


6b 
Page 15 of 51


Page 53 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 6 of 8 
 


6.12 The CAO is authorized to employ temporary personnel within the limits of the operating 
budget. 


 
6.13 The CAO is authorized to employ legal counsel or other consultants within the framework 


of the approved budget. 
 


6.14 The CAO is authorized to organize the staff, within the approved staff complement and 
within the functional structure approved by the Executive Committee, to meet the 
objectives of the Commission’s budget, work program and principal duties. In organizing 
the staff, the CAO shall use their discretion and discuss matters of significance with the 
Executive Committee. 


 
6.15 The CAO is authorized to plan, organize and direct the activities of staff, legal counsel and 


other consultants as may be employed, to achieve the intent of the annual work program 
and to fulfill the functions of the Commission. 


 
6.16 The CAO is authorized to recommend detailed renumeration and personnel practices to 


the Executive Committee to apply to staff. 
 
6.17 The CAO is authorized to suspend or dismiss staff in accordance with policies established 


by the Executive Committee. 
 


6.18 The CAO is authorized to reclassify, change job description, or change the pay of staff in 
accordance with policies established by the Executive Committee. 


 
Signing Authority 


 
6.19 The CAO is authorized to affix a signature to documents required to bear the 


endorsement of the Commission in the administrative execution of its decisions and 
contractual arrangements. 


 
6.20 The CAO is authorized to certify copies of all orders, decisions, approvals, notices, or other 


things made, given or issued by the Commission. 
 


6.21 The CAO may designate, subject to ratification by the Executive Committee, one or more 
members of their staff to act in the capacity of CAO to co-sign cheques. 


 
6.22 The CAO or other staff authorized by the Executive Committee may endorse documents 


related to contractual arrangements with respect to subdivision processing and approval. 
 


Delegation 
 


6.23 The CAO is authorized to delegate all or some of their responsibilities but shall remain 
responsible to the Board and the Executive Committee for the overall performance of 
these duties. 


 
 
 


6b 
Page 16 of 51


Page 54 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 7 of 8 
 


Advisory Powers and Duties – General 
 


6.24 The CAO may discuss planning matters with the Board and its Committees and advises 
them: 
• With respect to such policies and guidelines as are required to assist them in 


carrying out their duties, and 
• On matters before them for decision. 


 
6.25 The CAO advises the Executive Committee where legal action may be required. 


 
6.26 The CAO advises the Executive Committee on matters of principle and policy affecting 


Commission operations. 
 


Advisory Powers and Duties – Financial 
 


6.27 The CAO reviews and recommends to the Executive Committee the details of the annual 
budget estimates and work plan.  


 
6.28 The CAO recommends to the Executive Committee, as may be felt necessary by passage 


of time and events, the deference of the purchase of items set out in the budget and the 
purchase of other items substituted in their place. 


 
6.29 The CAO recommends to the Executive Committee the purchase of unbudgeted items as 


required. 
 


6.30 The CAO recommends to the Executive Committee proposals for office accommodation 
for the Commission. 


 
6.31 The CAO recommends to the Executive Committee the transfer of moneys from one 


budget account to another, if required. 
 


Advisory Powers and Duties – Personnel 
 


6.32 The CAO recommends to the Executive Committee a staff complement, a staff structure, 
an assignment of pay grades to job classifications, pay grids, pay ranges, a program of 
fringe benefits, and personnel policies that should apply to staff of the Commission. 


 
6.33 The CAO recommends to the Executive Committee overall policy with respect to 


personnel and renumeration principles that should apply to Commission staff.  
 
 
7. AMENDMENTS 


 
7.1 Notification of alteration, amendment, or repeal of this bylaw shall be provided to 


Directors and Members of the Commission on file with the Executive Assistant 30 
calendar days prior to such action being adopted by the Board of Directors. The 
designated representative for Members specifically for such notices shall be the Chief 
Administrative Officer of the Member. 


6b 
Page 17 of 51


Page 55 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-02 
Administrative Bylaw  Page 8 of 8 
 


 
7.2 In accordance with 602.09 of the Municipal Government Act, a bylaw to amend this bylaw 


does not come into force until the bylaw is passed by a majority of the Board of Directors. 
 


8.  ENACTMENT 
 


 8.1  This Bylaw shall come into force and have effect upon third and final reading. 


 


 


Read a first time this    day of    , 2021.  


 


Read a second time this    day of    , 2021.  


 


Read a third and finally passed this    day of    , 2021.  


 


 


              


Chair – Gordon Wolstenholm    Chief Administrative Officer – Lenze Kuiper 


 


6b 
Page 18 of 51


Page 56 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 1 of 9 
 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 


BYLAW NO. 2021-03 
 


BEING a bylaw respecting the procedures of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. 
 
WHEREAS the Oldman River Regional Services Commission has been declared a “continued commission” 
pursuant to Section 602.47 of the Municipal Government Act and by Ministerial Order No. MSD:072/20, 
known as the Regional Services Commissions Order, signed by the Minister of Municipal Affairs, and 
coming into effect on September 1, 2020; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Part 15.1, Section 602.09 (1)(c) of the Municipal Government Act, the Oldman 
River Regional Services Commission must pass a bylaw respecting the administration of the Oldman River 
Regional Services Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS Bylaw No. 2013-1 and Bylaw No. 2013-2 were adopted, and the Board now wishes to repeal 
those bylaws, and replace it with Bylaw 2021-01, Bylaw 2021-02 and Bylaw 2021-03.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission hereby 
enacts the following: 


Mission Statement 


The Oldman River Regional Services Commission will provide professional municipal planning, 
geographical information system (GIS) and regional assessment review board services and advice to our 
municipal members and their citizens in a professional manner befitting a non-profit entity. 


1. TITLE 
 
1.1 This bylaw may be cited as the “Procedural Bylaw”. 


 
2.  DEFINITIONS 


 
2.1  For the purpose of this Bylaw, the following are defined as: 


 
a. Act means the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A 2000, c. M-26. 
b. Board means the Board of Directors of the Commission. 
c. Chief Administrative Officer means the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) for the 


Oldman River Regional Services Commission. 
d. Chair means the chairperson of the Board and the Executive Committee. 
e. Commission means the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. 
f. Director means a person appointed to the Board of Directors of the Commission 


in accordance with this Bylaw. 
g. Member or Members mean the member municipalities, as set out in ORRSC 


Bylaw 2021-02. 


 


3. APPLICATION 


6b 
Page 19 of 51


Page 57 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 2 of 9 
 


 
3.1 This Bylaw applies to all members and employees of the Oldman River Regional Services 


Commission. 
 


4. REPEAL 
 
4.1 Bylaw No. 2013-1 and Bylaw No. 2013-2 are repealed and replaced by this Bylaw. 


 
5. INTRODUCTION AND APPLICABILITY 


Introduction 


5.1 This Regional Services Commission continuing operations under Part 15.1 of the 
Municipal Government Act and through Ministerial Order will be called the Oldman River 
Regional Services Commission (ORRSC). 
 


Compliance with ALSA Regional Plan 


5.2 In carrying out its functions and in exercising its jurisdiction under the Municipal 
Government Act and other enactments, the Commission must act in accordance with any 
applicable ALSA Regional Plan. 
 


6.  RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR MEETINGS 
 
6.1 Where a particular situation arises with respect to meetings and is not addressed in these 


rules of procedure, then Roberts Rules of Order will apply. 
 


6.2 Sections 197 and 199 of the Municipal Government Act apply to meetings of the 
Commission. 


 


Date and Time of Meetings 


6.3 The regular meeting of the Board of Directors will generally be held on the first Thursday 
of the month, four times per year (March, June, September, December), or at the call of 
the Commission Chair. 
 


6.4 The Executive Committee shall meet on the second Thursday of every month, or on other 
dates agreed to by the committee, or at the call of the Commission Chair. 


 
6.5 Any member of the Executive Committee may, with a simple majority of the Executive 


committee, require the Chair to call a special meeting within seven days for purposes of 
dealing with matters requiring immediate attention. 


 
6.6 The Annual General Meeting takes place between April 1st and July 1st at the call of the 


Commission Chair. 
 
6.7 The Annual Organizational Meeting shall take place no later than December 31st of any 


calendar year. 


6b 
Page 20 of 51


Page 58 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 3 of 9 
 


 
6.8 Special Meetings of the Board of Directors are held on dates agreed to by the members, 


or at the call of the Commission Chair. 
 
6.9 Public Hearings are held at the call of the Commission Chair, or on dates agreed to by the 


Board. 
 
6.10 Specific dates of meetings may be varied with the agreement of members of the Executive 


Committee. 
 
Notice of Meetings  


 
6.11 For all Board of Directors’ meetings, a notice of intention to hold a meeting or an agenda 


shall be sent to all board members and each member municipality at least one week 
before any meeting is held. 
 


6.12 For all regular and special Commission meetings other than the Board of Directors’ 
meetings, a notice of intention to hold a meeting or an agenda shall be sent to the 
appropriate Board members before any meeting is held. 


 
Attendance and Participation at Meetings 
 
6.13 All members of the board may attend, as observers, meetings of the Commission’s 


committees to which they have not been appointed; attendance at the Executive 
Committee meetings shall be at the invitation of the Committee.  
 


6.14 A Committee may permit the attendance, as observers, at a meeting of the Committee, 
of any persons having an interest in the proceedings before the Committee. No observers 
shall be permitted to participate in the meeting except as agreed to by the Committee. 


 
6.15 Board meetings are public meetings. Members of the public may attend as observers but 


shall not be permitted to participate in the meeting except as agreed to by the Board. 
 
6.16 Members of the Executive Committee should inform Commission staff at least 24 hours 


in advance if they are unable to attend an Executive Committee meeting. 
 
Quorum 
 
6.17 Quorums for meetings shall be as follows: 


• Board of Directors - members present at meeting 
• Executive Committee - 4 members 
• Other Committees - 50% of the members 


 
6.18 The Chair shall not begin the meeting until a quorum is present, and no business can be 


transacted. 
6.19 Whenever during a meeting a quorum is lost, the meeting must be adjourned. 
 


6b 
Page 21 of 51


Page 59 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 4 of 9 
 


Votes at Meetings 
 
6.20 At meetings, each member is entitled to a single vote. 


 
6.21 Each member, or in the absence of the member, the appointed alternate member in 


attendance at the Commission Board meetings to which the member has been appointed, 
is eligible to vote on any matter before the meeting. 


 
6.22 Non-Board members and technical advisors appointed to Committees are not eligible to 


vote on any matter before the meeting. 
 
6.23 A simple majority vote on a motion will constitute an approval of the resolution. 
 
6.24 A tie vote on a motion constitutes a defeat of the motion. 
 
6.25 All members present at a meeting with the right to vote must vote, including the Chair. 
 
Order of Business 
 
6.26 The order of business for meetings of the Commission shall be the order of items 


contained on the agenda for that meeting, except where the majority of the members 
vote to alter the order. 


 
Debate on Motion 
 
6.27 All decisions by the Board or any Committee will be done in the form of a resolution to be 


voted on. 
 


6.28 Where the chair leaves the meeting, for any reason, the Chair may not take back control 
of the meeting until the item under discussion is complete or a vote taken. If the Chair 
wishes to speak to a motion, they must vacate the position. 


 
Notice of Motion 
 
6.29 A member may give notice that they intend to introduce a motion at a future meeting 


and advise members to be prepared to discuss the item. 
 
Points of Order and Question of Privilege or Information 
 
6.30 If a member wishes to raise a point of information, or order, or question of privilege, the 


member when recognized by the Chair shall briefly explain the grounds for the point. The 
Chair shall decide the appropriate action to be taken. 


 
 
 
Person Called to Order 
 


6b 
Page 22 of 51


Page 60 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 5 of 9 
 


6.31 When a person is called to order by the Chair, the member shall immediately cease 
speaking and shall not speak further unless and until recognized by the Chair. 


 
Reading of Motion 
 
6.32 Any member may request the question or motion under discussion, or any portion 


thereof, to be read at any time during debate or before the vote is taken, but shall not 
interrupt a person while speaking. 
 


Suspension of Rules 
 
6.33 If it is deemed to be in the best interest of the Board or Committee, a motion may be 


passed by two-thirds majority vote, to temporarily suspend these rules for a definite 
purpose, which must be contained in the motion; or if no one objects, these rules at time 
may be departed from without the formality of a motion. 


 
7.  PROFIT AND SURPLUSES 


 
7.1 The commission may not:  


• operate for the purposes of making a profit, or  
• distribute any of its surpluses to its members. 


 
8.  FINANCIAL MATTERS 


 
 Financial Year 


8.1  The financial year of the commission is the calendar year. 


 Operating budget 


8.2  The Commission must adopt an operating budget for each calendar year. 
 


8.3  An operating budget must include the estimated amount of each of the following 
 expenditures and transfers: 


• the amount needed to enable the Commission to provide its services. 
• the amount needed to pay the debt obligations in respect of borrowings made to 


acquire, construct, remove or improve capital property. 
• the amount to be transferred to reserves. 
• the amount to be transferred to the capital budget. 
• the amount needed to recover any shortfall. 


 
8.4  An operating budget must include the estimated amount of each of the following sources 


 of revenue and transfers: 
• fees for services provided. 
• grants. 
• transfers from the Commission’s accumulated surplus funds or reserves. 
• any other source of revenue. 


 


6b 
Page 23 of 51


Page 61 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 6 of 9 
 


8.5  The estimated revenue and transfers under subsection 8.4 must be at least sufficient to 
 pay the estimated expenditures and transfers under subsection 8.3. 


Financial shortfall 


8.6   Subject to subsection 8.3, section 244 of the Municipal Government Act applies to a 
 commission. 
 


8.7  Notwithstanding section 244, for the purposes of this Part, a reference in section 244 to 
 a municipality shall be read as a reference to a commission. 


 Capital Budget 


8.8  Subject to subsection 8.3, sections 245 and 246 of the Municipal Government Act apply 
 to a commission. 
 


8.9  Notwithstanding sections 245 and 246, for the purposes of this Part, a reference in 
 section 245 to each council shall be read as a reference to each Board. 


Expenditure of Money 


8.10 A commission may make an expenditure only if it is: 
• included in the commission’s operating budget or capital budget or otherwise 


authorized by its board, 
• for an emergency, or 
• legally required to be paid.  


 
8.11 The Executive Committee is authorized to defer purchase of items set out in the budget, 


 as deemed necessary. 
 


8.12 The Executive Committee is authorized to approve funds in excess of the approved budget 
for an individual budget account and individual unbudgeted expenditures from surpluses 
which may be reasonably anticipated from the Commission’s operating budget. 


Annual budget 


8.13 The commission will adopt an annual budget in a format that is consistent with its 
financial statements. 
 


8.14 The adoption of an annual budget is equivalent to the adoption of an operating budget 
under section 602.23 or the adoption of a capital budget under section 602.25 of the 
Municipal Government Act. 


Civil Liability of Directors re Expenditure 


8.15 A director of the Commission who 
• makes an expenditure that is not authorized under section 8.10, 
• votes to spend money that has been obtained under a borrowing on something that 


is not within the purpose for which the money was borrowed, or 


6b 
Page 24 of 51


Page 62 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 7 of 9 
 


• votes to spend money that has been obtained under a grant on something that is not 
within the purpose for which the grant was given is liable to the Commission for the 
expenditure or amount spent. 
 


8.16 If more than one director of the board is liable to the Commission under this section in 
respect of a particular expenditure or amount spent, the directors are jointly and severally 
liable to the Commission for the expenditure or amount spent.  
 


8.17 The liability under this section may be enforced by action by: 
• the Commission, 
• a member of the Commission, 
• a taxpayer of a member of the Commission, or 
• a person who holds a security under a borrowing made by the Commission. 


Authorized Investments 


8.18 A commission may invest its money only in the investments referred to in section 
250(2)(a) to (d) of the Municipal Government Act. 


Use of Borrowed Money 


8.19 Subject to subsection (2), section 253 of the Municipal Government Act applies to the 
Commission. 


Borrowing 


8.20 The Commission may not make a borrowing if the borrowing will cause the Commission 
to exceed its debt limit unless the borrowing is approved by the Minister. 


Debt Limit Regulations 


8.21 The Minister may make regulations: 
• respecting how a debt limit for the Commission is determined. 
• defining debt for the purposes of determining whether the Commission has exceeded 


its debt limit, and the definition may include anything related to a Commission’s 
finances. 
 


8.22 The regulations made under this section may establish different methods of determining 
debt limits and different definitions of debt for different commissions. 


Civil Liability of Directors Regarding Borrowing 


8.23 When the Commission makes a borrowing that causes the Commission to exceed its debt 
limit, a director of the board who voted to authorize the borrowing is liable to the 
Commission for the amount borrowed, unless the borrowing has been approved by the 
Minister. 
 


8.24 If subsection 8.23 applies to more than one director of the board, the directors are jointly 
and severally liable to the commission for the amount borrowed. 


 


 


6b 
Page 25 of 51


Page 63 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 8 of 9 
 


8.25 The liability under this section may be enforced by action by 
• the Commission, 
• a member of the Commission, 
• a taxpayer of a member of the Commission, or 
• a person who holds a security under a borrowing made by the Commission. 


Loans and Guarantees 


8.26 The Commission may not lend money or guarantee the repayment of a loan. 


Financial Information Return 


8.27 The Commission must prepare a financial information return respecting the financial 
affairs of the Commission for the immediately preceding calendar year. 
 


8.28 The Minister may establish requirements respecting the financial information return, 
including requirements respecting the accounting principles and standards to be used in 
preparing the return. 


Audited Financial Statements 


8.29 The commission must prepare audited annual financial statements for the immediately 
preceding calendar year. 


Distribution of Returns and Statements 


8.30 The Commission must submit its financial information return and audited annual financial 
statements to the Minister and each member of the Commission by May 1 of the year 
following the year for which the return and statements have been prepared. 
 


9. AMENDMENTS 
 
9.1 Notification of alteration, amendment, or repeal of this bylaw shall be provided to 


Directors and Members of the Commission on file with the Executive Assistant 30 
calendar days prior to such action being adopted by the Board of Directors. The 
designated representative for Members specifically for such notices shall be the Chief 
Administrative Officer of the Member. 
 


9.2 In accordance with 602.09 of the Municipal Government Act, a bylaw to amend this bylaw 
does not come into force until the bylaw is passed by a majority of the Board of Directors. 


 
10.  ENACTMENT 
 


 10.1  This Bylaw shall come into force and have effect upon third and final reading. 


 


 


Read a first time this    day of    , 2021.  


6b 
Page 26 of 51


Page 64 of 94







Bylaw No. 2021-03 
Procedural Bylaw  Page 9 of 9 
 


 


Read a second time this    day of    , 2021.  


 


Read a third and finally passed this    day of    , 2021.  


 


 


              


Chair – Gordon Wolstenholm    Chief Administrative Officer – Lenze Kuiper 


 
 


6b 
Page 27 of 51


Page 65 of 94







6b 
Page 28 of 51


Page 66 of 94







Bylaw 2021-05 
Code of Conduct for Board of Directors Bylaw   Page 1 of 5 
 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 


BYLAW NO. 2021-04 
 
BEING a bylaw of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission, to establish a code of conduct for 
members of the Board of Directors.  
 
WHEREAS the Oldman River Regional Services Commission has been declared a “continued commission” 
pursuant to Section 602.47 of the Municipal Government Act and by Ministerial Order No. MSD:072/20, 
known as the Regional Services Commissions Order, signed by the Minister of Municipal Affairs and 
coming into effect on September 1, 2020, and  
 
WHEREAS under the Municipal Government Act Municipalities must establish a code of conduct bylaw 
that governs the conduct of councillors; and 
 
WHEREAS the Oldman River Regional Services Commission is its own entity and operates as a quasi 
municipality; and  
 
WHEREAS the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission are councillors 
appointed by their municipalities to represent both its council and its citizens; and 
 
WHEREAS the establishment of a code of conduct for the Board of Directors ensures all members of the 
Board of Directors share a common understanding of acceptable conduct.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission hereby 
enacts the following: 
 
1. TITLE 


 
1.1 This bylaw may be cited as the “Code of Conduct for Board of Directors Bylaw”. 


 
2. DEFINITIONS 


 
2.1 For the purpose of this Bylaw, the following are defined as: 
 


a. Act means the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, c. M-26.  
b. Board means the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services 


Commission.  
c. Chief Administrative Officer means the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) for the 


Oldman River Regional Services Commission.  
d. Commission means the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. 
e. Directors means a Board of Director member for the Oldman River Regional 


Services Commission. 
f. Fiduciary duty means the obligation of the appointed Board of Director to the 


Oldman River Regional Services Commission.  
 
 
 


6b 
Page 29 of 51


Page 67 of 94







Bylaw 2021-05 
Code of Conduct for Board of Directors Bylaw   Page 2 of 5 
 


3. PURPOSE AND APPLICATION 
 


3.1 The purpose of this Bylaw is to establish standards for the conduct of the Board of 
Directors relating to their roles and obligations and to provide a procedure for the 
investigation and enforcement of those standards. 


 
4. REPRESENTING THE COMMISSION 


 
4.1  Directors shall: 


 
a. Conduct themselves in a professional manner with dignity and make every effort 


to actively participate in the meetings of the Commission. 
 
5. FIDUCIARY DUTY 
 


5.1 Directors shall: 
 


a. Act in the best interest of the Commission; 
b. Not favour the interests of their municipality should the Commission’s interests 


differ from their municipality’s; 
c. Not disclose confidential information regarding the Commission; and 
d. Not disclose information regarding the Commission, as is discussed by their 


municipality, that is relevant to the Commission.  
 
6. COMMUNICATING ON BEHALF OF THE OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 


6.1 Directors shall: 
 
a. Act as a liaison between the Commission and their municipality, ensuring that 


relevant information is communicated with Council and Administration. 
 


7. RESPECTING THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS 
 


7.1 Directors shall: 
 


a. Respect the decision of the Board of Directors, as they are the decision-making 
authority, and adhere to said decisions; 


b. Communicate decisions of the Board to their Council and Administration, even if 
they disagree with the decision, or if the decision does not benefit their 
municipality.  


8. ADHERENCE TO POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND BYLAWS 
 


8.1 Directors shall: 
 


a. Adhere to any policies, procedures and bylaws of the Commission; 
b. Communicate any policies, procedures and bylaws of the Commission to their 


Council and Administration, where appropriate; and 


6b 
Page 30 of 51


Page 68 of 94







Bylaw 2021-05 
Code of Conduct for Board of Directors Bylaw   Page 3 of 5 
 


c. Promote any policies, procedures and bylaws of the Commission, where 
appropriate.  


 
9. RESPECTFUL INTERACTIONS 


 
9.1 Directors shall: 


 
a. Act in a manner that demonstrates professionalism, fairness, respect for 


individual differences and opinions, and with intention to work together for the 
common good; 


b. Treat one another, employees of the Commission and members of the public with 
courtesy, dignity and respect and without abuse, bullying and intimidation;  


c. Not use indecent, abusive or insulting words or expressions toward another 
Director, any employee of the Commission or any member of the public; 


d. Not speak in a manner that is discriminatory to any individual based on race, 
religion, colour, gender, physical disability, mental disability, age, ancestry, place 
of origin, marital status, source of income, family status or sexual preference; 


e. Acknowledge the fact that employees of the Commission work for the 
Commission as a corporate body and are responsible for making 
recommendations that reflect their professional expertise and are required to do 
so without undue influence or interference from any Director or group of 
Directors; 


f. Not involve themselves with matters of Administration, which fall under the 
jurisdiction of the CAO; 


g. Not use or attempt to use their authority or influence for the purpose of 
intimidating, threatening, coercing, commanding or influencing any employee of 
the Commission with the intent of interfering with the employee’s duties; and 


h. Not maliciously or falsely injure the profession or ethical reputation or the 
prospects or practice of employees of the Commission.  


 
10. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 


 
10.1 Directors shall: 


 
a. Keep confidential matters discussed in private at a Board of Directors Meeting or 


an Executive Committee Meeting until the matter becomes public knowledge; 
and 


b. Refrain from disclosing or releasing any confidential information acquired by 
virtue of their position except when required by law or authorized by the Board 
to do so.  


 
11. ORIENTATION  


 
11.1 Directors shall: 


 
a. If unfamiliar with the Commission, within three (3) months of being appointed to 


the Board, arrange with the CAO for an orientation.  
 


6b 
Page 31 of 51


Page 69 of 94







Bylaw 2021-05 
Code of Conduct for Board of Directors Bylaw   Page 4 of 5 
 


12. COMPLAINT PROCESS 
 


12.1 Any Director who has identified or witnessed conduct by another Director that is believed 
to be in contravention of this Bylaw may file a complaint with the CAO.  


 
12.2 If the contravention is by the CAO, the Director may file a complaint with the Chairman 


of the Board.  
 
12.3 All complaints must be in writing, and contain detailed grounds for the contravention.  
 
 


13. COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT  
 


13.1 Directors are encouraged to uphold the letter and the spirit and intent of this bylaw.  
 
13.2 Directors are expected to cooperate in every way possible in securing compliant with 
 the enforcement of this bylaw.  
 
13.3 Sanctions imposed on a Director found to have breached this bylaw may include: 
 


a. A letter of reprimand addressed to the Director; 
b. A request for a letter of apology by the Director; 
c. Suspension or reduction of any renumeration allotted to the Director; and/or 
d. Suspension or removal from the Board.  


 
14. REVIEW OF THE BYLAW 
 


14.1 This bylaw will be reviewed during the first Annual General Meeting of the Board 
 following a municipal election.  


 
15. AMENDMENTS 


 
15.1 Notification of alteration, amendment, or repeal of this bylaw shall be provided to 


Directors and Members of the Commission on file with the Executive Assistant 30 
calendar days prior to such action being adopted by the Board of Directors. The 
designated representative for Members specifically for such notices shall be the Chief 
Administrative Officer of the Member. 
 


15.2 In Accordance with 602.09 of the Municipal Government Act, a bylaw to amend this bylaw 
does not come into force until the bylaw is passed by a majority of the Board of Directors. 


 
16.  ENACTMENT 
 
 16.1  This Bylaw shall come into force and have effect upon third and final reading. 
 
 
 


6b 
Page 32 of 51


Page 70 of 94







Bylaw 2021-05 
Code of Conduct for Board of Directors Bylaw   Page 5 of 5 
 


Read a first time this    day of    , 2021.  
 
Read a second time this    day of    , 2021.  
 
Read a third and finally passed this    day of    , 2021.  
 
 
              
Chair – Gordon Wolstenholm    Chief Administrative Officer – Lenze Kuiper 
 


6b 
Page 33 of 51


Page 71 of 94







6b 
Page 34 of 51


Page 72 of 94







OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION 
 


BYLAW NO. 2021-05 
 
BEING a bylaw of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission, for the purpose of establishing 
document retention guidelines.  
 
WHEREAS the Oldman River Regional Services Commission has been declared a “continued commission” 
pursuant to Section 602.47 of the Municipal Government Act and by Ministerial Order No. MSD:072/20, 
known as the Regional Services Commissions Order, signed by the Minister of Municipal Affairs, and 
coming into effect on September 1, 2020; and  
 
WHEREAS the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission wishes to ensure 
good record management practices are developed; and 
 
WHEREAS the Oldman River Regional Services Commission retains vital current and historical records 
relating to their Member Municipalities, past and present; and  
 
WHEREAS the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission desires to provide 
for regulations with respect to the retention and disposal of said documents including, but not limited to, 
bylaws, maps, plans, studies, correspondence, and other records. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services Commission hereby 
enacts the following: 
 
1. TITLE 


 
1.1 This bylaw may be cited as the “Document Retention Bylaw”. 


 
2. DEFINITIONS 


 
2.1 For the purpose of this Bylaw, the following are defined as: 
 


a. Act means the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, c. M-26.  
b. Board means the Board of Directors for the Oldman River Regional Services 


Commission.  
c. Chief Administrative Officer means the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) for the 


Oldman River Regional Services Commission.  
d. Commission means the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. 
e. Record(s) means any documents in any form and includes, books, documents, 


electronic storage, maps, drawings, photographs, letters, vouchers, papers, 
plans, bylaws and any other information that is written, photographed, recorded 
or stored in any matter.  


 
3. RECORDS RETENTION AND DISPOSITION SCHEDULE 
 


3.1 Attached to, and forming part of this Bylaw is Schedule A, “Municipal Affairs – Retention 
and Scheduling of Municipal Record” which will establish the minimum standards to be 
adhered to. 


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 1 of 17


6b 
Page 35 of 51


Page 73 of 94







4. CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER DISCRETION FOR RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION 
 


4.1 Notwithstanding section 3.1, the Board authorizes the CAO to have discretion to retain 
records longer than indicated within Schedule A as deemed appropriate.  
 


4.2 The CAO deems it appropriate to alter Schedule A, for the following records: 
 


Annual Report     Permanent 
Applications: 
 Site Plans Approvals   Permanent 
 Subdivision (after final approval) Permanent 
  
Assessment Appeal 
 Board Files    Permanent 
Contracts  
 Files     Permanent 
 Forms     Permanent 
 Major Legal    Permanent 
 Minor Legal    Permanent 
Court Cases     Permanent 
Documents 
 Agreements Major Legal  Permanent 
 Agreements Minor Legal  Permanent 
 Contracts Legal    Permanent 
 Easements    Permanent 
 Leases (after expiration)  Permanent 
 Notices of Changes of Land Titles Permanent 
Employees 
 Personnel File    Permanent 
Leases      Permanent 
Legislation 
 Acts     Permanent 
Permits 
 Development    Permanent 
Subdivision 
 After Final Approval   Permanent 


5. AMENDMENTS 
 
5.1 Notification of alteration, amendment, or repeal of this bylaw shall be provided to 


Directors and Members of the Commission on file with the Executive Assistant 30 
calendar days prior to such action being adopted by the Board of Directors. The 


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 2 of 17


6b 
Page 36 of 51


Page 74 of 94







designated representative for Members specifically for such notices shall be the Chief 
Administrative Officer of the Member. 
 


5.2 In Accordance with 602.09 of the Municipal Government Act, a bylaw to amend this bylaw 
does not come into force until the bylaw is passed by a majority of the Board of Directors. 


 
6. ENACTMENT 
 


6.1 This Bylaw shall come into force and have effect upon third and final reading.  
 
 
Read a first time this    day of    , 2021.  
 
Read a second time this    day of    , 2021.  
 
Read a third and finally passed this    day of    , 2021.  
 
 
              
Chair – Gordon Wolstenholm    Chief Administrative Officer – Lenze Kuiper 


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 3 of 17


6b 
Page 37 of 51


Page 75 of 94







Revised October 2014 


Municipal Affairs 


Retention and Scheduling 


of Municipal Records 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 4 of 17


6b 
Page 38 of 51


Page 76 of 94







Capacity Building, Municipal Services Branch 
Hiring a Chief Administrative Officer 
Alberta Municipal Affairs  
©2014 Government of Alberta  
www.municipalaffairs.alberta.ca  


Print Version ISBN No.: ISBN 978-1-4601-2036-1  
Electronic (PDF) Version ISBN No.: ISBN 978-1-4601-2037-8 


Printed in Canada 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 5 of 17


6b 
Page 39 of 51


Page 77 of 94







1 


In section 214 of the Municipal Government Act (MGA) there is provision for a 
council to pass a bylaw regarding the destruction of records and documents in the 
municipality.  Therefore, some guidelines need to be established for a suggested 
retention schedule for the disposition of a number of municipal records. 


Generally, there are four reasons for retaining records: 


Administrative value – Records have value to the municipality if they assist in the 
performance of current or future activities.  Normally these records lose their value 
shortly after completion of their activity and therefore few would be retained.  An 
example would be a routine response to an inquiry for information on the date of a 
council meeting. 


Legal value – The value of these types of documents usually does not diminish over 
a period of time.  These documents are usually required by legislation.  Bylaws, 
minutes, and land transactions are examples of this type.  Your lawyer can assist you 
in determining legal value. 


Fiscal value – These records relate to financial transactions, such as, financial 
ledgers, debenture records, audit files, budget files, expenditure files, etc. 


Research/Historical value – Records that may contain information on persons, 
places, and events as they relate to major milestones, history, or development of the 
municipality and its citizens.  These documents are often transferred to the public 
archives for long-term retention.  The 50th anniversary celebration documents 
would be an example. 


The records authorized for closure should be identified as: 


 File closed after calendar year ending December 31 (Calendar year–CY)
 File closed after information is superseded (replaced or take the place of) or


obsolete (no longer in use) (S/O)


The records for final disposition can be identified as: 


 Destroy (D)
 Archives (A)
 Review (R)
 Transfer (T) (to another entity/jurisdiction/agency)


All records authorized for disposition should be physically destroyed in the 
presence of a witness.  A written statement, attesting to which records were 
destroyed should be signed by the official and the witness and retained on file as a 
permanent record. 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 6 of 17


6b 
Page 40 of 51


Page 78 of 94







2 


You may have material that you wish to donate to the Provincial Archives of 
Alberta.  The proper authority should be obtained, the material listed, and the listing 
and covering letter retained on file.   


You can contact the Provincial Archives of Alberta at 8555 – Roper Road, Edmonton, 
Alberta T6E 5W1 or by phone at (780) 427-1750, toll-free in Alberta by dialing 310-
0000 first.   


Should you have a quantity of records and are unsure of their research or historic 
value, the Private Records section of the Provincial Archives will agree to view the 
records and arrange for the donation of the records if of archival value.  There is no 
charge for this service. 


If you are required to reactivate documents that have already been scheduled for 
closure or final disposition, it is suggested that reactivated documents should be 
kept for the original retention period from the date they were reactivated.  This 
suggestion is due to court rulings. 


Records and the Limitations Act 


Municipalities should ensure the Limitations Act, Chapter L-12 is reviewed before 
implementing a records retention bylaw and disposition schedule. 


Specifically, section 3(1)(b) of the Limitations Act, states that subject to section 11, if 
a claimant does not seek a remedial order within 10 years after the claim arose, 
whichever period expires first, the defendant, on pleading this Act as a defence, is 
entitled to immunity from liability in respect of the claim.   


And; section 11 states that if, within 10 years after the claim arose, a claimant does 
not seek a remedial order in respect of a claim based on a judgment or order for the 
payment of money, the defendant, on pleading this Act as a defence, is entitled to 
immunity from liability in respect of the claim. 


Records and the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 


Under section 3(e)(ii) of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 
(FOIP Act), regulation of records management in local public bodies (municipalities) 
must be by bylaw or resolution, as authorized by the governing body of the 
municipality.  Municipalities should ensure that the FOIP Act is reviewed before 
implementing a records retention bylaw and disposition schedule. 


Individuals can request, and have a right to access, any record in the custody or 
under the control of a municipality.  This right does not extend to information 
excepted from disclosure, (i.e. the Act allows municipalities to withhold certain 
information).  If the information can reasonably be severed (removed or blanked 
out) of the documents, then the requester has a right of access to the remainder of 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 7 of 17


6b 
Page 41 of 51


Page 79 of 94







3 


the record.  A municipality cannot destroy records to evade a request for 
information under the FOIP Act. 
Section 95(b) of the FOIP Act states that a municipality may establish, by bylaw, a 
fee structure for copies of routinely available information.  The release of other 
information under a FOIP request must not exceed the maximum amount stipulated 
in the regulation (Alta. Reg. 186/2008).  A bylaw must be passed to either adopt the 
schedule in Reg. 186/2008 or something lesser prior to fees being assessed. 


For further information regarding records management you can access the Service 
Alberta FOIP Resources page at http://www.servicealberta.ca/foip/resources.cfm.  
Guidelines and Practices, Chapter 8: Records and Information Management, at 
http://www.servicealberta.ca/foip/documents/chapter8.pdf is a valuable resource.  
(Not all of the information within Chapter 8 applies to municipalities, however, a 
substantial amount does, other information is specific only to the Government of 
Alberta.) 


Both the FOIP Act and the FOIP Regulation can be obtained from the Alberta Queen’s 
Printer at http://www.qp.alberta.ca/. 


A “Record” is defined as a record of information in any form and includes books, 
documents, maps, letters, papers and any other information that is written, 
recorded, photographed, or stored in any manner including electronically.  It does 
not include software or any mechanism that produces records.  Any hand written 
notes may also be accessible to the public. 


You can legally and routinely discard records that have only short-term, immediate, 
or no value to your organization that you will not need again in the future.  These 
records are called transitory records.  Transitory records can include telephone 
messages, routing slips, post-it notes, opened envelopes, memos, notes and 
messages (either paper, voice or electronic).  If the information in a record will have 
some future administrative, financial, legal, research, or historical value, then you 
should file the record. 


Electronic Records, like other records, should be identified, organized, made 
accessible, and retained as long as needed to support your municipal business.  All 
of your documents that are created by electronic means should be managed and 
identified as a “Substantive Record” (having administrative and operational 
values) or “Transitory Record”.  If it is a “Substantive Record”, create a directory and 
or sub-directory on a shared drive on the system to store you electronic records.   


There may be a need to control the deletion or change of file names and 
unauthorized access to certain records.  Ensure backup measures are in place, so 
information can be restored in case of a system crash or the system is damaged in 
some other way.  Your system may have the capability to program the retention of 
your records through a specific action to be erased automatically after a specified 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 8 of 17


6b 
Page 42 of 51


Page 80 of 94



http://www.servicealberta.ca/foip/resources.cfm

http://www.servicealberta.ca/foip/documents/chapter8.pdf

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/





4 


period of time.  You should remove personal and transitory records from your 
directories and sub-directories on a regular basis. 


Municipalities should review the types of records being retained.  The record should 
be assessed to determine if all information in the record is necessary for the 
purpose of the record.  If there is nonessential information, consideration should be 
given to reworking the type of record to avoid time severing information that may 
have been retained unnecessarily. 


The following disposition schedule is a “RECOMMENDED” criterion only.  The 
information has been gathered from various municipalities throughout Alberta and 
with the advice of the Information Management, Legislative and Administrative 


Services Unit of Municipal Affairs.   


Each municipality should determine, on an individual basis, if the criteria fits its 
requirements.  It is important that you move your records through the active, 
inactive, and obsolete/destruction cycles. 


The subject matter is listed alphabetically followed by a suggested retention period.  
The retention period is identified by a “P” (permanent retention) or expressed by a 
number of years, for example 5 (five years), or other specific comments such as 
“until superseded” or “upon replacement”, etc. 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 9 of 17


6b 
Page 43 of 51


Page 81 of 94







5 


RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 


Subject Description Suggested Retention 
Period 


In Years 


Accountants Working Papers 7 


Accounts Paid (summary sheet) 7 
Payable vouchers 7 
Receivable Duplicate 
Invoices 7 


Administration Reports (not part of 
minutes) 7 
As Per Legislation 7 


Advertising General 2 
As Per Legislation 7 


Agendas Part of Minutes P 


Agreements General 12 S/O 
Development 12 S/O 
Major Legal 12 S/O 
Minor Legal 12 S/O 


Annexations Correspondence 7 
Final Order P 


Annual Reports 5-7
Annual Reports Local Boards 5-7


Applications Site Plan approval 2
Subdivision (after final 
approval) 3
Part-time Employees 
(after end of employment) 1


Appointments Other Than Those in 
Minutes 3 


Assessment Rolls P 
Assessment Review 
Board (ARB) Minutes P 
ARB Work File 5 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 10 of 17


6b 
Page 44 of 51


Page 82 of 94







6 


Subject Description Suggested Retention 
Period 


In Years 


Appeals 12 
ARB Records 7 
Duplicate roll 7 
Review Court Records 7 


Assessment Appeal Board File 5 


Assets 20 S/O 
Records of Surplus 5 
Temporary Files 2 


Bank Deposit Books 7 
Deposit Slips 7 
Memos (Credit/Debit) 7 
Reconciliations 2 
Statements 7 


Boards Minutes P 
Authority & Structure 5 S/O 
Correspondence 5 


Briefings/Reports To Council 7 


Budgets Operating (in minutes) P 
Capital (in minutes) P 
Working Papers 3 


Bylaws All P 


Cash Receipts Journal 7 
Disbursements Journal 7 
Duplicate Receipts 7 


Certificates Of Title P 


Census Reports 12 


Cheques Cancelled (paid) 7 
Register 7 
Stubs 7 


Claims Notice of 12 S/O 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 11 of 17


6b 
Page 45 of 51


Page 83 of 94







7 


Subject Description Suggested Retention 
Period 


In Years 


Statements of 12 S/O 


Committee Minutes P 


Compensation Records 10 
Computer Cards 1 


Contracts Files (completion of) 12 S/O 
Forms 12 
Major Legal 12 S/O 
Minor Legal 12 S/O 


Council Minutes P 


Court Cases 12 S/O 


Destroyed Records Index P 


Documents Not Part of Bylaws 12 S/O 
Agreements Major Legal 12 S/O 
Agreements Minor Legal 12 S/O 
Contracts Legal 12 S/O 
Easements 12 S/O 
Leases (after expiration) 12 S/O 
Notices of Change of land 
Titles 12 S/O 


Elections Nomination Papers Sec 28(4) Local 
Authorities Election Act 


Ballot Box Contents Sec 101 Local Authorities 
Election Act 


Engineering Drawings P 


Employee Benefits A.H.C., Blue Cross, Dental, 
etc. 5 
W.C.B. Claims 4-5


Employees Job applications (hired) 3
Job Application (not 
hired) 1


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 12 of 17


6b 
Page 46 of 51


Page 84 of 94







8 


Subject Description Suggested Retention 
Period 


In Years 


Job Descriptions 3 (after position 
abolished) 


Oaths of Office 1 (after position vacated) 
Personnel File 1 (after cessation of 


employment or 6 years 
after dismissal (FYI – The 
GOA keeps any pension 


contribution information 
for 70 years.) 


Financial Statements Interim 10 
Working Papers 3 
Final 12 


Franchises P 


Income Tax Deductions 5-7
TD1 1
T4 5-7
T4 Summaries 5-7


Inquiries From the Public 3


Insurance Claims 12 (after settled) 
Records (after expiration) 12 


Land Appraisals 1 (after sold) 


Leases After Expiration 7 S/O 


Legal Opinions 12 S/O 
Proceedings 12 S/O 


Legislation Acts (after superseded) 1 


Licenses Applications 3 
Business (after expired) 5 
Literature 2 


Local Improvements Records P 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 13 of 17


6b 
Page 47 of 51


Page 85 of 94







9 


Subject Description Suggested Retention 
Period 


In Years 
Maps Base (original) P 


Contour P 


Maintenance Reports 12 


Minutes Council P 
Boards P 
Committees P 


Monthly Reports Road 5-7


Municipal Affairs Annual Reports 5


Organization Structure & Records 2-5 S/O


Payroll Garnishees 3 (after garnish is 
removed) 


Individual Earning 
Records 6 
Journal 6 
Time Cards 4-6
Time Sheets - Daily 5


- Overtime 5
- Weekly 5


Employment Insurance 
Records 


5 (after cessation of 
employment) 


Permits Development 12 S/O 


Petitions 10 


Plans Official P 
Amendments P 
Subdivision P 


Policy After Superseded 5 


Progress Reports Project 5-7
Under Contract (Final 
payment) 7-10 S/O


Property Files Until sold +10 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 14 of 17


6b 
Page 48 of 51


Page 86 of 94







10 


Subject Description Suggested Retention 
Period 


In Years 


Prosecution All 12 S/O 


Publications Local Reports 3 


Purchase Land Until Sold +12 


Receipts Books 7 
Duplicate Cash 7 
Registration 7 


Receptions & Special 
Events (non-historic) 3 


Reports Accident 12 S/O 
Accident Statistics 12 S/O 
Field 12 S/O 


Requisitions Copies 2 
Duplicate 7 
Paid 7 


Resolutions Minutes P 


Subdivision After Final Approval 12 


Street Sign Inventory Register P 


Tax Rolls P 


Tax Recovery Records P 


Taxes Arrears 7 
Final Billing 12 
Municipal Credits 7 
Receipts 7 
Rolls P 
Sale Deeds P 


Termination Employees P 


Tenders Files 12 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 15 of 17


6b 
Page 49 of 51


Page 87 of 94







11 


Subject Description Suggested Retention 
Period 


In Years 
Successful 12 
Purchase Quotations 12 
Unsuccessful 10 (FYI - The GOA keeps 


all unsuccessful tenders 
for 10 years in case of civil 


litigation.)  


Traffic Streets 7 


Training and 
Development Files 5 


Trail Balances Monthly 3 
Year End 7 


Vendors Acknowledgments To 2 
Contracts 12 
Suppliers Files 12 


Vouchers Duplicate 7 


Writs 12 


Weed Control Reports Until updated 1 


Zoning Bylaws P 
Bylaw Enforcement 5 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 16 of 17


6b 
Page 50 of 51


Page 88 of 94







1 


Resources 


Alberta Queen’s Printer, Laws Online/Catalogue 


Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 
Website:  
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/570.cfm?frm_isbn=9780779777273&search_by=link 


Alta. Reg. 186/2008 - Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Regulation 
Website:  
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/570.cfm?frm_isbn=9780779772391&search_by=link 


Limitations Act 
Website:  
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/570.cfm?frm_isbn=9780779760473&search_by=link 


Provincial Archives of Alberta 
Website:  http://culture.alberta.ca/paa/ 


Schedule A 
Bylaw No. 2021-05


Bylaw No. 2021-05 
Document Retention Bylaw


Page 17 of 17


6b 
Page 51 of 51


Page 89 of 94



http://www.qp.alberta.ca/570.cfm?frm_isbn=9780779777273&search_by=link

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/570.cfm?frm_isbn=9780779772391&search_by=link

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/570.cfm?frm_isbn=9780779772391&search_by=link

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/570.cfm?frm_isbn=9780779760473&search_by=link

http://culture.alberta.ca/paa/





Page 90 of 94







Page 1


Oldman River Regional Services Commission
Balance Sheet As at O4t3OtZ021


ASSET


Operating Fund
Cash on Hand, not deposited
Cash on Hand
Cash in Bank-Current
Cash Clearing


Total Cash
Accounts Receivable
Restricted Cash
CIBC Savings Account
Accounts Receivable - lvlanual
GST Receivable
Prepaid Expenses


Total Operating Fund


Capital Funds
Furniture & Equipment
Computer Equipment
Accumulated Depr-Computer
Automotive
Accumulated Depr-Automotive
General Contents-reclass
Accum Amort-General Contents-.
Computer Equipment-reclass
Accum Amort Computer-reclass
Automotive-reclass
Accum Amod Automotive-reclass
Leasehold lmprovements-reclass
Accum Amort Leasehold-reclass
Furn & Equap-Acc Depr


Net Furniture & Equipment
Land
Building
Acc Amort-Bldg


Net Building
Leasehold lmprovements
Accumulated Amort-Leasehold 1...


Net Leasehold lmprovements


Total Capital Fund


TOTAL ASSET


LIABILITY


Liabilities - Operating fund
Accounts payable
Accrued Vacation Leave
Account Payable - l\ranual
Accrued Liabilities
Vacation payable
Deferred Revenue - Member
Deferred Revenue-GlS
ATB LOC
El Payable
CPP Payable
Federal lncome Tax Payable


Payroll remittance payable
Deduction 'l Payable
Deduction 2 Payable
Deduction 3 Payable
Deduction 4 Payable
Deduction 5 Payable
GST Charged on Sales


0.00
120.00


995,168.96
205.00


995,493.96
91,749.91
50,000.00


291,385.72
-10,000.00


7.702.00
8,671.26


1,435,002.8s


13,678.00
0.00


-70,039.88
52,391.25


-69,099.22
262,562.44


-244,596.10
146,376.57
-48,394.21
26,550.25
16,717.15
20,380.00


-20,380.00
-13,097.00


773,396.98
-359,631.76


0.00
0.00


0.00
142,422.40
58,040.98


0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
o.20
0.00
0.00


413,765 22


73.049.25
80,000.00


0.00


566,814.47


2,001 ,A17.32


240,463.58
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00


0.00


7a 
Page 1 of 4


Page 91 of 94







Page 2
Oldman River Regional Services Commission
Balance Sheet As at 04/30/2021


GST Paid on Purchases


GST Payable (Receivable)
Prepaid Sales/Deposits


Total Current Liabilities - Operat


0.00


TOTAL LIABILITY


EQUITY


0.00
0.00


240.463.58


240,463.58


Capital Fund
Mortgage
ATB LOC
Equity in Fixed Assets
Operating Reserve
lnternally Restricted (manual)
Capital Reserve


Total Reserves


Total Capital Fund


Members Equity
Retained Earnings - Previous Year
Accounting Policy Change
Current Earnings
AR Clearing Account


Total Members' Equity


TOTAL EQUITY


LIABILITIES AND EQUIry


0.00
0.00


566,816.00
168.381.'r l


-236,856.91
168,38'1.12


99,90s 32


666,721 .32


250,203.59
0.00


844,428.83
0.00


1,094.632.42


1,761,353.74


2,001 .817.32


7a 
Page 2 of 4


Page 92 of 94







Page 1


Oldman River Regional Services Commission
Comparative lncome Statement


Budget
O1lO1l2O21lo


12t31t2021


Actual
01 101 12021 lo


04t30t2021


REVENUE


Approval Fees,Plans,lnterest
ApprovalFees
Final Fees
Extension Fees
Rental lncome
Sale of Plans & Publications
GIS Sale of Maps
lnterest Earned
Proceeds from Sale of Capital As
Other lncome
Grant Revenue
Rural IMDP Grant


Total Approval Fees,Plans,lntg...


TOTAL REVENUE


EXPENSE


Staff Salaries
Permanent Employees
Temporary Employees
Planning lntern


Total Staff Salaries


Staff Benerits
Employment lnsurance
Group Life lnsurance
LAPP.RPP
CPP
AMS-Ext Health & Dental


Total Staff Benefits


Members Travel & Meetings
N4embers l\,4eeling Fees
l\,4embers Mileage
Member Conf & Out ofArea


Total Members Travel & Meetin


Office
Mortgage Payments
Utilities


210,000.00
32,500 00


7,500 00
100.00


7,000.00
200.00


12,000.00
1.00
0.00
0.00
0.00


260,3o1.00


926,319.00
0.01
0.01


12,000.00
20,000.00


574,300.00
400,000.00


1.932,619.02


463,159.00
0.00
0.00
0.00


5,230.79
572,026.28
405,123.36


1,445,539.43


Oitference


463,160.00
0.01
0.01


12,000.00
14,769.21
2,273.72


-5,123.36


487,079.59


95,140.00
11,422.50


2.470.OO
-882.09


5,873 '16


200.00
10,697.37


-15,004.08
-3,768.75


-60,000.00
0.00


46,548.11


1,801 .00
8.152.10
3.782.40
5,000.00
3,900.09


22,635.59


114,860.00
20.677 50


5,030.00
982.09


1 ,'126.U
0.00


1,302.63
15,005.08
3,76A.75


60,000.00
0.00


222,7s2.89


2,201,920.02


2,000.00
10,000.00
5,000 00
5,000.00
4,000.00


26,000.00


12,279.08
12,282 44
52,808.67
29,340.48
21,614.U


118524.


1,668,292.32 533,627.70


1,663,229.00
0.00
0.00


1.663,229.00


578.327 44
000
0.00


578,327 44


1,084,90...
0.00
0.00


1,084,90...


23,000.00
35,000.00


145,000.00
52.000.00
65,000.00


320,OOO.OO


10,720.92
22,717.56
92,191.33
22,659.52
43,385.96


191,675.29


't99.00


1,847.90
I .217.60


0.00
99.91


3,364.41


5,000.00
5,000.00
3,000.00


13,000.00


2,518.08
532.00


0.00


3,050.08


2,4a1.92
4,468.00
3,000.00


9,949.92


0.00
16,000.00


0.00
5,638.01


0.00
10,361.99


Membership F6es,Fee-for.serv...
Membership Fees
Allocation to Operating Rsrv Fund
Allocation to Capital Rsrv Fund
Regional Assessment Review Bo...
Chinook lntermunicipal SDAB
GIS Member Fees
Fee for Service(membe.)


Total Member fees, fees for Se...


Staff Travel and Meetings
Staff Mileage
Vehicle Gas & Maintenance
Staff Field Expense
Stafl Conference & Area
Staff Development


Total Staff Travel & Meetings


7a 
Page 3 of 4


Page 93 of 94







Page 2


Budget
01 101 12021 to


12/31t2021


Actual
01 lO1 12021 lo


0/.t30t2021


Renovations
Janitorial Services
Buildang Maintenance


Total Office


1.00


6,000.00
5.000.00


27.001.00


0.00
1,844.00
2,502.04


9,984.05


Difference


1.00
4,156.00
?.497.96


17,016.95


Oldman River Regional Services Commission
Comparative lncome Statement


Telephone & Supplies
Telephone
GeneralOffice Supplies
Dues & Subscriptions
Books & Publications
Postage & Petty Cash
Mortgage lnterest


Total Telephons & Suppli€s


Printing & Drafting Supplies
Printing & Printing Supplies
Graphic & Orafring Supplies


Total Printing & Orafting Suppl...


Other Operating Erpenses
OtherOperating Expenses
Accounting & Audit Fees
Aerial Photos & Maps
Land Titles Office
Legal Fees
Public Relations
Computer Software
Recruitment & Relocation
Consultants
Subdivision Notafication
lnsurance
Meetings
Coffee & Supplies
Assessment Review Board
Chinook lntermunicipal SOAB
Rural IMDP
Other
Cost Recovery
Transler to Operating Reserve F.


Transfer to Capital Reserve Fund


Total Other Op€rating Expenses


Fixed Assets
Equipment Repairs & Maintenance
Equipment & Furniture Rental
Equipment & Furniture Purchases
Amortization Expense


Total Fixed Assets


TOTAL EXPENSE


NET INCOME


15,000
4,000


0
0


19,000


00
00
01


00


01


12,235.97
2,339.76
3,261.38


0.00


2,764 03
1,660.24


-3,261 37


0.00


1,162.90


14,000.00
3,000.00
4,000.00
1,000.00
6,000.00


0.00


28,000.00


4,508.06
1,223.02


570.84
734.56


3,283.08
0.00


10,319 56


734 20
0.00


734.20


9,491.94
1,776.98
3.429.',t6


265.44
2,716.92


0.00


17,680.44


3,500.00
4,000.00


7,500.00


0.00
10,000.00


500.00
3,000.00
1,000.00
2,000.00


60,000.00
1.00
1.00


5,000.00
14,000.00


1,000.00
500.00


0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.01
0.01


97 ,002.02


0.00
1 1,480.00


0.00
868.00


0.00
1,109.12


36,303.45
0.00


4,477.50
2,225.48


14,128.31
262.89
122.O3


0.00
700.00


000
245.15


000
000
0.00


71,921.93


2.765.40
4,000.00


6,765.80


000
-1 480 00


500.00
2,132.00
1,000.00


890.88
23,696.55


1.00
4,476.50
2,774.52
-128.31
737.11


377.97
0.00


-700.00
0.00


-245.15
000
0 01


0 01


25,080 09


2.200.732.O3


1,187.99


17,837.11


823,863.49 1,376,86.


844,428.83 -843,240


7a 
Page 4 of 4


Page 94 of 94





		1 2021-06-03 Board of Directors Agenda

		2 2021-01-07 ORRSC Annual Board of Directors Meeting Minutes

		5 Executive Committee Report

		6a DRAFT 2020 ORRSC Annual Report

		6b ORRSC Bylaws

		6b BYLAW 2021-01 Board and Executive

		6b BYLAW 2021-02 Administrative

		6b BYLAW 2021-03 Procedural

		6b BYLAW 2021-04 Code of Conduct

		6b BYLAW 2021-05 Document Retention



		7a Balance Sheet and Income Statements










Alberta SouthWest Regional Economic Development Alliance 
International Economic Development Council (IEDC) Accredited Economic Development Organization (AEDO) 


Green Destinations Top 100 Sustainable Global Destinations and Top 3 Best of the Americas 
 


Box 1041 Pincher Creek AB T0K 1W0 
403-627-3373 (office) 403-627-0244 (cell)  
bev@albertasouthwest.com 
www.albertasouthwest.com 


Alberta SouthWest Bulletin June 2021 
Regional Economic Development Alliance (REDA) Update 


 


❖ International Economic Development Week 
What are the goals of #EconDevWeek? 


• Articulate: Voice the role and value of economic development in our local economy; 


• Organize: Strengthen support for the work of our economic development organizations;  


• Amplify: Spread the message and celebrate our economic developers! 
 


AlbertaSW participated in Economic Developers Alberta (EDA) celebrations the week of May 9-15, 2021. 


The EDA goal was to have 25 communities, province-wide, formally proclaim Economic Development 


Week …. 34 municipal councils joined in! https://www.edaalberta.ca/Economic-Development-Week 
 


Communities and regions also celebrated in unique ways, including AlbertaSW! 


Our municipalities took time to “Shine a Light on Economic Development” by  


painting the EDA logo in the snow at Pass Powderkeg ski hill; lighting up town 


marquees in Cardston and Stavely; incorporating the EDA logo into a photo of the Hill Spring solar 


farm, into an iconic landscape in the MD of Pincher Creek; in the clouds over Waterton Park, and in the 


grip of the Cowley dinosaur. Very creative and fun! See all the great photos posted at this link! 


https://www.edaalberta.ca/resources/Documents/AlbertaSW%20Shines%20a%20Light%20on%20EDA.pdf 
 


❖ Economic Developers Alberta “Outstanding Young Professional 2021” 
Congratulations to Marie Everts, Marketing, Events and Economic Development 


Officer for the Town of Pincher Creek for receiving this honour at the recent EDA 


conference. https://www.edaalberta.ca/2021-Awards-of-Excellence-Winners 
 


Brady Schnell, EDO, Town of Claresholm was also recognized by AlbertaSW and 


SouthGrow for contributions to his community and to our regions. 
 


AlbertaSW is the big winner with such creative and dedicated economic developers! 
 


❖ Another AlbertaSW AGM Zooms by 
2021 AGM held on June 2, was a short meeting on a hot evening! 


Board reviewed and accepted financial statements, year end reports and operations plan.  


If you wish information about, or copies of, these reports, contact bev@abertasouthwest.com 


We hope to have a regional gathering in the fall to celebrate some great outcomes in a challenging year. 


 


Thank you 
to the guidance and commitment from the AlbertaSW Board, our Councils, CAOs, municipal staff, EDOs, 


EDCs, Community Futures, Chambers, federal and provincial government agencies, and industry 


partners who help make our region a success! 



mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.albertasouthwest.com/

https://www.edaalberta.ca/Economic-Development-Week

https://www.edaalberta.ca/resources/Documents/AlbertaSW%20Shines%20a%20Light%20on%20EDA.pdf

https://www.edaalberta.ca/2021-Awards-of-Excellence-Winners

mailto:bev@abertasouthwest.com
























 


DAVE SCHEBEK, CHAIR 
Improvement District No. 9, Banff National Park 


daveschebek@improvementdistrict9.ca 
PO Box 58, Lake Louise AB | TOL 1E0 


 


 


 


May 31st, 2021 
Honourable Kaycee Madu 


Minister Justice and Solicitor General 


Office of the Minister 


#424 Legislature Building, 10800 97 Ave, Edmonton AB T5K 2B6 


 


Dear Minister Madu, 


 


Re: Alberta Provincial Police Service (APPS) 
  
At the Regular Council meeting for Improvement District No. 9 on May 13th, 2021, Council reviewed the plan proposed by the 
Government of Alberta to replace the RCMP in Alberta with a Provincial Police Service.  Please be advised that the Municipal Council 
for ID9 is strongly opposed to the creation of this proposal. After reviewing the Fair Deal Panel's Report to Government (as well as 
the many letters currently circulating from Municipal elected officials) ID9 Council is voicing its firm opposition to the APPS. There 
are several particularly concerning items identified in the Fair Deal Panel's report, namely:  


• the Fair Deal Panel's recommendation to proceed with developing a proposal for a Provincial Police Force, despite only 35% 
of Albertans believing the police force would contribute to the desired outcome of helping Alberta better assert itself with 
the Canadian federation. 


• Provincial and municipal governments possibly absorbing $112.4 million policing costs currently covered by the federal 
government (which would be in addition to the increasing policing costs incurred by municipalities under the Police Funding 
Model). 


 


Furthermore, and perhaps most importantly, we have an excellent relationship with our local RCMP detachment and feel no need to 
replace them with a Provincial force. The RCMP in Lake Louise and Banff have always been responsive to community needs and 
feedback, and have consistently delivered professional, quality public safety services in our communities.  In addition, ongoing 
collaboration between both Detachments and ID9 Council has resulted in a positive and adaptive presence in the region.  


We have not been provided with adequate proof that the formation of the APPS would result in better outcomes for Albertans, 
especially when considering the increased costs to our rate payers.  ID9 Council is urging the Government of Alberta to listen to 
Municipal Leaders as well as the results of the Fair Deal Panel’s report and shift efforts to improving RCMP relationships and 
resources in the Province.  Please do not hesitate to contact me with any comments or concerns.   


Respectfully, 


 
 
Chair Dave Schebek 


CC: Honourable Jason Kenney, Premier 


MLA Miranda Rosin 


AUMA & RMA Memberships 


  



mailto:daveschebek@improvementdistrict9.ca






TOWN OF REDCLIFF 


May 18, 2021 


Honorable Kaycee Madu 
Minister of Justice and Solicitor General 
424 Legislature Building 
10800-97 Avenue 
Edmonton, Alberta T5K 2B6 


RE: Town of Redcliff Support for the RCMP 


Dear Minister Madu, 


P.O. Box 40, 1 - 3rd Street N.E. 
Redcliff, Alberta , T0J 2P0 


Phone 403-548-3618 
Fax 403-548-6623 
redcliff@redcliff.ca 


www.redcliff.ca 


On behalf of the Town of Redcliff Council , I would like to express our support of the continuation 
of RCMP services in the province. We are disappointed in the Province of Alberta's reluctance 
to accept the results of its own consultative process against moving forward with plans that 
appear to want to replace the RCMP with an Alberta Provincial Police Service. 


Historically, the Town of Redcliff has provided its own police services to our community with little 
funding support from the province, managing and maintaining its policing services since 
incorporation in 1911 through to 1992. In 1992, for a period of five years, the Town of Redcliff 
contracted with the City of Medicine Hat and the City Police provided policing services to the 
Town of Redcliff. Since 1997 the Town has contracted with the RCMP for police services . 
The Town takes pride in its unique history and experience with building upon our local services 
and developing quality relations with the RCMP. 


Since 1997 our local RCMP detachment has served our community with high-quality service 
and responsiveness; we have found the RCMP have a willingness to collaborate on local events 
and projects and a sense of community and partnership. With their resources and experience 
they have introduced important community initiatives such as Victims Assistance, Drug and 
Alcohol Resistance Education (DARE) , Citizens on Patrol (COP) , Rural Crime Watch, and 
South Eastern Alberta Search and Rescue (SESAR) . The RCMP has a recognizable presence, 
respect and trust built on years of service and tradition . 


In light of the difficult and uncertain economic times, the Town considers that the exper)diture 
required to complete such a change to a Provincial Police force is concerning . As the transition 
costs are inadequately explained , the Town is concerned that operating costs will inevitably rise , 







resulting in increased costs borne by Municipalities and requiring additional taxation to our 
residents. As well, we cannot be assured, with the current information, that our level of service 
will remain the same or have any marked improvement justifying the cost of change. 


The Town of Redcliff urges you to adhere to the Fair Deal Panel's respondents' consultations, 
abandon the Provincial Police Force concept, and focus efforts on issues and needs that are of 
significant concern to Albertans. 


Regards, 


ick 


CC: The Honorable Jason Kenny, Premier 
The Honorable Ric Mciver, Minister of Municipal Affairs 
Rachel Notley, Leader of the Opposition 
Michaela Glasgo, MLA 
AUMA Members 
RMA Members 








inr: d~f FALHER 
"df-ontj Capita[ of Canada" 


May 20, 2021 


Honourable Kaycee Madu 
Minister of Justice and Solicitor General 
424 Legislature Building 
10800-97 A venue 
Edmonton, Alberta T5K 286 


RE: Town of Falher Support for the RCMP 


Dear Minister Madu, 


This letter is presented as a token of support on behalf of the Town of Falher towards the Royal 
Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) and also as a motion of opposition to the Provincial Government's 
recent proposal for an Alberta Provincial Police Force. 


Upon review of information made available by AUMA it has become abundantly clear to our entire 
council that blindly forging forward would come at an enormous cost to our province, and specifically 
its residents. The newly established Police Funding Model has already delivered a hit to small rural urban 
municipal budgets with a relatively small impact felt in terms of day to day deliverables in our 
communities. Continuing with a Provincial Police Force would come at an exorbitant cost with no 
assurance with a benefit in service. 


Just today, S&P Global Ratings has downgraded Alberta's credit rating from 'A+' to 'A' while cautioning 
that additional downgrades in the near future are very possible if new fiscal measures are not adopted 
in a post-COVID 19 Alberta. The exploration of an Alberta based Police Force was merely financial as 
there is no evidence suggesting a dissatisfaction with the quality of service offered by the RCMP to the 
magnitude that would warrant such an expense. To ask any and all residents of this province to fund 
such an ill-advised endeavour can only be viewed as an un-sound decision based on an act of ignoring 
facts, and more importantly, the voice of Albertans. 


With the Provincial Government's reduction into MSI funding over the next few years and considering 
the infrastructure maintenance investments that all Canadian municipalities face over the coming 
years, local government budgets are already being stretched beyond their limits. Where exactly does 
the Provincial government envision the funding of a Provincial Police Service coming from? 
Undoubtedly, they will ask municipalities to pay, ultimately forcing local councils to play 'bad cop' by 
increasing municipal taxes in order to fund Provincial downloading. It is our opinion that the Provincial 
government needs to seriously re-evaluate its priorities. 


P.O. BOX 155, FALHER, AB TOH 1M0 TELEPHONE: (780) 837-2247 FAX: (780) 837-2647 EMAIL: admin@falher.ca 







The Town of Falher council stands with: 


• The 65% of respondents to the Fair Deal Panel survey that voiced opposition to a Provincial 
Police Force. 


• The County of Paintearth No. 18 
• The County of St.Paul 
• Municipality of Crowsnest Pass 
• Town of Didsbury 
• Town of Magrath 
• Town of Edson 
• Village of Hill Spring 
• Town of Morinville 
• Town of Redcliff 
• Village of Rycroft 
• Any and all other citizens, municipalities, and organizations who have not voiced their opinions, 


yet. 


The Provincial Government continually encourages (and legislatively mandates) that municipal 
governments work together in a cohesive manner, perhaps they should take a page from their own 
book rerouting the funds allocated for research of an Alberta Police Service towards building stronger 
relationships with the RCMP and with Federal Partners. 


Sincerely, 


Donna Buchinski 
Mayor 


cc: The Honourable Jason Kenney, Premier 
The Honourable Ric Mciver, Minister of Municipal Affairs 
Rachel Notley, Leader of the Official Opposition 
Todd Loewen, MLA Central Peace-Notley 
AUMA Members 
RMA Members 


















Red Deer County 


June 4, 2021 


sent via email: ministrvoflustice.gov.ab.ca 


Honourable Kaycee Madu 
Minister of Justice and Solicitor General 
424 Legislature Building 
10800 - 97 Avenue 
Edmonton, AB T5K 2B6 


Dear Minister Madu 


RE: Proposed Alberta Provincial Police Services 


OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 
38106 Range Road 275 


Red Deer County, AB T4S 2L9 
Phone: 403.350.2152 


Fax: 403.350.2164 


Red Deer County stands in solidarity with fellow municipalities across Alberta in our support of the 
Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) as the premier choice for our province's police force. In 
reviewing the Fair Deal Panel: Report to Government, it is with displeasure that Council notes the 
proposal did not consider current provincial challenges such as struggling economies and tighter 
budget realities. Please be advised that Council vehemently opposes the creation of an Alberta 
Provincial Police Service (APPS). 


Council has concerns that the Alberta government would charge forward with a plan to replace the 
RCMP with APPS when the National Police Federation notes that a new provincial force would cost 
Alberta taxpayers at least $112 million more a year than they are currently paying. Focused efforts 
should not be on causing further economic burden to County residents and ratepayers. The 
implementation of the Police Funding Model (PFM) in April 2020 has already stripped our municipality 
and many others of the opportunity for input and consultation powers with regard to local policing 
through the suspension of municipally-funded enhanced policing positions. 


The Fair Deal Panel recommendation is to proceed with developing a proposal for a provincial police 
force, despite only 35% of Albertans believing it would contribute to the desired outcome of helping 
Alberta improve its position in the federation. 


In addition, the 2020 Alberta Police Federation survey concluded that "replacing the RCMP is viewed 
as a least helpful measure tested to improve Alberta's place in Canada." Eighty-one percent of 
Albertans served by the RCMP are satisfied with the service they receive, and 70% of Albertans 
oppose replacing the RCMP with an expensive new provincial police service. 


www.rdcounty.ca 







Honourable Kaycee Madu 
June 4, 2021 
Page 2 


In closing, Red Deer County Council does not foresee where a new police force would improve 
efficiency or quality of life for our residents and ratepayers. In fact, as economic challenges remain 
coming out of a pandemic, changing out of the current system would only increase economic burden 
on our municipality and taxpayers in the Province of Alberta. 


Red Deer County wholeheartedly appreciates our strong working relationships with all five (5) of our 
local RCMP detachments, recognizing the hard work over the years building trust and working 
relationships on the foundation of respect. We ask that the Government of Alberta reassess priorities 
and abandon the transition study through the Police Act review to focus efforts towards upgrades to 
the criminal justice and social support systems in the Province to achieve better outcomes. 


There needs to be an opportunity for open dialogue between the Province and municipal stakeholders 
on this issue — we strongly encourage all efforts should be focused on working with the RCMP to 
achieve the desired community results all Albertans need. 


Yours truly 


ER COUNTY 
~ i 


Mayor 


c A~erta Municipalities 


www.rdcounty.ca 








MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD JUNE 3, 2021 AT 
THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING  
 
Board Members Present:    
Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston     Tom Nish – Cardston County  
Don Shideler – Village of Hill Spring   Tim Court – Town of Cardston (via phone) 
Royce Leavitt – Cardston County 
                 
Others Present:  
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief        Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer                         
                               
Commenced at 5:01 p.m.  
  
Gerry Selk in the chair.                                                              
  
Opening Prayer: Royce Leavitt 
  
AGENDA  
  
Tom Nish moved to approve the agenda.                     Carried  
  
MINUTES  


The minutes of the May 3, 2021, meeting was discussed.    


Royce Leavitt moved to accept the minutes of the May 3, 2021 meeting.             Carried  
 
BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
 
The board made a motion via email regarding the purchase of a fire truck as time was of the essence to 
receive the quote presented at the last board meeting.  The fire truck will be ready for the fall of 2022. 
 
21-01   Tim Court moved to purchase a fire truck.     Carried 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
  
Danny Melvin reported that the May Emergency Services statistics are as follows: 3 MVC’s, 2 grass fires, 1 
structure fire (Cardston County), 2 miscellaneous, 2 false alarms, and 1 MFR. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that the fire call out statistics are up 88% compared to last year. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the Auditor will be here next Wednesday to perform an audit of the 2020 
financial books. 







MINUTES CCES MEETING JUNE 3, 2021 
 


2 
 


Danny Melvin advised that the Quality Inspection for businesses within the Authority needs some changes 
made. Danny is working with the Cardston County and Town of Cardston to look at doing annual 
inspections on each business. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the Townsite Manager in Waterton has resigned, and they are transitioning to a 
new manager.  Danny has delivered the invoices for the summer contract. 
 
Danny Melvin presented the Fire Response Billing – within the Cardston County Policy for the board to 
review. 
 
21-02 Tim Court moved to approve the Fire Response Billing – within the Cardston County Policy. 
               Carried 
 
Don Shideler is concerned about the placement of some of the equipment within the Fire Hall.  Danny 
Melvin advised that the lockers are on wheels and can be moved out of the way quickly.  Danny will look at 
different formats for the building expansion and get some drawings completed. 
 
Don Shideler moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.                      Carried  
 
Danny Melvin advised that a letter from the Safety Codes Council has been received and the Authority has 
received clearance. 
 
Danny Melvin has been working with Mid River to align staff members to proper assignments. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  


Tom Nish moved to adjourn.                     Carried  


Adjournment at 5:27 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, September 2, 2021 at 5:00 p.m. at the Cardston County 
Emergency Services Building.    


  


              
Chairman   





		MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD JUNE 3, 2021 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING

		MINUTES

		NEW BUSINESS

		ADJOURNMENT











VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
May 13, 2021 Minutes 


 
The Regular Village of Glenwood Council meeting was held at the Glenwood 
Community Hall on May 13, 2021 scheduled at 7:00 PM. 
 
In attendance: Deputy Mayor David Rolfson, Councillors Barton Lybbert, Gerry 
Carter and Rusty Clark. Mayor Albert Elias was absent. 
 
Officials: Chief Administrative Officer Carrie Kinahan was in attendance; Chief Financial 
Officer Hakon Skoien in attendance, arriving at 7:30 PM and leaving 10:23PM 


 
 


 


 
Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes May 13, 2021 Initials: Page 1 of 3 


 


 
1. Called to Order 
 
 
2. Prayer 
 
3. Agenda Adoption 
2021.05.060 
 
 
 
 
4. Minutes Adoption 
4a) 2021.04.08 
2021.05.061 
 
 
4b) 2021.04.22 
2021.05.062 
 
 
5. Delegations: 
5.a) ORRSC 
presentation of 
Intermunicipal 
Development Plan 
(IDP) Bylaw #258.2021 
2021.05.063 
 
5.b) Rayanne Spotted 
Bull – Bill C-15  
 
CFO Hakon Skoien 
 
5c) Wayne Smith – 
Beautification 
 
AB Municipal 
Sustainability Strategy 
 
6. Items for Discussion: 
6.a) 2021 Budget & Mill 
rate.  
 
6b) Bylaw # 241-2021 
Tax rate 
 
6c) Self Assessment 
Questionnaire available 
online 
2021.05.064 
 


Deputy Mayor Rolfson called the May 13, 2021 Regular Council 
Meeting to order at 7:02 PM 
 
Councillor Clark 
 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to adopt the agenda as amended.  
5c) Wayne Smith. 6a) Move to closed meeting, due to employee 
matters, 6b) move to June meeting. 6g) Chinook Lodge – report.  


Carried 
 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to adopt the minutes of the 
2021.04.08 Regular Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to adopt the minutes of the 2021.04.22 
Special Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to approve first reading of the 
Intermunicipal Development Plan (IDP) - Bylaw #258.2021 


Carried 
 
No Show. 
 
Arrived at 7:30 PM 
 
 
No resolutions for this item.  
 
No resolutions for this item. 
 
 
 
Discuss during Closed meeting due to Employee matters. 
  
 
Discuss during Closed meeting with 6a) Employee matters. 
 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to advise administration to look into 
creating a modified version of this questionnaire and post online as 
well as have printed copies at the office. 


Carried 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes May 13, 2021 Initials: Page 2 of 3 
 


6d) Bylaw #165-2021 
Cemetery Bylaw 
2021.05.065 
 
6e) Policing Letters – 
Support of RCMP or for 
Regional Policing 
2021.05.066 
 
6f) Unsightly premises 
 – Resident letter 
2021.05.067 
 
 
6g) Chinook 
Foundation  
2021.05.068 
 
 
 
 
7. & 8. Council & CAO 
Reports 
Mayor Elias 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
 
 
 
Councillor Carter 
 
Councillor Lybbert 
 
 
Councillor Clark 
 
CAO Report 
 
 
2021.05.069 
 
 
9. Financial Reports 
9.a, 9.b, 9.c 
 
 
 
2021.05.070 
 
 
10. Correspondence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
Councillor Carter MOVED first reading of the Cemetery Bylaw #165-
2021. 


Carried 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to put out a poster asking for input on 
whether to support the RCMP or a new provincial policing. 


Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to send out unsightly premise’s letters 
and to do posters for Village Clean up day on June 23, 2021 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED for the council to support the Chinook 
Foundation in keeping the Chinook Foundation separate from 
Pincher Creek Senior’s Housing. As info, the CAO of the Chinook 
Foundation has resigned. 


Carried 
 
 
 


• Absent 
 


• Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste, Glenwood Municipal 
Library - Painted children’s corner, Library is closed to public -
but can call and reserve books for pick up. 


 
• Chinook Foundation Seniors 


 
• Cardston County Emergency Services. Discussion regarding 


aging fire truck.  
 


• Family and Community Support Services postponed.  
 


• CAO Report presented as outlined in the agenda 
 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to accept the Councillor & CAO reports as 
information. 


Carried 
 


9a. Accounts Payable Report for April (20210077 - 20210128)  
9b. Budget VS Actual Review April 2021 
9c. Bank reconciliations for March 2021 
 
Councillor Clark MOVED to accept financial reports as information 


Carried 
 


a) 2021-MP Kurek - Vaccine Provision 
b) ORRSC 2021-03-11 Executive Committee Meeting 


Minutes 
c) M&R April 9, 2021 Minutes 
d) CCES Minutes April 1, 2021 
e) CMRSWA Minutes 4-21 
f) Mayor Snodgrass – Support for mining on Category 3&4 


lands – May 4, 2021 
g) M&R March 5, 2021 minutes 
h) Mayors and Reeves March 2021 – South Grow 


 
 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes May 13, 2021 Initials: Page 3 of 3 
 


2021.05.071 
 
 
11. Closed Meeting 
2021.05.072 
 
 
 
 
2021.05.073 
 
 
2021.05.074 
 
 
 
 
 
Adjournment 
2021.05.075 
 


Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to accept the correspondence as 
information. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Clarke MOVED to close the meeting to the public and 
invited CFO Skoien to join, at 8:37 PM to discuss Land, Legal or 
Labour Matters as per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act. 


Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to come out of Closed Meeting at 9:34.  


Carried 
 
Councillor Clark MOVED to go past 9:30 pm. 


Carried 
 
The Regular Council Meeting resumed at 9:33 PM allowing for the 
public to rejoin the meeting. 


 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 10:23 PM. 


Carried 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Meeting Chair 


 
_____________________________________________ 


Chief Administrative Officer 
   


 








Project: Smith 2 acre 
Date: June 4th, 2021
Purpose: Village of Glenwood subdivision proposal for lot PT1-3-22-1222A Y


1 Overview
1.1 Wayne and Sondra Smith own lot PT1-3-22-1222A Y. When Wayne moved to an adjacent house in 1958 the existing fenceline was already established 


and has been in place ever since. This is the only lot in Glenwood with a back alley and there are no current plans to develop a road east of this 
property.


1.2 We are seeking feedback from council on subdividing the land shown in exibit 1 into minimum sized lots. Our preference would be to make 10 lots on 
this piece. 


1.3 We would need water, sewer, and irrigation serviced to each lot. We will add plans for a side walk near the south border to allow residence a walk way 
to main street. Services can come underneath this sidewalk to the west lots.


1.4 We would need to subdivide the North side of the Smith property along with the lot PT1-3-22-1222A Y.
1.5 We would also need to purchase (or grandfather in) the road allowance to the east of the property. This is approximately 10 feet along the length of the 


property and, like previously said, has been the estabilished fencing for about 70 years. This will still allow for the single lane alley currently being used.
1.6 The cul de sac would become village property after subdivision is complete. We would look to have Derrick Beck build the cul de sac if available. 
1.7 We are thinking about the possibility of building duplexs on these lots and are interested in the process to make that work


2 Benefits to community
2.1 Provide building lots for those looking to live in a rural location without having to take care of large lots
2.2 Focused on providing seniors an option to downsize their living circumstances without having to leave Glenwood
2.3 Village services can be provided without too much difficultly
2.4 Centrally located close to village amenities
2.5 Increase Village of Glenwood tax base
2.6 Restrictions will be placed on title to not allow trailers or RV's on sites. The intended purpose is to have smaller homes suitable for senior couples or 


first time home buyers


Exhibit 1


3 Questions
3.1 General feedback from council on this project
3.2 Road allowance east of property. What would you want to do with that? Minimal purchase price? Grandfather in?
3.3 What is councils opinion on duplexes?
3.4 Servicing of lots. Can costs be minimized with how many lots are coming in. For example water serviced between properties and connected to each lot, 


similiar to how irrigation is currently.
3.5 Would council consider smaller lots than the 10000 sq ft minimum?








 
Appendix A 


Glenwood Cemetery 
CEMETERY PLOT OWNERSHIP CERTIFICATE 


 


The Village of Glenwood, AB and Cardston County acknowledge 
receipt of the sum of: 


$ __________; (_______________________________________) CDN Dollars 


having been paid by ______________________________________________ 


Mailing Address: _________________________________________________ 


E-mail Address: __________________________________________________ 


Name & Contact info for next of kin: 
_____________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________ 


for the purchase of the following VACANT cemetery plot(s) in the 
Glenwood Cemetery, located at: 


Block __________ Plot __________ 


Perpetual care donations for cemetery plot(s) can be made to the 
Village of Glenwood at any time, to aid in the upkeep and cemetery 
maintenance expenses incurred by the Village of Glenwood. 


 


Date: __________________________     _________________________________ 
Village Signature & Seal 


 


THIS IS FOR YOUR PERMANENT RECORD. PLEASE KEEP IN A SAFE PLACE. 








 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2021 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 1 of 6 


 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
BYLAW # 165-2021 


 
Cemetery Bylaw 


 
A BYLAW OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
REGULATING THE GOVERNANCE AND OPERATIONS OF THE GLENWOOD CEMETERY. 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the Village of Glenwood regards it expedient to enact certain laws, 
rules and regulations for the efficient operation and management of the Glenwood Cemetery; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Village of Glenwood, in the Province of Alberta, enacts as 
follows: 
 


1. NAME OF CEMETERY: 
 


a. That the cemetery shall be called the Glenwood Cemetery. 
 


2. DEFINITIONS: 
a. In this bylaw unless the context otherwise requires: 


i. Administration – Chief Administrative Officer of the village or any other 
village employee working in the village office; 


ii. Adult – means an individual over the age of twelve (12) years; 
iii. Burial – means the interment of human remains or cremated remains in 


an earth plot; 
iv. Burial Permit – means a burial permit issued under the Alberta Vital 


Statistics Act. If the deceased is cremated, then a Cremation Certificate 
will be accepted in its place; 


v. Casket – means a box made of wood, metal or other synthetic material 
used to encase a corpse for burial; 


vi. Cemetery – means the Glenwood Cemetery which is jointly owned by 
Cardston County and the Village of Glenwood, located at Block A, Plan 
1298FS, 4;27;5;13;NE; 


vii. Child – means an individual over the age of two (2) years and under the 
age of twelve (12) years; 


viii. Committee – means the cemetery committee; 
ix. Council – means the Village of Glenwood municipal council; 
x. County – means Cardston County; 


xi. Cremated Remains – means the remnants of the human body following 
the cremation process; 


xii. Disinterment – means exhumation or removal of human/cremated 
remains from a grave; 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2021 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 2 of 6 


 


xiii. Grave – means a plot that has been opened or used as a place of 
interment; 


xiv. Grave Cover (Cap) – means any covering other than earth and grass 
which covers the grave; 


xv. Grave Marker – means any above ground device or monument to mark a 
grave; 


xvi. Infant – means an individual under the age of two (2) years; 
xvii. Plot – means a four (4) foot by eight (8) foot space in the cemetery used 


for a place of burial; 
xviii. Monument or Headstone – means any permanent structure in the 


cemetery erected or constructed on a grave for memorial purposes; 
xix. Resident – means residents or former residents and their immediate 


families of Cardston County, Hill Spring or Glenwood; 
xx. Urn – means a container used for storing human cremated remains; 


xxi. Vault – means an approved concrete or fibreglass receptacle placed in 
the cemetery plot that protects a casket after it is buried, and must 
support the weight of the earth and any cemetery equipment to prevent 
the grave from collapsing. A shroud can be used instead of a casket, but 
must still be placed inside a vault; 


xxii. Village – means the Municipality of the Village of Glenwood; 
xxiii. Woody Ornamental – means any trees, shrubs, creepers or climbers. 


 
3. CEMETERY ACT: 
 


a. All cemetery regulations and plots shall conform to the Alberta Cemetery Act 
General Regulation RSA 2000 Chapter C-3. 


 
4. ADMINISTRATION: 
 


a. The village administration shall be responsible for the selling of plots in the 
cemetery, and the keeping and maintaining of records required by law, for the 
collection of fees and charges in connection therewith; 


b. Donations to the care of the cemetery may be made to the village and the use of 
the donation will be determined by the cemetery committee and administration; 


c. The village will be assisted in the care of the cemetery by a cemetery committee 
which shall be composed of at least: 


i. Two (2) residents of the Village of Glenwood; 
ii. Two (2) residents of Cardston County; 


iii. One (1) Village Council representative; 
iv. One (1) Cardston County Council representative. 


d. The village, with the cemetery committee, shall be responsible for the general 
maintenance of the grounds. Expenses incurred through regular maintenance by 
village personnel, and other maintenance, will be shared by the village and the 
county on a 50/50 basis, after revenue has been deducted. Village 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2021 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 3 of 6 


 


administration shall keep records of maintenance costs and submit an invoice 
annually to Cardston County. 


e. It shall be a duty of the cemetery committee to: 
i. Meet a minimum of twice a year; 


ii. Appoint a chairperson from amongst the members; 
iii. Appoint a secretary from amongst the members; 
iv. Keep accurate records of meetings and submit these records to the 


village administration for permanent record keeping purposes; 
v. Prepare a budget request for the following year, prior to October 31. 


 
5. SALE OF PLOTS: 
 


a. Plots are no longer available for burial in the Pioneer Section of the Glenwood 
Cemetery, unless the deceased is a spouse of someone already buried there and 
has the deed or proof of payment for a plot; 


b. The price of plots shall be stated in the Village of Glenwood Rates, Fees & 
Charges Bylaw, and shall be payable at the time of the purchase of the plot; 


c. A Cemetery Plot Ownership Certificate (Appendix A) and receipt of payment will 
be given to purchaser of a cemetery plot; 


d. A copy of this cemetery bylaw shall be given to the purchaser of a burial plot at 
the time of purchase. 


e. Burial plots may be purchased by any person who wishes to do so, with pricing 
to be determined by their “resident” status; 


f. Burial plots may not be sub-divided, resold or transferred without the consent of 
the Village of Glenwood administration; 


g. Funds received by the village for the sale of plots or donations for the cemetery 
shall be used to offset the maintenance expenses of the cemetery; 


h. Plots shall be used for human remains only. 
 


6. BURIALS: 
 


a. No burial shall be permitted without a proper burial permit, which includes 
burial for cremated ashes.  


b. All applications for burial must be made to the village administration at least 24 
hours prior to interment; 


c. Graves shall be dug and interments made only by contractor approved by village 
administration; 


d. Vaults are required for full burials; 
e. The cost of opening and closing the grave shall be the responsibility of the next 


of kin or the person making the request; 
f. All full burial graves must be a minimum of 5.5 feet deep; 
g. A maximum of one burial per plot, however, four (4) urns will be permitted in 


any plot following a traditional casket burial in that plot. An infant may also be 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2021 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 4 of 6 


 


buried in an occupied burial plot of a parent, grandparent or immediate family 
member; 


h. Cremated remains may be interred in the same plot with another body or other 
cremated remains upon registering such interment with village administration, 
however, no body shall be buried in a plot where cremated remains have 
previously been buried; 


i. Any burial of cremated remains shall be at a depth of not less than two (2) feet 
from the surface of the ground surrounding the grave. Buried urns must have a 
marker with identification for any remains buried in the plot. Up to six (6) urns 
may be placed in a plot without a casket burial. 


 
7. CEMETERY OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE: 
 


a. The Glenwood Cemetery shall, at least once annually, have a cemetery work day 
organized by the cemetery committee. Volunteers will be encouraged to 
participate; 


b. The Village of Glenwood will not be responsible for replacing, repairing or 
making good anything damaged or destroyed by earthquake, lightening, 
tornado, wind or manufactured defects or any other thing over which the Village 
of Glenwood has no control; 


c. No animals are allowed in the Glenwood Cemetery without permission from 
administration and the cemetery committee; 


d. No fence, railing, cement or metal walls, to enclose plot/plots, is permitted; 
e. No full-length grave covers (caps) are permitted – existing caps will be removed 


when they are broken: 
i. Existing fences, railing, cement or metal wall enclosures and grave covers 


shall be allowed to remain under this grandfather clause, provisional to 
them remaining in good condition and are not permitted to be replaced 
at any time; 


f. No shrub or tree will be planted in the cemetery without the permission of the 
village and or cemetery committee; 


g. All flowers and other appropriate items must be placed on the headstone or 
headstone base; 


h. No glass containers shall be permitted in the cemetery, unless permanently 
affixed to a monument; 


i. Plastic flowers will be removed each spring; 
j. The Village of Glenwood retains the right to maintain the cemetery by fixing 


collapsed graves and by removing any caps which are broken. Before any 
capstone or broken debris is removed, village administration will endeavor to 
notify the next of kin; 


k. The base of a single monument (headstone) is not to exceed a width of four (4) 
feet and a depth of 1.5 feet. The base of a double monument is not to exceed 
the width of eight (8) feet and a depth of 1.5 feet; 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2021 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 5 of 6 


 


l. All grave sites shall have a monument or permanent marker in place within two 
(2) years of burial, or one will be placed by the Village of Glenwood, with pricing 
as noted in the Rates, Fees & Charges Bylaw, at the expense of the next of kin. 


m. The owner of any moving vehicle will be responsible for any damage done by 
such vehicle within the boundaries of the cemetery; 


n. No vehicle or conveyance shall travel within the cemetery except on driveways 
intended for and wide enough for vehicular travel, or at a speed greater than ten 
(10) kilometers per hour; 


o. All digging within the boundaries of the Glenwood Cemetery requires prior 
approval from the Village of Glenwood administration; 


 
8. RESCINDING BYLAW: 


 
a. Bylaw 165-91 is hereby repealed. 


 
9. DATE OF COMMENCEMENT: 


 
a. This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading. 


 
 


10. Read a FIRST time this _______ day of __________, 2021. 
11. Read a SECOND time this ______ day of __________, 2021. 
12. Read a THIRD time and finally passed this ______ day of _________, 2021. 


 
 
 
________________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Mayor – Albert Elias     Chief Administrative Officer – Carrie Kinahan 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 
Village of Glenwood BYLAW # 165-2021 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 6 of 6 


 


 


Appendix “A” 


Glenwood Cemetery 


CEMETERY PLOT OWNERSHIP CERTIFICATE 
The Village of Glenwood, AB and Cardston County acknowledge 
receipt of the sum of: 


$ __________; (_______________________________________) CDN Dollars 


having been paid by ______________________________________________ 


Mailing Address: _________________________________________________ 


E-mail Address: __________________________________________________ 


Name & Contact info for next of kin: 
__________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 


for the purchase of the following VACANT cemetery plot(s) in the 
Glenwood Cemetery, located at: 


Block __________ Plot __________ 


Perpetual care donations for cemetery plot(s) can be made to the 
Village of Glenwood at any time, to aid in the upkeep and cemetery 
maintenance expenses incurred by the Village of Glenwood. 


 


Date: __________________________       ______________________________ 
Village Signature & Seal 


THIS IS FOR YOUR PERMANENT RECORD. PLEASE KEEP IN A SAFE PLACE. 








 
Construction and Maintenance 
Southern Region 
Box 314, 909 – 3 Avenue North 
Lethbridge, Alberta  T1H 0H5 
www.alberta.ca 


 


M:\DS\SR\LETH\Development\Development and Planning\Village of Glenwood & Cardston County letter Draft IDP (RSDP036103).docx  
 Classification: Protected A 


AT File Reference: RSDP036103 
Our Reference: 2100-GLEN, 2300-CARD 


 
 
 
 
May 28, 2021 
 
 
 
 
Mr. Murray Millward Ms. Carrie Kinahan  
murray@cardstoncounty.com carrie.kinahan@glenwood.ca 
Chief Administrative Officer  Chief Administrative Officer 
Cardston County Village of Glenwood 
 
Dear Mr. Millward & Ms. Kinahan: 


 
RE: DRAFT INTERMUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 CARDSTON COUNTY BYLAW 770-2021  
 VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD BYLAW 258-2021  
 
Alberta Transportation has received and reviewed the draft Intermunicipal Development Plan dated 
April 2021. 
 
Alberta Transportation’s primary objective is to allow subdivision and development of properties 
that are subject to review and comment by Alberta Transportation pursuant to the control lines 
stipulated in the Highways Development and Protection Regulation, being Alberta Regulation 
326/2009, and the Subdivision and Development Regulation, being Alberta Regulation 43/2002, 
consolidated up to 188/2017 (“the regulation”), in an manner that will not compromise the integrity 
and associated safe operational use or the future expansion of the provincial highway network. 
 
To that end, the document reflects sound planning principles and development strategies. The 
document is also well organized and thoroughly addresses all the issues that are pertinent when 
establishing a framework for subsequent land use redesignation, subdivision, and development 
within the plan area. 
 
Moreover, the Policies of Section 2.6 – Transportation adequately address the need for the 
municipalities to maintain safe and efficient transportation networks. 
 
Given the foregoing, strictly from Alberta Transportation’s point of view, we do not have any 
concerns with the draft Intermunicipal Development Plan as proposed and/or the document being 
adopted by the Cardston County and Village of Glenwood subdivision and development land use 
authorities. 


 
 
 


…/2 



http://www.alberta.ca/

file://///GOA/SHARED/TRANS/DS/SR/LETH/Development/Development%20and%20Planning/Village%20of%20Glenwood%20&%20Cardston%20County%20letter%20Draft%20IDP%20(RSDP036103).docx

mailto:murray@cardstoncounty.com

mailto:carrie.kinahan@glenwood.ca





 


 


Classification: Protected A 


 
Cardston County/Village of Glenwood - 2 - May 28, 2021 
 
 
We would appreciate it if you could provide Alberta Transportation with a copy of the final plan for 
our files and future reference. 
 
Thank you for the referral and opportunity to comment. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
Leah Olsen 
Development/Planning Technologist 
403-388-3105 
 
LO 
 
cc: Oldman River Regional Services Commission – ryandyck@orrsc.com; mikeburla@orrsc.com 
 


 
 
 



mailto:ryandyck@orrsc.com

mailto:mikeburla@orrsc.com



				2021-05-28T17:32:10-0600

		Leah Olsen












11:27:08AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2021-Jun-8Cheque Listing For Council


Page 1 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20210129 2021-05-17 PEDERSON, JULIE PAYMENT  336.00


202105171 CREDIT BALANCE PAID  336.00 


 20210130 2021-05-20 ALBERTA ONE CALL CORPORATION PAYMENT  31.50


IN158177 LAND LOCATES  25.20 


IN163718 LAND LOCATES  6.30 


 20210131 2021-05-27 1218420 ALBERTA LTD PAYMENT  756.00


4635 YEARLY REMOTE BACK UP  756.00 


 20210132 2021-05-27 ALBERTA MUNICIPAL SERVICES CORPORATION PAYMENT  4,449.87


21-1038593 VILLAGE UTILITIES  4,449.87 


 20210133 2021-05-27 ALBERTA ONE CALL CORPORATION PAYMENT  6.62


IN166997 LAND LOCATES  6.62 


 20210134 2021-05-27 BECK'S EXCAVATING & TRUCKING LTD PAYMENT  3,360.00


2932 IRRIGATION INSTALL  3,360.00 


 20210135 2021-05-27 CAMPBELL, MARILEE PAYMENT  117.82


2021.05.30 POSTAGE, CELL PHONE, P.P.  117.82 


 20210136 2021-05-27 CUMMINS CANADA ULC PAYMENT  1,654.76


BQ- 16107 WTP GENERATOR YEARLY SERVICING  1,535.90 


BQ-16108 WTP GENERATOR  118.86 


 20210137 2021-05-27 EDWARDS, DARRELL PAYMENT  150.00


2021.MAY MPC MTG. 2021.04.22/05.04/05.25  150.00 


 20210138 2021-05-27 ELEMENT MATERIALS TECH. CANADA INC. PAYMENT  110.28


21-1254613 LAGOON SAMPLES MAY 2021  110.28 


 20210139 2021-05-27 FOOTHILLS CREAMERY LTD. PAYMENT  874.02


1412356 ICE CREAM  874.02 


 20210140 2021-05-27 GOVT. of AB., Prov. Policing Agmt - RCM PAYMENT  5,640.00


1800012759 2021 POLICING FUND  5,640.00 


 20210141 2021-05-27 K4 DISTRIBUTING PAYMENT  593.33


1952 ICE CREAM  593.33 


 20210142 2021-05-27 MUNICIPAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS INC. PAYMENT  304.51


20210537 JUNE SUPPORT  304.51 


 20210143 2021-05-27 NESTLE CANADA INC. PAYMENT  470.10


7500996124 ICE CREAM  470.10 


 20210144 2021-05-27 OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMM. PAYMENT  18,500.00


11676 MUN. DEVELOPMENT PLAN MDP  18,500.00 


 20210145 2021-05-27 PUROLATOR PAYMENT  84.24


447596382 LAGOON SAMPLES  84.24 


 20210146 2021-05-27 SHAWN COOK PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION PAYMENT  9,712.50


0-30849 2020 AUDIT  9,712.50 


 20210147 2021-05-27 SMITH, WAYNE PAYMENT  100.00


2021. MAY MPC MEETINGS 2021.04.22 /05.25  100.00 


 20210148 2021-05-27 SPRING GLEN PARK ASSOCIATION PAYMENT  1,500.00


002-R-0003 2021 YEARLY REQ.  1,500.00 


 20210149 2021-05-27 TWINPRO INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS PAYMENT  780.78


34659 WTP CHEMICALS  537.39 


34768 WTP CHEMICAL  621.39 


34769 DRUM RETURN (378.00)


 20210150 2021-05-31 HUNSPERGER, PERRY


 20210151 2021-05-31 EDWARDS, JANET


 20210152 2021-05-31 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20210153 2021-05-31 CARTER, GERALD







11:27:08AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2021-Jun-8Cheque Listing For Council


Page 2 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20210154 2021-05-31 ROLFSON, DAVID


 20210155 2021-05-31 CAMPBELL, ELIZA M


 20210156 2021-05-31 CLARK, RUSTY


*** End of Report ***


Total  60,399.37








11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 1 of 10


Tax Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-102 Taxes - Chinook Foundation (5,847.32) (5,829.16) (5,900.00)  0.00 (5,900.00)


1-00-00-00-00-103 Taxes - Non-Residential (52,143.99) (49,550.53) (53,200.00)  0.00 (53,200.00)


1-00-00-00-00-105 Taxes - Linear (14,004.13) (16,244.27) (14,300.00)  0.00 (14,300.00)


1-00-00-00-00-108 Taxes - Residential (227,298.55) (228,324.21) (231,800.00)  0.00 (231,800.00)


1-00-00-00-00-110 Taxes - M&E (22,805.99) (22,800.00) (23,300.00)  0.00 (23,300.00)


*        TOTAL Tax Revenue (322,099.98) (322,748.17) (328,500.00) 0.00 (328,500.00)


General Government Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-590 Other Revenue from Own Sources (1,221.00) (1,050.00) (300.00) (366.51)  66.51 


1-12-00-00-00-410 Photocopy,Fax, etc Revenue (172.05) (223.65) (180.00) (47.05) (132.95)


1-12-00-00-00-433 Assessment Appeal Deposit (50.00)  0.00 (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


1-12-00-00-00-525 License - Business (280.00)  166.00 (240.00) (220.00) (20.00)


1-12-00-00-00-561 Xplornet (2,970.46) (3,020.80) (2,000.00) (1,278.63) (721.37)


1-00-00-00-00-510 Taxes - Penalties & Costs (1,893.08) (3,969.49) (4,000.00) (1,790.86) (2,209.14)


1-00-00-00-00-541 Franchise & Concession ATCO Revenue (18,354.44) (12,083.20) (18,400.00) (13,517.55) (4,882.45)


1-00-00-00-00-550 Return on Investments (5,804.40) (3,253.92) (3,500.00) (703.79) (2,796.21)


*        TOTAL General Gov't Revenue (30,745.43) (23,435.06) (28,720.00) (17,924.39) (10,795.61)


Operating Grant Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-748 Grant Misc (1,500.00) (89,517.16) (25,300.00) (700.00) (24,600.00)


1-00-00-00-00-751 Grants - ACP Intermunicipal (4,414.89)  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


1-00-00-00-00-843 Grant - MSI Operational (34,147.00) (31,607.00) (23,705.00)  0.00 (23,705.00)


*        TOTAL Operating Grant Revenue (40,061.89) (121,124.16) (49,005.00) (700.00) (48,305.00)







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 2 of 10


Protective Services Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-990 Other Rev - NSF,  Fines, Lease (35.00) (974.89) (200.00)  0.00 (200.00)


*        TOTAL Protective Services Rev (35.00) (974.89) (200.00) 0.00 (200.00)


Transportation Service Revenue


1-30-00-00-00-410 Equipment Pool Revenue (110.00) (276.79) (200.00)  0.00 (200.00)


1-32-00-00-00-591 Snow Removal Roads & Streets (400.00) (140.00) (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


*        TOTAL Trans Service Revenue (510.00) (416.79) (300.00) 0.00 (300.00)


Water Revenue


1-41-00-00-00-120 Water Connection Install (5,000.00) (9,000.00) (1,000.00)  0.00 (1,000.00)


1-41-00-00-00-121 Water On/Off Fee (270.00) (240.00) (100.00) (90.00) (10.00)


1-41-00-00-00-410 Sales - Water (123,579.31) (118,210.05) (120,400.00) (62,158.39) (58,241.61)


1-41-00-00-00-411 Water - Bulk Sales (3,578.42) (5,708.00) (3,000.00) (1,735.24) (1,264.76)


1-41-00-00-00-510 Water - Penalties & Costs (222.93) (359.10) (500.00) (415.64) (84.36)


*        TOTAL Water Revenue (132,650.66) (133,517.15) (125,000.00) (64,399.27) (60,600.73)


Irrigation Revenue


1-40-00-00-00-410 Sales - Irrigation (11,292.32) (16,809.76) (17,000.00) (12,908.00) (4,092.00)


*        TOTAL Irrigation Revenue (11,292.32) (16,809.76) (17,000.00) (12,908.00) (4,092.00)


Sewer Revenue


1-42-00-00-00-120 Sewer Connection Install (2,000.00) (7,000.00) (1,000.00)  0.00 (1,000.00)


1-42-00-00-00-410 Sales - Sewer (22,578.00) (20,830.00) (21,400.00) (10,920.00) (10,480.00)


1-42-00-00-00-411 Sales - Sewer RV Dumping Station (3,126.35) (3,454.50) (3,000.00) (463.30) (2,536.70)


1-42-00-00-00-412 Sewer RV Campground Agreements (4,000.00) (2,125.00) (2,000.00) (2,025.00)  25.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Revenue (31,704.35) (33,409.50) (27,400.00) (13,408.30) (13,991.70)







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 3 of 10


Waste Management  Revenue


1-43-00-00-00-410 Sales - Solid Waste (12,992.00) (14,428.01) (14,000.00) (8,008.00) (5,992.00)


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Rev (12,992.00) (14,428.01) (14,000.00) (8,008.00) (5,992.00)


Cemetery Revenue


1-56-00-00-00-410 Cemetery - Plots & Fees (1,130.00) (265.00) (600.00) (360.00) (240.00)


1-56-00-00-00-420 Cemetery - Donations (1,250.00) (504.19) (500.00) (346.49) (153.51)


1-56-00-00-00-430 Cemetery County Contribution  0.00 (2,293.55) (1,375.00) (4,228.61)  2,853.61 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Revenue (2,380.00) (3,062.74) (2,475.00) (4,935.10) 2,460.10


Recreation & Culture Revenue


1-74-02-00-00-560 Rentals Community Hall (1,988.75) (500.00) (1,000.00)  0.00 (1,000.00)


1-72-00-00-00-410 Sales & Services - Recreation (399.50)  0.00 (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


1-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Revenue (45,806.31) (44,388.59) (40,200.00) (1,600.06) (38,599.94)


1-74-04-00-00-410 Pioneer Days funds-fireworks donations (2,950.00) (533.45) (3,000.00) (130.00) (2,870.00)


1-74-05-00-00-474 Post Office Rental Revenue (1,400.00) (2,200.00) (2,400.00) (1,400.00) (1,000.00)


*        TOTAL Rec & Culture Rev (52,544.56) (47,622.04) (46,700.00) (3,130.06) (43,569.94)


Planning & Development Revenue


1-12-00-00-00-490 Permit - Dev/Compliance  415.00 (800.00) (200.00) (1,765.00)  1,565.00 


1-95-00-00-00-763 Transfers From Reserves - Capital  0.00  0.00 (5,000.00)  0.00 (5,000.00)


*        TOTAL Planning & Development R 415.00 (800.00) (5,200.00) (1,765.00) (3,435.00)


**       TOTAL Revenue (636,601.19) (718,348.27) (644,500.00) (127,178.12) (517,321.88)







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 4 of 10


Council Expenses


2-11-00-00-00-153 Council Honorariums  10,700.00  6,300.00  11,000.00  3,550.00  7,450.00 


2-11-00-00-00-213 Council Travel  3,826.16  2,049.25  6,000.00  236.00  5,764.00 


2-11-00-00-00-520 Council Misc  2,322.89  995.10  4,000.00  70.78  3,929.22 


*        TOTAL Council Expenses 16,849.05 9,344.35 21,000.00 3,856.78 17,143.22


Administration Expenses


2-12-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Admin  84,671.54  88,743.01  70,300.00  32,635.64  37,664.36 


2-12-00-00-00-113 Travel & Training - CAO  2,895.42  1,741.51  4,250.00  511.53  3,738.47 


2-12-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Admin  6,119.31  5,842.04  5,000.00  2,302.47  2,697.53 


2-12-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Admin  15,592.87  16,205.25  12,600.00  6,851.35  5,748.65 


2-12-00-00-00-142 Workers Compensation Admin  2,551.22  2,928.52  3,000.00  701.73  2,298.27 


2-12-00-00-00-150 Election & Census  0.00  329.50  2,000.00  0.00  2,000.00 


2-12-00-00-00-210 Travel & Training - ADMIN  1,366.96  599.15  2,000.00  551.67  1,448.33 


2-12-00-00-00-215 Telephone Land Line Admin  1,044.19  1,046.03  1,500.00  256.56  1,243.44 


2-12-00-00-00-216 Fax Land Line Admin  891.36  906.26  1,000.00  226.56  773.44 


2-12-00-00-00-220 Advert, Printing, Memberships Admin  5,863.37  6,935.61  6,600.00  2,635.15  3,964.85 


2-12-00-00-00-230 Professional & Consulting Admin  34,959.05  28,262.62  31,500.00  19,910.06  11,589.94 


2-12-00-00-00-235 Postage & Freight Admin  2,056.94  1,865.66  2,500.00  780.42  1,719.58 


2-12-00-00-00-270 Misc Expense Admin  1,510.48  1,483.48  600.00  396.97  203.03 


2-12-00-00-00-274 Insurance Admin  13,446.10  14,241.85  14,100.00  14,657.05 (557.05)


2-12-00-00-00-280 Reg Fees Land Titles  90.00  65.00  200.00  110.00  90.00 


2-12-00-00-00-290 Office Bldg Maintenance Admin  505.83  514.53  800.00  0.00  800.00 


2-12-00-00-00-300 Assessor Fees Admin  7,927.50  7,910.00  8,400.00  0.00  8,400.00 


2-12-00-00-00-510 Office Expense Admin  4,758.90  2,256.04  2,750.00  2,184.38  565.62 


2-12-00-00-00-520 Web Hosting Admin  1,250.00  1,415.71  1,300.00  0.00  1,300.00 


2-12-00-00-00-540 Administration Utilities Power  2,685.91  2,667.05  2,750.00  1,175.49  1,574.51 


2-12-00-00-00-541 Administration Utilities Gas  1,413.95  1,372.11  1,500.00  712.61  787.39 


2-12-00-00-00-810 Bank Charges Admin  2,729.48  1,753.36  2,750.00  422.76  2,327.24 


2-12-00-00-00-999 Adm - Amortization  178,644.74  180,762.80  228,900.00  0.00  228,900.00 


*        TOTAL Administration Expenses 372,975.12 369,847.09 406,300.00 87,022.40 319,277.60







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 5 of 10


Protective Services Expenses


2-23-00-00-00-110 Fire & Emergency Management wages  250.00  150.00  1,000.00  150.00  850.00 


2-23-00-00-00-130 Employer source deduction Fire  0.00  0.00  50.00  0.00  50.00 


2-23-00-00-00-270 Fire Misc  361.63  1,196.02  1,000.00  187.50  812.50 


2-23-00-00-00-510 Fire Goods & Supplies  0.00  8.38  50.00  8.38  41.62 


2-23-00-00-00-540 Fire Utilities Power  2,092.38  2,151.83  1,950.00  1,021.33  928.67 


2-23-00-00-00-541 Fire Utilities Gas  2,404.72  2,381.70  1,900.00  1,230.60  669.40 


2-23-00-00-00-750 Fire Requisition  6,104.64  6,125.70  11,500.00  5,888.36  5,611.64 


2-23-00-00-00-760 Fire Dispatch Services  1,150.24  1,185.00  1,200.00  290.42  909.58 


2-23-00-00-00-770 Victim Services  600.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-23-00-00-00-260 Emergency Management Goods and Services  0.00  0.00  3,300.00  1,269.34  2,030.66 


*        TOTAL Protective Services Exp 12,963.61 13,198.63 22,450.00 10,045.93 12,404.07


Shop Expenses


2-30-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Equip Pool  3,101.60  3,157.23  2,800.00  1,357.91  1,442.09 


2-30-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Equip Pool  197.70  204.81  200.00  100.57  99.43 


2-30-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Equip Pool  1,101.66  1,071.90  200.00  489.51 (289.51)


2-31-00-00-00-110 Village Maintenance Wages  15,508.12  15,785.82  13,900.00  6,789.67  7,110.33 


2-31-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions V-Main  988.33  1,024.23  900.00  502.91  397.09 


2-31-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefits Vlg Maint  970.94  704.18  1,000.00  461.44  538.56 


2-31-00-00-00-250 Vlg Maint Contracted Services  228.64  150.00  5,000.00  912.50  4,087.50 


2-31-00-00-00-510 Vlg Maint Tools, Hardware, Op  993.12  985.81  2,000.00  111.85  1,888.15 


2-31-00-00-00-524 Vlg Maint Equip Supplies  2,298.06  363.54  2,000.00  0.00  2,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-526 Vlg Maint Equip Supply Tractor  920.01  736.14  800.00  1,734.00 (934.00)


2-31-00-00-00-527 Vlg Maint Fuel  2,547.96  931.71  3,200.00  0.00  3,200.00 


2-31-00-00-00-550 Safety Gear  151.32  333.57  500.00  32.99  467.01 


2-32-00-00-00-215 Telephone Shop  589.30  798.28  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-32-00-00-00-217 Cell Phone Foreman  1,292.00  1,072.59  900.00  267.42  632.58 


*        TOTAL Shop Expenses 30,888.76 27,319.81 33,400.00 12,760.77 20,639.23







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 6 of 10


Road & Street Expenses


2-32-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Streets & Roads  17,839.28  19,053.59  17,400.00  6,789.67  10,610.33 


2-32-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deduct Streets & Roads  1,041.20  1,198.92  1,100.00  502.91  597.09 


2-32-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deduct Streets & Roads  970.94  724.90  1,200.00  461.44  738.56 


2-32-00-00-00-250 Streets & Roads Contracted Services  1,177.00  2,414.00  2,000.00  91.80  1,908.20 


2-32-00-00-00-260 Streets & Roads Goods & Servcies  482.62  3,534.43  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-530 Streets & Roads Maint Materials  3,001.28  1,333.69  11,000.00  141.39  10,858.61 


2-32-00-00-00-540 Streetlights  12,329.42  12,464.92  12,200.00  5,259.80  6,940.20 


*        TOTAL Road & Street Expenses 36,841.74 40,724.45 45,900.00 13,247.01 32,652.99


Irrigation Expenses


2-40-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Irrigation  8,534.35  8,870.61  7,000.00  2,715.84  4,284.16 


2-40-00-00-00-250 Irrg System Contracted Services  0.00  700.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-40-00-00-00-252 Irrg System Maint  973.75  312.16  750.00  0.00  750.00 


2-40-00-00-00-540 Irrg System Utilities Power  2,598.47  3,212.49  3,700.00  377.29  3,322.71 


*        TOTAL Irrigation Expenses 12,106.57 13,095.26 11,950.00 3,093.13 8,856.87


Water Expenses


2-41-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Water  21,831.84  22,002.16  29,800.00  8,951.50  20,848.50 


2-41-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Water  1,763.93  1,891.36  2,700.00  793.71  1,906.29 


2-41-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Water  1,846.51  1,346.13  2,300.00  770.50  1,529.50 


2-41-00-00-00-210 Water - Seminars & Travel  3,553.10  2,046.86  3,000.00  165.99  2,834.01 


2-41-00-00-00-215 Telephone Water Plant  1,191.36  906.26  1,100.00  226.57  873.43 


2-41-00-00-00-250 Water Supply Contracted Services  12,015.10  17,733.46  11,000.00  2,622.52  8,377.48 


2-41-00-00-00-252 Water Supply Maint  2,451.60  4,134.23  3,000.00  1,794.97  1,205.03 


2-41-00-00-00-270 Water Supply Misc  31.14  0.00  1,500.00  31.34  1,468.66 


2-41-00-00-00-510 Water Supply Goods & Service  4,464.17  6,753.58  6,500.00  2,300.56  4,199.44 


2-41-00-00-00-540 Water Supply Utilities Power  12,076.98  12,077.73  10,900.00  5,828.41  5,071.59 


2-41-00-00-00-541 Water Supply Utilities Gas  3,545.23  3,994.76  3,900.00  1,876.84  2,023.16 


2-41-00-00-00-905 Water Billing Discount  3,655.62  3,902.56  3,500.00  0.00  3,500.00 


*        TOTAL Water Expenses 68,426.58 76,789.09 79,200.00 25,362.91 53,837.09







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 7 of 10


Sewer Expenses


2-42-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Sewer  3,101.60  3,157.23  2,800.00  1,357.91  1,442.09 


2-42-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Sewer  197.70  204.81  200.00  100.57  99.43 


2-42-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Sewer  276.80  224.38  200.00  128.43  71.57 


2-42-00-00-00-250 Sewer Contracted Services  2,481.70  10,375.80  5,250.00  105.03  5,144.97 


2-42-00-00-00-510 Sewer Goods & Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  80.23  169.77 


2-42-00-00-00-905 Sewer Billing Discount  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Expenses 6,057.80 13,962.22 8,950.00 1,772.17 7,177.83


Waste Management Expenses


2-43-00-00-00-250 Solid Waste Contracted Services  0.00  10,099.50  250.00  3,580.00 (3,330.00)


2-43-00-00-00-510 Solid Waste Goods & Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-43-00-00-00-750 Solid Waste Requisition - CMRSWA  7,792.56  8,187.56  9,339.00  4,337.10  5,001.90 


2-43-00-00-00-752 Requisition - County Transfer Station  3,126.80  4,050.48  4,100.00  4,234.02 (134.02)


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Expenses 10,919.36 22,337.54 13,939.00 12,151.12 1,787.88


Cemetery Expenses


2-56-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Cemetery  3,346.52  5,713.55  2,100.00  1,357.91  742.09 


2-56-00-00-00-510 Cemetery Goods & Services  200.00  2,039.97  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-56-00-00-00-540 Cemetery Utilities Power  1,006.25  1,012.86  1,100.00  439.20  660.80 


2-56-00-00-00-620 Cemetery Transfer to Reserves  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Expenses 4,552.77 8,766.38 3,950.00 1,797.11 2,152.89


Planning & Development Expense


2-76-00-00-00-250 Development Contracted Services  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-76-00-00-00-251 Planning - GIS  1,681.12  7,115.10  1,730.00  3,301.24 (1,571.24)


2-76-00-00-00-252 ORRSC Requisition  3,863.00  0.00  3,800.00  18,500.00 (14,700.00)


*        TOTAL Planning & Dev Expenses 5,544.12 7,115.10 6,030.00 21,801.24 (15,771.24)







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 8 of 10


Parks & Recreation Expenses


2-62-00-00-00-201 Community Service Misc  0.00  19.05  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-04-00-00-510 Pioneer Days Fireworks  3,150.00  0.00  3,000.00  0.00  3,000.00 


2-72-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Parks & Rec  5,978.61  7,187.03  2,000.00  1,357.98  642.02 


2-72-00-00-00-725 Recreation Expenses (Vlg USE ONLY)  1,142.36  31.58  3,500.00  236.27  3,263.73 


2-72-00-00-00-540 Recreation Utilities Power  1,064.68  1,076.29  1,000.00  473.13  526.87 


2-72-00-00-00-541 Recreation Utilities Gas  855.88  881.23  800.00  431.77  368.23 


*        TOTAL Parks & Rec Expenses 12,191.53 9,195.18 10,800.00 2,499.15 8,300.85


Library Expenses


2-74-01-00-00-250 Library Contracted Services  886.57  2,086.75  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-74-01-00-00-510 Library Goods and Services  10.45  75.13  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-01-00-00-750 Library Society Operating Support  15,000.00  15,000.00  15,000.00  0.00  15,000.00 


2-74-01-00-00-771 Requisition Chinook Arch Library  2,531.16  2,581.72  2,600.00  1,226.08  1,373.92 


*        TOTAL Library Expenses 18,428.18 19,743.60 19,100.00 1,226.08 17,873.92


Community Hall Expenses


2-74-02-00-00-110 Salaries and Wages Community Hall  1,275.00  350.00  2,800.00  0.00  2,800.00 


2-74-02-00-00-250 Community Hall Contracted Service  315.00  150.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-02-00-00-510 Community Hall Goods & Service  1,601.89  1,430.28  1,000.00  48.98  951.02 


2-74-02-00-00-540 Community Hall Utilities Power  2,108.79  2,328.34  1,500.00  843.17  656.83 


2-74-02-00-00-541 Community Hall Utilities Gas  1,456.03  1,313.63  1,125.00  735.42  389.58 


*        TOTAL Community Hall Expenses 6,756.71 5,572.25 6,925.00 1,627.57 5,297.43


Pioneer Parlour Expenses


2-74-03-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Pioneer Parlour  22,604.66  19,639.26  20,200.00  0.00  20,200.00 


2-74-03-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions PP  1,014.14  824.45  700.00  0.00  700.00 


2-74-03-00-00-250 Pioneer Parlour Contracted Services  1,432.00  332.00  1,500.00  0.00  1,500.00 


2-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Expenses (Bldg)  2,786.58  1,199.16  1,000.00  378.16  621.84 


2-74-03-00-00-510 Pioneer Parlour Goods & Services  21,312.83  19,885.77  14,000.00  1,914.06  12,085.94 


2-74-03-00-00-540 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Power  1,702.28  1,627.95  1,700.00  479.60  1,220.40 


2-74-03-00-00-541 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Gas  1,019.48  1,027.70  1,100.00  536.88  563.12 


2-74-03-00-00-810 Pioneer Parlour Merchant Fees  0.00  3,671.72  0.00  15.51 (15.51)


*        TOTAL Pioneer Parlour Expenses 51,871.97 48,208.01 40,200.00 3,324.21 36,875.79







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 9 of 10


Post Office Expenses


2-74-05-00-00-540 Post Office Utilities Power  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-05-00-00-541 Post Office Utilities Gas  0.00  0.00  375.00  0.00  375.00 


*        TOTAL Post Office Exp 0.00 0.00 875.00 0.00 875.00


Community Support Requisitions


2-26-00-00-00-100 Requisition - Policing  0.00  5,585.00  8,384.00  5,640.00  2,744.00 


2-62-00-00-00-206 Com Services: Beautification  1,788.75  119.31  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-62-00-00-00-208 Spring Glen Park Req/Exp/Donate  1,428.57  1,500.00  1,500.00  1,500.00  0.00 


2-62-00-00-00-209 Com Services: Glenwood Seniors Req  500.00  500.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-62-00-00-00-210 Com Services: FCSS Requisition  2,446.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  0.00  2,446.00 


2-62-00-00-00-750 Com Services: Farm Safety Ctr Donation  300.00  300.00  300.00  300.00  0.00 


2-72-00-00-00-750 Recreation Brd Expenses (Vlg DON'T USE )  801.01  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-98-00-00-00-102 Req Chinook Foundation  5,870.52  5,828.54  5,900.00  5,733.49  166.51 


2-98-00-00-00-108 Req United Irrigation Dist  4,553.30  4,689.90  5,200.00  0.00  5,200.00 


2-98-00-00-00-115 Req School Foundation  71,341.78  71,145.90  72,600.00  17,786.47  54,813.53 


2-98-00-00-00-116 DESIGNATED INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 


(DIP)


 47.17  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-12-00-00-00-763 Operating Transfer to Reserves  0.00  0.00  40,001.00  0.00  40,001.00 


*        TOTAL Community Support Requis 89,077.10 92,114.65 137,331.00 30,959.96 106,371.04


**       TOTAL Expenses 756,450.97 777,333.61 868,300.00 232,547.54 635,752.46


***      TOTAL Revenues Over Expenses 119,849.78 58,985.34 223,800.00 105,369.42 118,430.58







11:36:44AM


2021-Jun-8


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 10 of 10


Capital Grants Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-842 Grant - MSI Capital (91,802.29) (94,708.13) (236,900.00) (162,210.00) (74,690.00)


1-00-00-00-00-846 Grants - FGTF/NDCC  0.00 (119,000.00) (50,000.00)  0.00 (50,000.00)


*        TOTAL Cap Grants Rev (91,802.29) (213,708.13) (286,900.00) (162,210.00) (124,690.00)


**       TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE (91,802.29) (213,708.13) (286,900.00) (162,210.00) (124,690.00)


Capital Expenses


2-23-00-00-00-762 Protective Serv-Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  30,000.00  15,000.00  15,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-762 Vlg Maint - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  25,000.00  0.00  25,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-762 Strts & Rds - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  10,000.00  0.00  10,000.00 


2-40-00-00-00-762 Irrigation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  5,000.00  3,200.00  1,800.00 


2-41-00-00-00-762 Water - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  206,900.00  40,926.74  165,973.26 


2-42-00-00-00-762 Sewer - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  15,000.00  0.00  15,000.00 


*        TOTAL Capital Expenses 0.00 0.00 291,900.00 59,126.74 232,773.26


**       TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENSES 0.00 0.00 291,900.00 59,126.74 232,773.26


***      Revenues Over Expense/Capital (91,802.29) (213,708.13) 5,000.00 (103,083.26) 108,083.26


*** End of Report ***















